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“Foreword

BRN the writing of this history the aim has been to give
in simple narrative all facts, both great and seemingly
small, that tend to show how the Newark of the pres-
ent day has been built up, generation by generation.
Anything and everything that seemed to add life, light
and color to the story, that was to be found and was authentic,
has been made use of. A sincere effort has been made, also, to
make the history attractive and interesting to those who, although
they may care little for the reading of history, may wish to become
familiar with the making of their own city from the day of its
foundation as a hamlet, to the present. At the same time, the
student of history has not been altogether forgotten, and a guide
to further study is offered in constant reference to the authorities
quoted, with information as to where and how other material may
be obtained.

An excellent index has been supplied, being the work of Mr.
William B. Morningstern of the staff of the Newark Free Public
Library. The index is far more complete than those usually sup-
plied in works of this character. The history is thus made readily
accessible to students, and the pupils of Newark’s schools, and all
others who may feel drawn to gather the facts about one phase or
another of Newark’s history.

Much information is also given in the nine appendices. In
the Chronological List of leading events in the city’s history
(Appendix A) is given a mass of information, much of which is
not to be found in the main work, and is presented in the table for
ready reference.

Liberal use has been made of the early newspapers, from
which has been drawn a store of reliable information as it was
set down almost at the very moment of the happenings. This will
be found especially true in the chapters devoted to the War for
Independence and in those that tell of the coming of Newark’s
industries immediately after that war."

A bibliography of the works consulted during the writing of
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this history is not given here, but the authorities quoted are
credited in the annotations or in the text itself. The New Jersey
Archives, especially those given over to the early newspapers, have
proven of the highest value, and are herewith urgently recom-
mended to educators as a most valuable source of information for
their pupils. Other works to which this history is especially
indebted are: Gordon’s History of New Jersey, Gordon’s Gazeteer
of New Jersey, Barber and Howe’s Historical Collections of New
Jersey, Shaw’s History of Essex and Hudson Counties, and Joseph
Atkinson’s History of Newark.

The work would not have been possible without the New
Jersey Historical Society Library, the Free Public Library, and
the New York Historical Society. For the courtesies extended by
these libraries the writer hereby returns his thanks. The material
in these institutions has been made use of more or less constantly
during the entire year and a half in which this history has been
in preparation.

Grateful acknowledgment is made of the kindly and valuable
assistance of Miss Maud E. Johnson, of the New Jersey Historical
Society. Her thorough knowledge of the resources of the library
as bearing upon the subject in hand has greatly facilitated the prep-
aration of this work. Expression of the writer’s indebtedness is
also made to: Mr. Theodore Umbscheiden, of the Newark Municipal
Library; Mr. William Nelson, of Paterson, New Jersey’s foremost
living historian; Mr. Henry B. Kummel, New Jersey State Geolo-
gist; Mr. Clarence E. Tobin, at one time secretary of the Newark
City Hall Cpmmission; Mr. Edward S. Rankin, engineer in charge
of the Department of Sewers and Drainage of the Board of Street
and Water Commissioners; Mr. James O. Smith, a veteran of the
Thirteenth New Jersey Volunteer Infantry; Mr. Frank Bergen,
general counsel for the Public Service Corporation; Mr. G. Wisner
Thorne, Mr. Forrest B. Spaulding, Mr. William S. Hunt, Mr. Daniel
E. Hervey, and to many others who have willingly responded to
requests for information.

FRANK JOHN URQUHART.

September 24, 1913.
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CHAPTER 1

PREHISTORIC NEWARK.

Newark for the habitation of modern man, and while this fact

is quite as true of most other portions of the earth, the processes
by which this region was made ready have striking characteristics
of their own. The name “Newark group,” for instance, is a term
given by science upward of half a century ago to a certain kind of
rock formation found in some other sections of the country, but
nowhere more clearly and typically defined than here.

This rock was made in the third grand division of time since
the very beginning of things, the Mesozoic, in the later Triassic and
earlier Jurassic periods of that division. It was also the age of
reptiles. This Newark stone is of three principal kinds: Trap rock,
which in Mesozoic time was vomitted forth through fissures from
beneath the slowly stiffening crust of the earth as lava, and to be
seen in the remarkable formations on the Orange Mountains and
elsewhere; shale, which was at the same period mud; and sand-
stone, which was originally sand. The “Newark group,” as State
Geologist Henry B. Kummel has described it for this publication,
consists of a great thickness of alternating red shale and sandstone
with intercolated sheets of trap rock, which latter represent flows
of lava from fissures during the deposition of muds and sands which
now constitute the shales and sandstones. These rocks extend from
the Hudson river, near Haverstraw, southward through New Jersey,
Pennsylvania and Maryland into Virginia. Other detached areas
lie in Nova Secotia, Connecticut, Massachusetts, Virginia and North
Carolina. -

“Ripple marks, mud cracks, raindrop impressions and foot-
prints of reptiles at various horizons indicate that these beds of
shale and standstone were deposited by shallow waters, perhaps by
broad shallow streams flowing across a wide plain bordering a lofty

IT required millions of years to prepare the territory we now call
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mountain range. Lakes of little depth or brackish water lagoons
communicating with the ocean probably occurred here and there
upon the plain.”

It was upon this foundation then, fashioned during aeons of
time, that the surface was to be built up through more ages, largely
during the wonderful glacial epoch and by means of the many
changes in level of the surface and the variations in temperatures
from Arctic to tropical.

The glaciers, as is well known, brought down vast quantities
of stone, earth, gravel and sand, the latter being ground from the
rocks as they were forced against each other by the tremendous
pressure of the ice around them. Much of this material was carried
from points two and even three hundred miles to the northward.
The whole glacial mass in New Jersey was from one-eighth to one-
fifth of a mile deep.

The ice field, mighty sculptor that it was, wrought marvelous
changes in its passage. It hewed and hacked, ploughed and gashed,
tore and twisted, broke down and built up, until the whole surface
of the earth was made over. It was rough treatment, but to it we
owe the natural beauties of upper New Jersey today.

LAYING THE STATE’'S FOUNDATIONS.

The rude work of this ice giant was ended when the glacier’s
edge reached Belvidere on the western boundary of the State, and
Perth Amboy on the eastern border. Milder temperature forced it
to release its grip; it began to melt. The invading ice field had
almost reached the sea, for at that time more than one-third of
New Jersey was under water. If you draw a line from Long Branch
to Salem on the map, you will come close to describing the coast line
as it was then.

As the gentle winds from the south softened the chilly breath
of the ice field, great floods of water surged seaward. The chips
and dust which this titanic sculptor of the land had made in passing
and which it had long held tight, now dropped down. These counties
were gradually freed from the ice: Sussex, Passaic, Bergen, Morris,
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Essex, Hudson, Union and the upper halves of Warren and Somer-
set. All this district was given a new covering many feet deep of
the soil and rock the ice field left, while great masses were washed
down upon the rest of the State that was above the sea, and which
we can describe as follows: The lower halves of Warren and Somer-
set counties; very nearly all of Hunterdon, Middlesex, Mercer and
Monmouth; the upper thirds of Burlington and Camden, and small
sections of two counties which were still beneath the sea, Gloucester
and Salem. Ocean, Atlantic, Cumberland and Cape May counties
were as yet a waste of waters. Presently, however, other gigantic
forces within the earth came to the aid of those at work on the
surface, and the submerged area appeared, the rivers and floods
helping the uprising by bringing down great quantities of glacial
drift and spreading it in every direction. The depth of the drift
left in the vicinity of Newark varies exceedingly. “In the southern
and eastern parts of the city,” says Mr. Kummel, “in the meadows
or in regions which were meadows before they were reclaimed,
borings go 100 to 200 and 250 feet before reaching bed rock. In
the western part of the city, however, where the land is higher,
the rock is much nearer the surface. Common depths of the drift
are 10, 15 and 20 feet.” In every section of the city where cellars
or trenches are being dug or other excavations made, one may see
this glacial drift, beneath such soil as has been deposited over it by
the natural process of erosion, gathered during the ages that have
elapsed since the glaciers spent themselves.

THE PASSAIC AND WEEQUAHIC.

The Passaic river, as well as the Delaware, had flowed seaward
for centuries before the glacial epoch and the ice fields played quite
as marvelous pranks with the waterways as with the land. The
story of the ancient Passaic, as science has laid it before us, is
briefly as follows: When the ice first came it stopped up the river
above Paterson, near Little Falls, and for ages there was no river
from that point down the present and former course. For a long
time before the ice period this river had had two outlets to the sea,
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the one we now know, and the other through a gap in the Second
Mountain, at Short Hills. After the ice, in its slow march south-
ward, closed up the outlet at Little Falls, it dammed the gap at
Short Hills. Then the upper Passaic Valley was drained only
through an opening in the hills at Moggy Hollow, which is about
eight miles north of Somervillee. When the ice stopped the flow
toward Paterson Falls, the drainage of the section of the upper
valley still free from ice, accumulated in a lake, immediately in
front of the advancing glacial mass. Thus the prehistoric Lake
Passaic was formed. The lake was, so to speak, pushed ahead of
the ice, and when the glacier had covered the whole valley, the lake
was temporarily obliterated. When the ice began to melt, or as
the scientists say, recede, the lake appeared again. It was at its
maximum area just before the ice disappeared from the channel
near Little Falls, for the Short Hills outlet was now permanently
filled with the glacial drift and that at Moggy Hollow was too incon-
siderable to carry off the waters to any appreciable degree. At this
time the lake was about twenty miles long, from Little Falls to
Moggy Hollow, and approximately nine miles wide, from Summit to
the Morristown region.

Geologists have learned enough to know that the Passaic river
which flowed through the Short Hills as described above, was a
large and powerful stream. That it flowed through a comparatively
wide and deep valley would also seem to have been proved. Did it
flow through Newark? Its upper bank was certainly very close to
the southern boundary of the present city. It reached the sea
somewhere between Elizabeth and Newark, possibly at Waverly.
It may be that little Weequahic creek, from which the present park
derives its name, and which is largely responsible for the present
lake there, is the venerable and mightily-reduced relic of the ancient
river.

It was but an accident of Nature that the glacial drift did not
permanently close the channel at Little Falls and not that at Short
Hills. Had it happened this way, the Passaic would now be flowing
along Newark’s southern instead of its eastern border. What more
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striking and instructive manifestation of the changes worked out
in those dim days of the earth’s making-over could be found?

Thus, by majestic stages, through spaces of time of so great
duration that the mind can not comprehend their extent, was the
Newark ground made ready for the final touches that were to
render it habitable for the Indians, the immediate predecessors of
the men who founded the city.

We know there was animal life on the site of Newark before
and during portions of the glacial era. But prehistoric man, the
primeval human, was he here? The Eskimo, some authorities
believe, followed the glacial movement southward and retired when
the great ice fields began to succumb to a warmer climate.

THEORIES A8 TO PREHISTORIC MAN.

Traces of prehistoric man in divers sections of the earth are
often found below the glacial deposit or drift, in rude implements
which were not accidents of nature but must have been fashioned
by human hands. Fragments of bone believed to be those of the
mammoth, the musk-ox and the reindeer, have been found in the
Delaware Valley, below the so-called Trenton gravels.! Science still
hesitates to admit that these relics prove the existence of prehistoric
man along the Delaware; in fact there have been animated con-
troversies on this point during the last two decades or so. It may
remain for the proof to be brought out in this section of the State,
possibly somewhere in the Passaic Valley.

In recent years, we may say since the opening of the Twentieth
century, a more general interest in the science of anthropology,
archaeology and kindred branches has arisen. In our own State
more determined and intelligent efforts than ever before are on

1 See Dr. C. C. Abbott’s ‘““‘Archaeologica Nova Caesarea.’”

“At the termination of the Newark mountain, at Springfield, and in
many of the trap ranges, smoke and in some instances flame, issuing from
the crevices of the rock, have been observed by the inhabitants; proceeding
probably from carbonated hydrogen gas, indicating coal below. Animal and
vegetable remains have been observed in this freestone. Near Bellville, a
tooth, almost two inches in length, was discovered some years since, fifteen
feet below the surface.” Gordon’s Gazeteer of New Jersey, 1834.
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foot to pry into the secrets of the State’s very early past. The
legislature of 1912 set aside a small sum to be devoted to archaeo-
logical research under the direction of the State Geological Survey,
with a view of locating the Indian villages of former times and to
gather together all the relics of the savages that are to be found.
If this search is continued it is possible that traces of prehistoric
man may also be found. They may lie along the ancient pathways
of the Passaic (on any one or all three of them), as well as along
the Delaware, and in other sections of Essex county.?

* Information in detail concerning the Geology of the Essex County
region will be found in several of the publications of the New Jersey Geo-
logical Survey, one of the most efficient bureaus in the State.



CHAPTER IL
THE INDIANS AND THE DUTCH



Digitized by GOOSIQ



CHAPTER I1.

TrRE INDIANS AND THE DuTcH.

HISTORY of Newark would be sadly incomplete without
some account of the red man who, for unnumbered cen-
turies before Columbus found the continent, abode on this

soil and knew it for his own. He was the ancient owner, the first,
unless prehistoric man had his brute-like existence hereabouts.
The men who founded Newark received the territory direct from
the Indian, causing him to retire gradually to more and more distant
points with constantly reducing numbers until the savage was lost
in oblivion. The story of his going hence is much the same as
everywhere in the early settlement of the country, with this strik-
ing and altogether pleasing difference ; while elsewhere the ground
was often wrested from him by force and by trickery, here, in
Newark, as throughout all New Jersey, the Indian was paid the
price he asked for every foot of the land.

There was no Indian village of any considerable size on Newark
soil, at least not for several generations before the settlement. It
'was part of the domain of the Awkinges-awky, Ackinken-hackys or
Hackensacks, a sub-tribe of the Lenni Lenape or Delaware Indians.
The Hackensacks’ headquarters were near the site of the present
city of Hackensack, and the tribal boundaries were, roughly, Wee-
quahic creek (the original boundary line afterwards fixed by the
settlers between Newark and Elizabethtown) on the south; the
Ramapo mountains on the north and west, with the Hudson and a
part of Staten Island completing the confines. Below the Hacken-
sacks were the Raritans and above them the Tappans. The whole
State was dotted with tribal centres, like that near Hackensack,
from which small groups composed of a few families moved hither
and thither over the region set aside to their tribe, hunting, fishing,
raising occasional crops of maize, corn, etc.
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OLD INDIAN HIGHWAYS.

When the Dutch trappers and traders, the first white men to
really explore the region, fared out from New Amsterdam, and
from the little settlement at Bergen, a decade or so after Hudson
discovered the great river that bears his name, they found the
country we now call New Jersey peopled with perhaps fifteen hun-
dred Indians, living peacefully, each division and sub-division in
its own section under a loose government which served well for
all purposes of the aborigines. They welcomed the Dutchmen,
piloted them up and down the streams, bartered their furs, showed
them the way through the wilderness along the myriad paths which
the feet of many generations of their people had worn deep, along
the waterways through clefts in the hills, around all natural bar-
riers, over meadows and beside marshes and in and out of forests
that to the stranger seemed at first quite impenetrable. They
taught them many things in woodcraft, and they showed them the
mysteries of their crude methods of farming.

The greatest Indian pathway in all New Jersey was undoubtedly
the Minisink path, leading from the sea to the headquarters of the
Minsis, on Minisink Island high up in the Delaware. This path ran
from the Shrewsbury river, northwest, crossing the Raritan a little
west of Perth Amboy; proceeding north to and through the Short
Hills and then to the Passaic, which it crossed where the oldest
portion of Chatham, Morris county, now is, at a ford where Day’s
Bridge was built, in 1747. From this ford the old path ran a
distance of about twelve miles to Little Falls, being seldom more
than six or eight miles west of the Watchung (First) Mountain,
from the Short Hills to Little Falls. There was another crossing
there, from whence the path ran along the eastern side of the
valley to Pompton; thence following the Pequannock towards the
Delaware river.

“The Newark mountain region,” writes Wickes in his history
of the Oranges, “was constantly crossed and recrossed by the
Indians, going to and from the Hudson, by paths, all of which inter-
sected the great Minisink highway. Their nearest or most direct
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route from the Hudson to Minisink Island was through the Great
Notch of the First Mountain, four miles above Montclair, meeting
the main path near Little Falls. The other intersecting paths were:
At Montclair where the highway (Bloomfield avenue) crossed the
mountain ; the notch at Eagle Rock ; the notches of the Mt. Pleasant
and the Northfield highways, and the mountain-crossing at South
Orange (South Orange avenue, where it enters the South Mountain
reservation). All these routes led to the Minisink path. They all
crossed this great thoroughfare and were the highways of Indian
travel from the Hudson through the Musconetcong Valley to the
Delaware.”

The Dutch traders found to their surprise that the Hackensacks
as well as all other savages had a name for every path, stream,
creek and mountain range, as well as for every other object in
nature which could serve as a guide or landmark to the traveler.
If he took these names in the regular sequence as the red man
gave them to him, remembering the meaning of each as the savage
had imparted it, the trader could make his way for long distances,
recognizing each point as he came to it by the Indian place names.
It was thus for many generations that the natives taught each
other how to thread their way up and down and across New Jersey.
These place names answered every purpose of the time quite as
perfectly as guide books, auto-tour books, road maps, etc., do the
present-day denizens of the country. The Dutch officials employed
the Indian runners to carry dispatches between their settlements
on the Hudson and the Delaware. The trip one way was made in
something less than five days.

THE RED MAN ON THE COAST.

The red man had his “season” on the Jersey coast. For at least a
thousand years before the watering places that now dot its beaches
were thought of, each tribe had its seashore territories. The hill
tribes came down from the uplands, sometimes by waterway entirely
and sometimes by the paths. The earliest navigators speak in their
log books of the swarms of savages noticed on the Jersey coast.
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The making of wampum was carried extensively during those sum-
mer sojourns, as vast heaps of fragments of clam and oyster shells
and of other shellfish, to be found a few feet below the surface near
the coast, testify. The shellfish were dried, salted or smoked, spread
on sheets of bark and packed away in bales or strung on strings to
be carried back to the uplands in the fall for use during the winter.
The larger fish were treated in much the same fashion. While the
women were busy curing the fish, the men worked at wampum
making among the shells. They removed the mollusks from the
shells with clever little tools made out of jasper, the aboriginal
oyster knives.

With implements of stone, deftly fashioned, they chipped the
shells into little discs, varying in diameter according to the char-
acter of the wampum, often working them down to the size of a
bead. They perforated each disc or bead by means of a sharp,
pencil-like stone which they skillfully rotated between the hands,
using sand and water occasionally to increase the friction. They
polished the edges of the discs and the surfaces of the beads by
rubbing upon stone sprinkled with sand, until they acquired a fine
polish. They tested each bead for smoothness by contact with the
nose. The white wampum was reckoned as the least valuable. The
black wampum, so-called, which was made from blueish or purplish
and all other dark colored shells, was the most desired.

It is well-nigh certain that the Indians did not use wampum
as money until the arrival of the white man. There is no record of
its having been considered as currency by the Lenni Lenape, at
least. Everything they had they held in common. When they had
food, all were filled. They literally had no need for money. It was
a sort of primitive socialism. Wampum was used for bodily orna-
ment, for the conveying of messages of war, of peace, condolence;
for the binding of agreements of every sort; as an aid to memory
and in numberless other ways which are now lost to us. Manifold
meanings were worked into wampum by the peculiar arrangement
of colors and by means of various well recognized designs and pat-
terns. In every tribe and sub-tribe, there was always someone
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skilled in the minute reading of wampum, and the general signifi-
cance of a belt or string or collections of strings was known to all
adults.

The Dutch traders found the Hackensacks highly skillful at
wampum making, and the former were not slow to commercialize
it, giving it in barter for furs, foodstuffs, herbs, etc. Later the
white folk took to making wampum which they sold to traders.

This was done in Bergen county within the last century, as late as
1845.

The Lenni Lenape were among the most facile in the fashion-
ing of stone implements. They tooled with infinite care their arrow
and spearheads, their chisels, hunting knives, flesh scrapers, fish-
line sinkers, fish spears, mortars for the grinding of corn, and a
multitude of other articles whose uses baffle scientists to determine.
Skill in manufacturing industries has therefore been common to
the Newark neighborhood for many centuries.

INDIAN TRADITIONS AND TRIBAL DIVISIONS.

The old Dutch pioneers learned many other things about the
Indians of New Jersey from their intercourse with them. To this
knowledge was added more gleaned in much the same way by the
English when they took possession in 1664. A few missionaries
contributed their quota, as did the reports and other records of the
early governors and their subordinates. Out of this material we
gather all there is to be known now of the original possessors of
the territory. It i8 by no means as complete as one might desire.
There are many gaps that can never be closed, and there is here
and there a lack of accuracy made manifest by the contradictory
statements found in the various sources.

The Lenni Lenape were a branch of the great Algonkin nation.
Long before the coming of the white man they had been beaten
in battle by the flerce Iroquois to the north, and from that time
bore the name of “women” among the Iroquois and other warlike
peoples. In compensation for that epithet, given in derision, they
came to be known as wise and safe in counsel, and were often
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appealed to by other nations to settle disputes. They showed their

- wisdom in keeping out of wars, and although they had been con-

quered by the Iroquois, they considered themselves superior to their
conquerors because they felt they possessed higher intelligence.

The Lenni Lenape held sway, at one time or another, over a
large part of Pennsylvania, New Jersey and a portion of New York.
They were divided into three branches, the Minsis or Mountaineers,
or wolves ; the Unamis, or tortoises; the Unalachtigoes, or turkeys.
The Hackensacks seem to have been a sub-tribe of the Unamis, with
the Minsis above and the Unlachtigoes below them. To the traders
and trappers the Lenni Lenape gave various interpretations of their
family name: “our men,” “Indian men,” “the original or pure
Indian.” To be a Lenni Lenape was to have sprung from a very
ancient race of red men, whose blood was unpolluted by that of
other nations. To be of the tribe of Unamis was to have been
borne of the most ancient of all the Lenni Lenape; for, as the old
Hackensack chieftains explained, it was the tortoise who bore the
earth on his back and who created all things upon the earth that
were good for man; and the totem of the Unamis was the tortoise.
Thus the child of the forest babbled of his history, a tale in which
myth and fact are inextricably intermingled. H we are to believe
him, the Indians who once called the soil of Newark their own were
sprung from the oldest of the three great divisions of the Lenni
Lenape, and the Lenni Lenape were descended from the very
earliest of Indians.

The Lenni Lenape were powerfully built, usually of about the
average height of the white men, with dark eyes, glistening white
teeth, coarse black hair. Few were crippled, deformed, cross-eyed
or blind. “They preserved their skins,” wrote Charles Wolley in
1701, “by anointing them with the oil of fishes, the fat of eagles
and the grease of raccoons, which they hold in the summer to be
the best antidote to keep their skins from blistering by the scorch-
ing sun, and their best armour against the musketto’s * * * *
and stopper of the pores of their bodies against the winter’s cold.”
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So we learn that the mosquito has been in the land for ages
before our time and in fighting the pest we are simply continuing
an ancient warfare. They seldom used what is known as wigwams.
It is believed, however, that there were a few large structures called
community houses, in which a considerable number of natives might
assemble. It is quite probable that there was a community house
in the old Indian village of Hackensack. But in the main, their
houses were mere huts. This is the way William Penn described
the habitations of the Lenni Lenape, in 1683:

“They bent down the boughs of saplings and interlaced them,
covering this framework with bark quite thick enough to provide
a warm shelter. Sometimes they made wattled huts, circular or
cylindrical in form, thatched and with an inner wall of mats woven
from long reed grass or from sweet flag stalks. Their bedding was
the skins of wild animals, usually the garments they wore when
abroad.”

JERSEY INDIANS' CHARACTERISTICS—THE LENNI LENAPE RELIGION.

They were gentle, and received strangers with the most gra-
cious hospitality. Samuel Smith, New Jersey’s first historian,
wrote of them in 17656: ‘“None could excel them in liberality with
the little they had, for nothing was too good for a friend.”

But they kept strict watch over their tribal boundaries, as a
rule. A Hackensack, for instance, could fish and hunt in Newark
territory and none other. Other tribes of the Lenni Lenape and
those of other peaceful nations had full right to traverse the Indian
highways and to enjoy temporarily the privileges of the region,
but they could not tarry long nor take the fish nor the game nor
the fruits of the fields and the wildwood. It is pretty certain also,
‘that no one family remained for any great length of time at any
one spot, so Newark cannot be said to have belonged to any one
man or small group of red men, since it was “possessed” only by
the tribe; and as we shall see later, was disposed of to the settlers
by the tribe, a few acting as the tribal representatives and who
probably were the last natives to have residence here.
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The Lenni Lenape had a sincere belief in a Supreme Being,
differing but little in its elements from that of the other savages
throughout this section of the country. They had no comprehen-
sion of a life to come such as the Christian religion teaches. The
missionaries found it most difficult to get them to grasp the tenets
of the faith they sought to teach them.

They were not at all inclined to admit that the whites were
superior to them. They said they could tell from simply looking
at the strangers from across the ocean that they were not an
“original people” like themselves, who had come down from the
beginning of time without contamination by an intermingling with
races other than their own. The white men, said the Lenni Lenape,
were clearly the result of the commingling of various bloods, which
meant that they were bound to be troublesome. The Great Spirit
had found it necessary to give the whites a Big Book (Bible) and
to teach them to read it, so that they might know how to do as he
wanted them to do, and how to leave undone the things he did not
want them to do. As for the Lenni Lenape, they did not need such
a book from the Great Spirit, since they knew his wishes out of
their hearts.

“As they care nothing for the spiritual,” wrote a Dutch ob-
server, speaking of the period of 1621-1632, “they direct their
study principally to the physical, closely studying the seasons.
The women there are the most experienced star gazers; there is
scarcely one of them but names all the stars [planets?]; their
rising and setting. But Him who dwells above they know not.”

They had ceremonies galore, by means of which they sought
to placate the Evil One, and they had solemn festivals at various
seasons of the year. There was the feast of the first fruits of the
harvest, the feast after a period of good hunting, celebrations at
weddings and at funerals. It is believed that many of these were
held in the groves along the Yantakah, Yantacaw, or Third River,
as we know it. They are said to have used a kind of incense, made
by pouring water upon burning tobacco.
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There are two interpretations of the name Yantakah or Yanta-
caw. By some authorities the word is understood to have signified
to the Lenni Lenape, “extending to the tidal river,” which faith-
fully describes the stream as it flows into the Passaic. Others are
inclined to believe that Yantakah is a crude combination of the
native words for the ceremonial dances, the Kante Kaey, which
they celebrated on the banks of the stream.

Few of the Indian place names for the Newark region have
been preserved to us, most unfortunately. Students of the Lenni
Lenape tongue do not explain the meaning of Passaic, to the satis-
faction of modern minds. “Where it divides” is a strict transla-
tion. This may describe the split or chasm at Paterson Falls.
Weequahic, the little creek which for ages has served as a boundary
line, first separating the domains of the Hackensacks and the
Raritans, and afterwards as the place of division between Newark
and Elizabethtown, and which now gives its name to a county park,
means simply “the end or head of a creek or run.”

MARRIAGE—TRAINING OF THE BOYS—MEDICINE MEN.

Marriage, while it was always gone through with much cere-
mony, was apparently not binding, upon the men. They left the
women for others when it suited them to do so, the wife taking
the children. The only formidable thing about marriage among
the Lenni Lenape was the name they gave it, “witach-punge-
wiwuladt-poagan.” They were very careful, however, not to per-
mit the marriage of members of the same tribe. The men paid
but little attention to their girl-children; they were kept about the
mother and learned her simple but severe tasks of planting and
hoeing the corn and beans, preparing the food and bearing heavy
burdens when the family was on the move. But the boys were
trained in the craft of the father with considerable care. They
were early taught the use of the bow and arrow, how to attach
the fish hook to the line, then how to fish; next they learned to
spear fish and afterward were shown how to trap game and to
catch fish in the streams by means of brush or bush nets. The
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use of the canoe came when the boy was well grown, and the
handling of the stone hatchet in all its forms seems to have been
reckoned as one of the more difficult accomplishments.

The Lenni Lenape had many good medicine men among them,
who did much more than strive to exorcise evil spirits from the
ill by weird dances and fantastic ceremonial. Sickness could not
always be driven out by horse play and shouting, and one of the
cure-alls was to give the patient a steam bath and then plunge him
in the river. Twelve stones were heated to very high temperature,
whereupon these were rolled into a small hut, usually constructed
of bark and often lined with clay or mud. The patient squatted
inside the hut near the stones, when water was poured upon the
latter, the pouring being continued until the spluttering and sissing
ceased. Then followed the cold plunge, which no doubt was the
death of nearly as many as were cured, since this treatment was
applied for about every ill the red man was heir to.

THE INDIANS AND “FIRE WATER"—INHUMANITY OF THE DUTCH.

The settlers need have had no serious trouble with the Lenni
Lenape. Indeed, the English had no wars with them in this State.
But there were bloody struggles between the Dutch and the red
men, including our own Hackensacks, which could easily have been
avoided had the whites given the savages considerate treatment.
A Scotch settler at Perth Amboy, the homeland of the Raritans,
who were next door neighboors of the Hackensacks, writing near
the close of the seventeenth century says: “And for the Indian
natives, they are not troublesome to any of us, if we do them no
harm, but are a very kind and loving people; the men do nothing
but hunt, and the women they plant corn and work at home.”

There would have been much less bloodshed during the do-
minion of the Dutch, had it not been for the white man’s “fire-
water,” the same depressing story written through and through
the records of the early colonization of this country. The Lenni
Lenape had no word in their language for drunkeness. When they
were thirsty they drank water, or the broth from their boiled meat.
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From the first appearance of the Dutch traders on Manhattan, the
chiefs of the Hackensacks, the Navesinks on Staten Island, the
Mohegans, the Raritans, the Tappans and other neighboring tribes
on the western side of the Hudson, besought the newcomers not to
sell their people rum. They quickly saw its baleful effects, and
Oraton or Oratamy, the grand old sachem of the Hackensacks, was
especially urgent and active in this first temperance crusade in New
Jersey. From the all too scant record we have of his doings there is
enough to stamp him as a remarkable character, straightforward
and just in his dealings; possessed of a spirit of kindliness far
beyond that of many of the white men with whom he had dealing.
In “fire-water” he clearly saw the undoing of his people. On several
occasions he visited the log houses of the Dutch on Manhattan and
pleaded to have the selling or giving of liquor to the Hackensacks
stopped.

Serious trouble did not come in East Jersey until 1640, when
the Dutch colonists angered the Raritans. The natives were
accused, although it is now believed without just foundation, of
many thieveries, and the white men sent a punitive expedition to
the Raritan region. A year later the Indians retaliated by descend-
ing upon the scattered homes upon Staten Island, and destroyed the
settlers with the fury and cruelty characteristic of the aborigines
when the battle rage was on.

The Indians had now begun to lose confidence in the Dutch.
The breach had been widened by the foolish policy of exacting
tribute of maize, wampum and furs. This the red men resented;
they saw no reason why they should play the part of slaves. The
Dutch farmers were continually letting their cattle stray away and
the Indians, now sulky, occasionally killed the cattle and horses.
Neither understood the other, and the Dutch were exceedingly slow
in getting to know the peculiarities of the native character.

The Dutch, or their rulers in Manhattan, resolved on war. At
this time, the Hackensacks and neighboring tribes of the Lenni
Lenape were in terror because of the incursions of the Iroquois,
Mohawks and others of their copper-skinned enemies from the
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north. The Lenni Lenape in desperation appealed to the “Swanne-
kins,” as they called the Dutch, and gathered for protection where
the Pavonia section of Jersey City now is. It was while they were
encamped there to the number of several hundred, relying upon the
Dutch promise of protection, that William Kieft, director-general
of New Netherland, resolved to mete out swift punishment upon
them.
THE PAVONIA MASSACRE.

Eighty soldiers were sent across the river from Manhattan in
the darkness of a February night in 1643. They fell upon the
unsuspecting natives as they slept. Their barbarities are well nigh
indescribable. They murdered men, women and children alike.
They tore the babies from the breasts of their mothers and threw
them into the water, and when parents rushed in to save their
offspring, forced them to drown together. They butchered infants
as they lay pinioned to the boards used as rude cradles; and their
wanton lust for killing was not satisfied until there was none of
the savages living of those who had been unable to flee under cover
of darkness. The dead numbered over eighty.

The war raged up and down the west bank of the Hudson. All
the Lenni Lenape in what is now upper New Jersey put on their
war paint, upwards of eleven tribes taking the field. They laid
waste every settler’s home, until the region was rid of the white
folk as completely as before their first appearance. Peace was de-
clared in the spring of 1643, but it did not last long as the natives
now mistrusted every move of the white man. It is not at all
probable that the fighting extended as far inland as the district
on which Newark now stands, and the vague tales of a battle
around a huge rock in what is now the Eagle Rock reservation,
are scarcely to be credited. The Dutch were careful to keep near
their base of supplies, Manhattan—once they came to realize what
a terrible foe the red man could be when aroused. The war was not
even carried as far as the Indian village at Hackensack, although
the braves of the whole tribe took active part in it. In the fighting
after the flimsy treaty of peace of 1643, fully seven of the tribes,
chiefly of the Lenni Lenape, were enrolled.
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The Indians had become more crafty by this time; they ex-
posed themselves very little, stealing up on the farmhouses and
“bouweries” and firing the thatched roofs with flaming arrows or
by hurling brands. Unlike the Dutch, they usually spared the
women and children, taking them into captivity. Time and again
they showed themselves more humane than their misguided antag-
onists. We know this from accounts of the sanguinary proceedings
left by Dutchmen who were not in sympathy with the high-handed
methods pursued by Kieft. Actual peace was at last declared, and

one of the signers of the treaty was Oritaney, or Oraton, chief of
the Hackensacks.

THE LAST STAND OF THE LENNI LENAPE.

The second and last war in which the Hackensacks had any
part broke out twelve years later, in 16565, and was the more terrible
of the two. There were petty encounters during the long interval,
which served to keep the Hackensacks and their neighbors more
or less restive, and which really prepared the way for the last
desperate struggle.

Hostilities came when a Dutchman who had an orchard on the
hillside in what is now Hoboken, from which the Indians had
pilfered considerable fruit, resolved to put a stop to the annoyance.
He lay in wait for the offenders one dark night. When he saw
someone approaching the orchard he fired, and killed an Indian
girl. The savages at once lit their beacon fires and swarmed
to the west side of the Hudson. They filled sixty-four canoes
and went in pursuit of the unlucky Dutch fruit grower, who
had fled to New Amsterdam. They searched that village until they
found him, killing the Dutchman who had taken him in, and wound-
ing the cause of the trouble in the breast with one of their arrows.

By this time the men of New Amsterdam had begun to assem-
ble, and the red men ran to their canoes and put back to Hoboken.
Soon the whole series of little settlements, from Weehawken to
Staten Island, were in flames. Every house was burned. One
hundred whites were killed, one hundred and fifty taken captives,
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and over three hundred more made homeless. In this war the
Hackensacks and their allies seem to have been less humane than
in the first. They fought with demoniac fury, as if they knew
this was to be their last stand in this region against the white men.
Peace was not made secure for several months, when the Indians
demanded a ransom for the captives, which the Dutch paid. In
one case the price was seventy-eight pounds of gunpowder and
forty staves of lead, for a group of twenty-eight captives.

THE PASSING OF THE JERSEY INDIANS.

War, rum, and disease, much of the latter caused by excesses
springing from indulgence in rum, had greatly reduced the number
of the natives. It is believed also that many of them had before
the last war made their flight westward to get away from the
white man. In 1758 a counsel was called by Governor Bernard, of
New Jersey, which resulted in the extinguishment by the Colonial
government of all claims of the Lenni Lenape to lands in New
Jersey, with the exception of the right to hunt and fish in all
unenclosed lands. The Indians were, furthermore, provided with
a reservation—the first in the whole United States—in Burlington
county, on the Delaware. Three thousand acres were set aside for
their exclusive use, largely through the exertions of the Rev. John
Brainerd, whose brother David, had previously worked as a mis-
sionary, chiefly among the Susquehannas, and who had virtually
given up his life for them, dying of consumption resulting from
hardship and exposure. They called the place Brotherton.

The last of the Lenni Lenape in New Jersey remained quietly
in their reservation until 1802, taking no part as a race in the
stirring events of the War for Independence, although a few of
their young men, who had become at least partly civilized, fought
in Washington’s army. The remnant of the original owners of the
Jersey soil removed to a reservation near Oneida Lake, New York,
in 1802, joining forces with another Indian race with whom their
fathers had been friendly for generations. A few years later they
were all transported to Fox River, Wisconsin, naming their new



HISTORY OF NEWARK 25

village Statesburg. In 1882 but forty of them were left, and about
that time they sent one of their own men, a graduate of Princeton,
to ask the Legislature to buy their ancient hunting and fishing
rights which had not been cancelled. This was promptly done,
the price paid being about $3,000. )

This ended all formal connection between the State of New
Jersey and the Indians. It is possible that if diligent search were
made throughout the Indian reservations of the country a very
few might be found who can lay fair claim to having Lenni Lenape
blood in their veins.

The last one of the race in this State, of whom there is any-
think like an authentic record, was an old woman, called “Indian
Ann,” who died in Burlington county about 1890. She claimed to
be the daughter of a man, who, at the time of the removal of
the Lenni Lenape to New York State, refused to go. There was
but a small handful of the race in this section of New Jersey when
Newark was founded, probably not more than five hundred. None
of the Lenni Lenape had serious trouble with the English, from
the time of their arrival, in 1664. Certain it is that the Hacken-
sacks lived in amity with the settlers of Newark until the last little
band of them went trailing sorrowfully away across the State to
the reservation in Brotherton.!

The last surviving remnants of the Lenni Lenape or Delaware
Indians are now (1918) in Canada and in Oklahoma. A wealth
of interesting material upon the New Jersey Indians is contained
in “A Preliminary Report of the Archaeological Survey of the State
of New Jersey, made by the Department of Anthropology in the
American Museum of Natural History,” issued by the State Geo-
logical Survey, in May, 1913. The Archaeological Survey was
created in 1912 by an act of the Legislature, and the report just
referred to covers the first year’s work of this new bureau. Nearly
a thousand sites, camps, burial grounds and rock shelters have
already been located. The Survey has not as yet (1913) made any
investigations in Essex county.

1 The principal sources drawn upon for the material in this chapter are
Nelson’s ‘“New Jersey Indians” and Dr. C. C. Abbott’s “Primitive Industry.”
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CHAPTER IIL

PURITAN UNREST—THER ENGLISH AND NEW JERSRY.

HE first white men to look upon the country we now call

Newark are believed to have been a small boat’s crew sent out

by Henry Hudson at the time of his discovery of the river that
bears his name, in September, 1609. John Coleman, in charge of
the boat, left the Half Moon with orders to explore the region
back of the Great River. He found his way into what is now
Newark Bay, proceeded far enough to make sure that the Passaic
did not lead to the Northwest Passage his chief was fruitlessly
seeking, and started back. This first glimpse of the region was
costly, for the white men became embroiled with the Indians who
attacked them in canoes, and Coleman was shot dead by an arrow,
which pierced his throat. The crew reported it had observed an
“open sea,” Newark Bay, after penetrating two leagues; and the
following, taken from the Half Moon's log, is believed to refer to
the country round about it as “pleasent with Grasse and Flowers
and goodly Trees as any they had. seene, and very sweet smells
came from them.” Somewhere in the sands of Jersey the bones
of Coleman have crumbled away. If only the spot could have been
found and its location preserved!

More than half a hundred years were to march by before
gsettlement was to be made in the Newark region. The Dutch,
partly because of their troubles with the Indians, did not
attempt to make homes here. A few sturdy souls are thought
to have set up their homes here and there along the upper
Passaic and Hackensack rivers. They called this whole neighbor-
hood Achter Col, or Kol, meaning “back of the Bay,” thus describ-
ing its location with reference to the upper harbor of New Amster-
dam. They were slow and unprogressive, contenting themselves
with drawing on the region for its fur-bearing animals and such
wild products as could be gathered without much labor.
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The English settlers on Long Island and in lower New England
had their eyes on the Newark region for a quarter of a century
before the actual settlement. As early as 1643 negotiations with
a view to the establishment of a town thereabouts were entered
into with the Dutch at New Amsterdam by a small group, believed
to have been Long Island English, who were chafing under the
heavy conditions the Dutch imposed upon them there. Nothing
came of this proposition. These people had no doubt explored the
“Achter Col” country on their own account and had grasped its
great possibilities as a permanent abiding place. As their towns
on Long Island were offshoots of New England they no doubt told
their Puritan brethren on the Connecticut mainland of the attrac-
tiveness of the land west of the Hudson and on the shores of a
large inner bay where none abode but savages.

PURITANS LOOK TOWARD NEWARK REGION.

The Puritan pioneers on Long Island were for the most part
bands of the most uncompromising and conservative Puritans, less
liberal than the Pilgrim Fathers of the Plymouth Colony and more
closely allied with the Puritans of the New Haven colony, where a
determined effort was being made to build up a theocratic form of
government. In many instances they would permit no one to have
any voice in public affairs unless he was a member of one of the
Congregational churches. When the New Haven Colony—from
whence the founders of Newark came—was established, in 1638,
a “Fundamental Agreement” was drawn up and signed by all the
settlers, binding themselves to three principles: 1. “That the
Word of God shall be the only Rule attended unto in ordering the
affairs of Government.” 2. That they should “cast themselves
into that mould and form of commonwealth which appeareth best,
in reference to the securing of the pure and peaceable enjoyment
of all Christ, His ordinances in the Church according to God.”
8. “That the free burgesses shall be chosen from Church members,
and they only shall choose magistrates and officers among them-
selves to have the power of transacting all public civil affairs of

the plantation.”
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THE NEW HAVEN THEOCRACY.

From the above it will be seen that with these Puritans, Church
and State were to be so closely bound together as to discourage all
of different religious faith coming among them. They not
only signed the “Fundamental Agreement” themselves, but they
pledged themselves to compel all who might afterward enter the
colony to stay, to subscribe to, or abide by it. You might, if you
were not a Puritan, make your home in the New Haven Colony,
but you must sign away all right to participate in government.
They went further than the Pilgrim Fathers of Plymouth, who
admitted others than Puritans to suffrage, for only upon such
foundation could they conceive of a commonwealth that would
satisfy their intense yearning for the purest form of government
possible upon earth. All must be of one mind and heart, they
said to each other continually, or there can be no peaceful and
clean life of the kind that a good 1nan’s conscience urges.

The Puritans were reformers who had fought a losing fight
for many years in England. They were the English expression
of a “new idea” movement that had long been stirring in Europe.
Since government by man alone was being proven a miserable
failure so far as the great mass of the people were concerned, they
argued that God, through His Church, must be man’s guide if
man was to approach the happy state on earth that God had made
possible for him. The nations of the earth must inevitably become
even as Sodom and Gomorrah unless the rulers governed con-
stantly in the fear of God and in strict obedience to conscience,
which was God’s voice. All that they saw in the workings of
government about them in England tended to convince them of
the strength of their position. The New Haven Colony men were
among the strictest adherents to this conception.

Disheartened and discouraged by the corruption and greed of
the crown and its officers and adherents, despairing of ever being
permitted to live their lives in the purity of faith they felt essential
and without which they could see no hope for England’s future,
the Pilgrim Fathers, the first of the Puritans to migrate, had left
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their native country, going first to Holland. There, while they
enjoyed absolute freedom to worship God in their own way, in
common with thousands of other reformers of other faiths who
had found asylum there from various parts of Europe, they did
not relish losing their identity as English and Puritans. For these
reasons the Pilgrim Fathers came to America. The Pilgrims never
proposed, however, to separate themselves completely from Eng-
land and all her institutions, and they intended to support the laws
of the mother country, actively when they believed in them and
passively when they did not.

In the New Haven Colony, however, the founders asked for
nothing from England. They were to get their laws and ordi-
nances, their whole theory and practical working scheme of govern-
ment, from the Bible. ‘“Wisdom hath builded her house; she hath
hewn out her seven pillars,” says Proverbs ix, i, and this they took
to be God’s specific ruling and literally applicable to their own
case, and chose seven men who, besides having supreme charge
of the affairs of the church, had also the highest civic functions.
These “seven pillars” chose the first governor and four deputies
to assist him, while they themselves acted as magistrates. There
were no juries, because the Mosaic law made no mention of any.

PURITAN INTOLERANCE.

It is not easy for us of this day to comprehend how men of
the highest intelligence, some of them eminent students of history
and close observers of all existing forms of government, could
frame such a commonwealth and seriously expect it to endure.
They had fled from intolerance, but no sooner did they have freedom
to follow their own devices, untrammelled for a time by the home
government, than they drew up the most drastic of laws and enforced
them with grim harshness. It was in the very tolerance of the
Pilgrims of Plymouth that the New Havenites and others thought
they saw the ultimate collapse of that colony as a God-fearing
community, so they thought to escape that eventuality by imposing
the dictates of their own consciences upon all others who should
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seek to abide among them. In so far as it applied to the State,
it was a most pronounced sort of bossism that these reformers had
immediately fallen into; a menace that has ever hovered close to
the skirts of reform since the world began.

These Puritan reformers were, says Stearns in his History of
the First Church of Newark, “full of the spirit of that animating
vision which continually floated before their minds, to found a
church upon pure principles, and a State which, though separated
in its jurisdiction, should act in perfect harmony with the church
and be governed in all its procedure by the rules of God’s holy
word. They seem to have supposed that by bringing up their
children in the fear of God and excluding from the exercise of
power among them those who were not governed by the same
principles, they might continue to be of one heart from generation
to generation.”

So they erected their colony, the chief towns being New Haven
and Milford on one side of New Haven harbor, and Branford and
Guilford on the other. This was to be the last attempt but one of
the Puritans in America to build up a theocracy. It was to take
nearly thirty years to prove that a Kingdom of God on earth, an
“Isle of Innocence” could not be made to work in the New Haven
Colony ; after which the final attempt was to be made by people of
these four towns, in Newark. The towns were well located and
they gradually prospered. New drafts of Pilgrims arrived, some
from England and others from different sections of New England.
Nearly all of them made excellent members of the communities,
but not all could subscribe fully to the tenets of the Puritan church
as there set up. These chafed under the lack of suffrage, denied
them because they were not full church members, according to New
Haven Colony doctrine.

PERSECUTION OF THE QUAKERS.

The colony of Connecticut was also growing, but it was more
tolerant toward the newcomers, more alive to the changing con-
ditions of the times. New Haven eyed Connecticut’s increasing
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strength askance. Discussion and dissension arose over the re-
straints put upon government by the church. It does not appear
that members of the Established Church of England or of the
Roman Catholic faith ever sought admission to the New Haven
Colony, but the possibility of the coming of Quakers roused it to
a pitch of intense excitement and caused the enactment of laws
that well serve to illustrate the severity of the government. The
persecution of Quakers in the New Haven Colony was nearly as
harsh and intolerant as in Massachusetts. If a Quaker came into
the colony on business he was to be permitted to despatch it, while
accompanied by a guard, and was to be ejected as soon as his
business was done. Anyone who harbored Quakers ‘“or other
blasphemous hereticks” was to forfeit fifty pounds sterling, If a
Quaker showed an inclination not to abide by this law he was to
be thrown into prison, severely whipped and put at hard labor for
a term to be fixed by the magistrate. For a second offense a
Quaker was to be branded with the letter “H” (for “heretic”’) on
the hand, and imprisoned. For the third offense the other hand was
to be branded, and for the fourth offense the tongue was to be bored
with a hot iron. To bring Quaker books into the colony meant the
imposition of a fine of five pounds. Some of these penalties were
meted out upon a few. But not many came into the colony,
naturally enough.

These anti-Quaker laws were put in operation in 1658. On
the other hand the Colony of Connecticut was becoming even
more liberal. She kept her skirts quite clean of severe practises,
persecuting no sect, although striving to preserve the purity of
her church. Under pressure of the increasing demand for a wider
suffrage, Connecticut decided to admit to citizenship “persons of
civil, peaceable and honest conversation,” reducing the property
requirement from thirty pounds to twenty. “The privilege of a
freeman,” says Cobb in his “The Rise of Religious Liberty in
America,” “was never made in Connecticut a perquisite of religion,




HISTORY OF NEWARK 86

nor conditioned on church membership.” These conditions in the
neighboring colony served to aggravate the discontent in New
Haven. A new generation was arising which could not see things
in the stern, hard light of its fathers.

NEW HAVEN COLONY MERGED WITH CONNECTICUT.

In 1662 the New Haven Colony was merged with Connecticut
by the King’s order. New Haven’s theocracy vanished then and
there, and those of the latter colony who could not in conscience
subscribe to the scheme of government in operation in the former,
determined to depart; and thus Newark came to be.

King Charles II had never looked upon New Haven Colony
with kindly eyes. Some of its founders and their fathers were
among the fiercest of his royal father’s foes; they were among
the iron men who fought with Cromwell. Moreover, they had long
harbored two of the regicides, the judges who pronounced sentence
of death upon Charles I. The son no doubt took grim pleasure in
wiping their establishment out of existence.

There are signs that the New Haven leaders had begun to
realize that their theocracy could not much longer endure exactly
as they had planned, it for several years before the consolidation
of the two colonies. It is pretty certain, however, that they would
all have remained in the new Connecticut had it not been for the
fact that that colony, while refusing longer to recognize church
membership as a necessary qualification for citizenship, was now
permitting those who were not church members a voice in the
making of laws that governed the church. This jeopardized the
purity of the church, according to the New Haven view, and it was
to them an unendurable condition; to accept it would have meant
a sacrifice of conscience. True, the Connecticut lawmakers were
careful to hedge this innovation about with various restrictions,
but the fact remained that while the State retained authority over
the church, the State at the same time gave to those outside its
religious influence the power to influence it, by right of suffrage.
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PASTOR PIERSON’S ACTIVITIES.

No one man was more active in promoting the religious excite-
ment that culminated in removal from the New Haven Colony than
the Rev. Abraham Pierson. In 1640 he was the spiritual leader of a
company of Puritans that left Lynn, Massachusetts, and founded
Southampton, Long Island, for the purpose of rearing a Church-
and-State form of government similar to that started two years
before at New Haven. It is a question whether the Rev. Pierson’s
church at Southampton was the first of any denomination on Long
Island, or that at Southold, which was also a Puritan organization.
In any event, there were very few months’ difference between them.
Four years later Southampton was annexed to Connecticut, which
80 displeased Pastor Pierson that he removed to the town of Bran-
ford in the New Haven Colony with whose high-minded theocratic
views he was far more in sympathy than with the liberalism of
Connecticut.

In Branford, Pastor Pierson, with the few followers who had
accompanied him from Southampton, with the people of Branford
and others from the town of Weathersfield, founded the church
society, which later was to be transferred to Newark. This city’s
original church organization, the First Presbyterian as it is known
to-day, is therefore about twenty years older than the city itself.

EARLY EFFORTS FOR A NEW SETTLEMENT.

As early as 1661, five years before the actual removal from
the New Haven region, and a year before the actual absorption
of the colony in Connecticut, the leaders among those who were
determined not to become part and parcel of the Connecticut
commonwealth, were casting about for a place of settlement. In
the old Dutch records of New Amsterdam for that year are found
copies of letters written to Governor Peter Stuyvesant by a small
committee of New Haven men, seeking terms and conditions under
which they might take up land in that part of New Netherland that
was very soon to be known as New Jersey. Among those who
signed these letters were two of the most forceful of Newark’s
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founders, Robert Treat and Jasper Crane. They even went to
New Amsterdam and saw Stuyvesant, were pleasantly entertained
by him and are believed to have visited the Achter Col in Stuy-
vesant’s barge and gazed upon the land that later was to become
Newark.?

In all probability an agreement would have been arrived at
in due process of time, but the sudden seizure of New Netherland
by the English, in 1664, and the consequent collapse of Dutch
sovereignty, made it necessary for the prospective colonizers to
begin operations all over again and this time with their own race
from across the seas.

The Puritans, especially those in Connecticut and New Haven
colonies, had little affection for the Dutch. As early as 1640 a
company of New Haven merchants had fitted out a ship and sent
it to the Delaware to trade with the Indians and establish trading
posts. The Dutch and Swedes, under the direction of the Dutch
governor at New Amsterdam, confiscated their ship and goods,
destroyed their trading houses and threw them into prison. Nine
years later, members of New Haven Colony resolved to set up
plantations upon Delaware Bay in the neighborhood of their pre-
vious operations. Again a ship was equipped, but it lingered off
New Amsterdam, and the energetic Stuyvesant, being apprised of
the Puritans’ designs upon the Delaware, placed his heavy official
hand upon the ship, its papers and crew. He told the ship’s com-
pany if they did not go back to their homes he would send them
to the Netherlands as prisoners if he found any of them on the
Delaware. If they resisted arrest there, he told them he would
fight them to the last extremity—and they knew he meant it.

Thus this expedition was thwarted. The New Haven Colony
was ready to taKe extreme measures to support its merchants in
their claims to land upon the Delaware, if the other New England
colonies would unite with them. This the sister colonies refused
to do. The merchants’ rights to Delaware lands were based upon

! Miss Gail Treat’s paper on Robert Treat, read at unveiling of Treat
tablet in First Presbyterian Church, Newark, November 4th, 1912.
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a purchase for thirty pounds stirling of large tracts on either side
of the river from an English company called the New Albion Com-
pany, whose principal, Lord Ploydon, or Ploeydon, claimed to have
received a grant from King James the First of the greater part of
the territory between Maryland and New England. The Dutch,
of course, refused to acknowledge the authority of King James or
any other English monarch to the partition of what they believed
to be their property by right of Henry Hudson’s discovery.

For a time the New Haven merchants despaired of re-estab-
lishing their plantations on the Delaware, and it was while they
were in a state of quiesence that the colonization movement, which
resulted in the actual foundation of Newark, was incubating. .

ENGLISH CONQUEST OF DUTCH TERRITORY.

As soon as the English had captured New Amsterdam the
whole territory between the Connecticut and Delaware rivers fell
into England’s hands with no serious resistance, and Colonel Richard
Nicholls, previously equipped with the necessary credentials by
King Charles II, at the instance of James, Duke of York, became
its governor in place of the doughty old Stuyvesant. The English
had long claimed the ownership of New Netherland, by the right
of discovery of the mainland of North America by John and Sebas-
tian Cabot, sailing under the English flag, in 1497 and 1498. The
Dutch were well aware of these claims, which may account in some
small measure for their failure to colonize New Jersey more exten-
sively than they did, fearing perhaps that some day the English
might prove powerful enough to enforce the shadowy claims derived
from the coastwise cruises of the Cabots.

Whatever we may think of the methods taken by England to
possess itself of New Netherland, the virtual end of Dutch rule
here marks the beginning of the real development of this wonder-
ful country which we now so proudly call New Jersey. King
Charles II gave New Netherland, the land between the Connecticut
and Delaware rivers, including certain territories on Long Island,
to his brother, James, Duke of York. In fact this grant was made
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while the Dutch were still in possession, and Colonel Nicholls was
sent out by the Duke to clear the Dutch from his new possessions.
While Nicholls’ fleet was still on the sea, the Duke executed deeds
of lease and release to two of the staunchest defenders of the
crown, Lord John Berkeley, Baron of Stratton, and Sir George
Carteret of Saltrum in Devon, of all New Jersey, including Staten
Island. It was named Nova Caesarea, or New Jersey, since the
ancient name of the island of Jersey was Caesarea, and it was the
valorous defense of this island against the forces of Parliament in
the time of Cromwell that had won for Carteret his high favor
with the Duke of York and his brother, the King.

NEW JERSEY AS THE ENGLISH FOUND IT.

But their new possessions were of little value to the two noble-
men, as the land then lay; a fringe of Dutch farms and bouweries
along the west bank of the lower Hudson and on Staten Island, a
sprinkling of houses along the Passaic and Hackensack valleys,
small settlements of Dutch and Swedes on the Delaware, and the
great wilderness between, peopled by perhaps two thousand sav-
ages. If the Dutch had made little out of these “talents,” the two
new English owners did not propose to let them remain as it were,
“wrapped in a napkin.”

THE LORDS PROPRIETORS’ “CONCESSIONS.”

They must have colonists, and they set about with ingenuity
and cleverness to get them. They undoubtedly knew of the troubled
conditions in some of the New England settlements, especially of
the situation in the recently absorbed New Haven Colony and while
they zealously sought colonists at home they also proceeded to make
known to the Puritans and others in their country what they had
to offer in the way of settling places, what they would take for
them, and what restrictions would be put upon the holdings. They
did this by means of a printed announcement, whose title was:
“The Concession and Agreement of the Lords Proprietors of the
Province of New Caesarea or New Jersey, to and with all and every
of the Adventurers and all such as shall settle and plant there.”
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These Concessions mark the opening of the first era of progress
and prosperity in New Jersey. They were fair, for the times, and
frank on the face, and the people saw in them something of that
which we of to-day are fond of calling the “square deal.” The
“Concessions” were the constitution upon which the new govern-
ment was to be built up and were considered by the settlers as
the virtual charter of their liberties, standing over and above all
acts of the assembly which were subject to repeal and amendment
while the “Concessions” were supposed to remain unchangeable.
Unhappily, the “Concessions” did not prove so inviolable as the
first settlers hoped.

THE FORM OF GOVERNMENT.

Under the “Concessions” the new province was to have a Gov-
nor and a Governor’s Council of not less than six nor more than
twelve, selected by the Governor; there was also to be an Assembly
of twelve, chosen each year by the freemen of the province. The
nominating, commissioning and removing of officers was given over
to the Governor and his Council. But they were to appoint only
freeholders unless the Assembly agreed to the appointment of
others. The Governor and Council were to have general supervision
over the courts and over all those who were to see to the enforce-
ment of the laws of the Province. The Assembly’s consent had
to be obtained before any tax could be levied upon the people.

FUNCTIONS OF THE ASSEMBLY.

The Assembly, under the “Concessions,” was empowered “to
pass laws for the good government of the Province, which, with
the approbation of the Governor, were to remain in force for one
year within which time they were to be submitted for the approval
of the Lords Proprietors; to levy taxes, to create ports, to build
forts, to raise militia, to suppress rebellion, and make war, to
naturalize strangers, and to apportion lands to settlers. Should
occasion require, communication could be made by the representa-
tives, touching the conduct of the Governor and Council, or any
other grievance, directly to the Lords Proprietors.” 2

2 Whitehead’s ‘“East Jersey Under the Proprietors.”
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INDUCEMENTS OFFERED SETTLERS.

Special encouragement was offered to those who should embark
with the first governor on the new venture, or meet him on his
arrival. General directions as to how towns and boroughs should
be laid out were given, and care was to be taken to see that each
settler received clear title to his land and was protected in that
title. For every acre of land the owner was to pay a half-penny
yearly, as quit-rent, but this was not to go into effect until 1670.
All settlers who became subjects of England, swearing allegiance
to the King and fidelity to the Lords Proprietors, were assured of
the full right to liberty of conscience, so long as that liberty was
not used “to licentiousness, to the civil injury or outward disturb-
ance of others.” While the assembly of the Province was to be
permitted to appoint as many ministers of the Gospel as it saw fit,
and provide out of the general funds for their support (meaning,
of course, clergymen of the Established Church of England),
groups of setftlers might maintain such ministers as they preferred.

It is plain enough from the above summary of the “Conces-
sions,” that the New Haven men who were now shortly to found
Newark under this new government were to set up the last Puritan
theocracy under far less favorable conditions than they had known
in New England. There they had been surrounded with those of
their own religious belief and under a government of their own
making. Here they were to share the right to exercise the liberty
of conscience with all other decent folk, subject to the whims of
that very government from whose tyranny they had fled.

The Lords Proprietors believed themselves not only in absolute
possession of the land, but clothed with all authority necessary
for the conduct of government. They were not given governmental
power by the Duke of York, specifically, although by implication,
and it is certain that James never intended that they should exer-
cise it to the extent they did. Why he failed to take it from
them (and indeed it is believed by many students that it was not
possible in law for him to have given it to them anyway) does not
appear. A few years after the English conquest of New Nether-
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land the Dutch recaptured it, in 1678, soon after ceding it to Eng-
land. The capture by the Dutch wiped out all title to the land held
by Berkeley’s successors and Carteret. James thus had an excellent
opportunity to expunge the clause that gave them this power by
implication, in the new patent he gave them. But he did not do this.

THHE TROUBLE-MAKING NICHOLLS GRANTS.

Five years before the Dutech reconquest, Governor Nicholls
had returned to England and had told James of the richness of
his territory and of that which the latter had ceded to Berkeley
and Carteret. Indeed, Nicholls when originally sent out to drive
the Dutch from New Netherland had been given no intimation by
his noble superior, but what the latter intended to retain the entire
region for himself ; and soon after his arrival on Manhattan Nicholls
had issued a grant for two large and exceedingly valuable tracts in
what is now New Jersey, to a few families of English from Long
Island, known as the Monmouth and the Elizabethtown purchases.

When the representatives of Berkeley and Carteret arrived
they objected to this disposition of part of their land, and a mighty
controversy arose, which was not entirely settled at the outbreak
of the War for Independence. There was great difficulty in clearing
up and properly adjusting the titles to the land as a result of
insufficient care in the very beginnings of New Jersey.

THE DUKE OF YORK ANNEXES STATEN ISLAND.

That James, Duke of York, regretted his concession of such a
splendid property to Berkeley and Carteret we well know by one
transaction, if by no other evidence. At the time of Governor
Nicholls’ visit to England, in 1668, James withdrew Staten Island
from New Jersey, giving as his reason that it was really a part of
his own Province, of New York, since “one arm of the Hudson
river flowed around it.”

All that the Duke required of the two old cavaliers in return
for New Jersey was the payment of ten shillings, a rent of one
peppercorn for the first year and a rent of 40 nobles annually
thereafter “if required.”
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After a time the two original proprietors, first Berkeley and
later Carteret, disposed of their rights to others. Presently there
were two groups of proprietors, one for East and the other for
West Jersey. Later the proprietary rights became so involved and
inconvenient to handle, and the proprietors so many, while the
governmental power was seen to more and more clearly devolve
upon the crown, that the proprietors were glad to surrender their
rights, in 1702.

THE THREE EPOCHS OF ENGLISH GOVERNMENT IN NEW JERSEY.

English government in New Jersey falls logically into three
periods: Government of all the territory by one group of pro-
prietors, 1664-1674; by two groups, 1674-1702; and by the crown,
1702-1776. The Colony was divided into East and West Jersey,
under what is known as the Quintipartite Deed, July 1, 1676.

It has been necessary to outline the conditions prevailing in
New Jersey when the makers of Newark sought asylum in it, both
because a clear understanding of the town’s establishment and
early days can not be gained without it, and because the founding
of Newark was practically coincidental with the creation of the
Province. New Jersey and Newark began within a year of each
other.
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CHAPTER 1V.

PREPARATIONS FOR THE SETTLEMENT.

HE first governor of New Jersey, Philip Carteret, a fourth
I cousin of the Lord Proprietor of that name, arrived in
August, 1665, with a considerable company. He established
himself at Elizabethtown, where he found a few settlers already
on the ground, holding a grant for the territory from Governor
Nicholls of New York, reference to which was made near the close
of the last chapter. Although claiming full title to the land as
representative of Lords Berkeley and Carteret, as soon as he found
that title in dispute and the claims of those on the ground sus-
tained by Governor Nicholls, Philip Carteret decided to lose no
time in controversy, little dreaming of the long-drawn-out wrangle
that was to follow. He took up land at Elizabethtown as one of
the party there before him, as an individual settler, his companions
doing likewise. These preliminaries disposed of, the governor
despatched his agents into New England with copies of the “Grants
and Concessions” already described.

SELECTING THE TOWN SITE.

Thus the discontented members of the recently extinguished
New Haven Colony found their opportunity disclosed to them. A
way was now opened for them to go and abide in the region which
had attracted them for many years. They sent a small committee,
composed of Robert Treat and John Gregory, to confer with Gov-
ernor Carteret at Elizabethtown. Satisfied with their welcome,
Treat and Gregory started out upon the selection of a suitable town
site. They proceeded in their boat down the coast to the Delaware,
and viewed with some favor the spot where Burlington now stands.

THE VISIT TO THE DELAWARE,
They knew of the Delaware river and valley from the efforts
of some of their neighbors in the New Haven Colony to set up
trading posts there. Possibly they had another motive which has
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never before, the writer believes, been touched upon. They were,
as we have seen, Pilgrims going out into strange lands to rear a
community around their church and to worship God according to
their own ideals. The first Puritans who came to America, the
Pilgrim Fathers, had started from Holland with the intention of
locating much further south than they did; it is believed they
proposed to make their homes upon the Delaware. But wind and
wave were against the Mayflower and forced her to make landing
at Plymouth, after two or three ineffectual efforts to cruise south-
ward to a milder climate. As it had been intended to first set up
Puritan ideals on or near the Delaware, the Newark colonizers
seem to have felt that it might be that God intended them to
proceed as the Puritan pioneers of over forty years before had
striven to do and failed.

But the little committee was not to be controlled by sentiment.
At Burlington the new town would have been almost alone in the
wilderness. Philadelphia was as yet unthought of and there were
only a few Dutch and Swedish hamlets along the river shores,
upon whose friendliness and assistance in time of stress the New
Englanders must have felt they would not be able to rely. There
were warlike Indians, too, not in New Jersey, but uncomfortably
near in the Pennsylvania that was to be. So they returned fo
Elizabethtown and from there proceeded up the bay and into the
Passaic, inspecting the region as closely as was possible from their
boats. They were charmed with what they saw. To an extent at
least—although not of course with a prescience that could picture
the territory as we now know it—they realized its possibilities.
The Indians thereabouts were peaceful; a town, an English town
and the seat of the governor, peopled partly by Puritans, was
struggling into life but a few miles away, at Elizabethtown, and
from there it was but a short cruise along the narrow channel of
the Kill van Kull, out into the greater bay and thence to New
York. Their minds were made up, and back to Connecticut they
hastened in their little sailing vessel, to report what they had
found, carrying Governor Carteret’s personal assurances in sup-
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plement of the “Concessions.” Their decision was of infinite
importance. They had with an unerring insight and good judg-

ment, closely akin to inspiration, selected the best spot in all
New Jersey for a town.!

And how did they describe the region to their people waiting
anxiously in the homes they were so soon to leave? Fortunately,
we know how the region impressed others at that time, and we
may be very sure that Robert Treat and his companion on the
voyage of investigation gave a description somewhat similar.

SEVENTEENTH CENTURY ESTIMATES OF THE NEWARK REGION.
The following, written in 1661, was found among the official
documents of the Dutch government of New Netherland, done
into the quaint English of the time and designed to apply to all
of what is now New Jersey, but undoubtedly referring especially
to the “Achter Col,” or Newark Bay neighborhood, since that was

the section of New Jersey with which the Dutch were most
familiar:

“It is under the best climate in the whole world; seed may
be thrown into the ground, except 6 weekes, all the yeere longe;
there are five sorts of grapes which are very good and grow heere
naturally, with divers other excellent fruits extraordinary good,
and ye fruits transplanted from Europe far surpasseth any there,
as apples, pears, peaches, melons, etc., and the land very fertile
produceth a great increase of wheat and all other game whatsoever;
here groweth tobacco very good; it naturally abounds with all sorts
of dyes, furrs of all sorts may bee had of the natives very reason-
able; stores of saltpeter; marvellous plenty in all kinds of food;
excellent veneson, elkes very great and large; all kinds of land and
sea foule that are naturally in Europe are heere in great plenty,
with severall sorts yt Europe doth not enjoy; the sea and rivers
abounding with excellent fat and wholesome fish which are heere
in great plenty; the mountainous part of the country stored with
severall sorts of mineralls; great profit to be derived from traffique
with the natives * * * heere may likewise bee great profitt
made by fishing whereby abundance of people may bee imployed
with great and notable advantages.”

1In his address at the unvelling of the Robert Treat tablet, on Nov. 4,
1912, Mayor Jacob Haussling spoke of the wisdom of the founders as extra-
ordlnary, as they had located their town at a place practically immune from

. the storms, floods and other disasters of Paterson and from the occasional
tornadoes of Elizabeth.
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A delightful account of the Achter Col region was written in
1670 by Daniel Denton, one of the English settlers of Elizabeth-
town, who came from Long Island. Like the Dutch account given
above, Denton’s narrative is manifestly prepared to attract settlers.
Both are what to-day would be considered “publicity” circulars,
devised to popularize the region and attract colonists; and yet, both
are clearly quite faithful to the facts, as the old observers saw
them: :

“I may say,” begins Denton, “and say truly, that if there be
any terrestrial happiness to be had by people of all ranks, especially
of an inferior rank, it must certainly be here: here anyone may
furnish himself with land, and live rent-free [he had not yet felt
the goad of the quit-rent] yea, with such a quantity of Land that
he may weary himself with walking over his fields of Corn and
all sorts of Grain and let his stock of Cattel amount to some
hundreds he needs not fear their want of pasture in the summer,
or fodder in the winter, the woods affording sufficient supply.”
And he continues:

“For the Summer season, where you have Grass as high as a
man’s knees, nay, as high as his waste, interlaced with Pea vines
and other weeds that Cattel much delight in, as much as a man
can pass through; and these woods every mile or half-mile are
furnished with fresh ponds, brooks or rivers, where all sorts of
Cattel, during the heat of the day, do quench their thirst and cool
themselves; these brooks and rivers being invironed of each side
with several sorts of trees and Grape-vines, the vines, arbor-like,
interchanging places and crossing these rivers, does shade and
shelter them from the scorching beams of Sol’s fiery influence.

“And how prodigal, if I may so say, hath nature been to furnish

the Countrey with all sorts of wilde Beastes and Fowle, which-

everyone hath an interest in and may hunt at his pleasure; where
besides the pleasure in hunting, he may furnish his house with
excellent fat venison, Turkeys, Geese, Heath Hens, Cranes, Swans,
Ducks, Pidgeons and the like; and wearied with this he may go
afishing * * * * where besides the sweetness of the air the
Countrey itself sends forth such a fragrant smell that it may be
preceived at Sea before they make the land; where no evil fog of
vapour doth not sooner appear but a Northwest or Westerly wind
doth immediately dissolve it and drive it away. I must needs say
that if there be any Terrestrial Canaan, ’tis surely here, where the
Land floweth with milk and honey.”

—— - -
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INCENSE OF THE FOREST PRIMEVAL.

Several of the old navigators tell how they knew the land of
this region was nigh, long before they came within sight of it.
One voyager wrote, in 1632: “Thréw the lead in fourteen fathoms,
sandy bottom, and smelt the land, which gave a sweet perfume,
as the wind came from the northwest, which blew off land, and
caused these sweet odors. This comes from the Indians setting
fire at this time of year [December 2] to the woods and thickets,
in order to hunt; and the land is full of sweet-smelling herbs, as
sassafras, which has a sweet smell. When the wind blows out of
the northwest, and the smoke is drlven to sea, it happens that the
land is smelt before it is seen.”

One ordinarily associates experiences like the above with the
coasts of the Far East, but it is pleasant to know that the pros-
pectors for the Newark home-site returned with impressions of
sense and smell like those just quoted. Treat and Gregory could
not have come to New Jersey much before September, and it may
have been later. It must have taken two or three weeks, probably
longer, for them to complete their investigations, so that they
could not have returned to New England before October and very
likely not until November.

THE COMING OF THE PIONEERS, MAY, 1666.

The colonizers deliberated upon their plans throughout the
winter, and the first group of settlers left New Haven Bay some
time before the middle of May, 1666. They came in at least two
vessels, possibly it may have taken more of the small craft then
used to transport them and their goods. The journey was short,
for those days, and no particular hardship attended it, since it was
over inland waters and at a gentle time of the year. Two days,
three at the most, must have seen the Pilgrims finding their way
up the Kill van Kull from New York Bay, toward Elizabethtown
Point, where a few humble houses announced the headquarters of
the government of the new colony.
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The pioneer settlers were headed by their master-mind, Robert
Treat, called “Captain” from the very beginning of the negotiations
with Governor Carteret. Indeed, he had been captain of a train
band in the New Haven Colony. With him were heads of several
families from Milford and adjacent plantations. It is doubtful if
many of the women, children, or old and decrepit people came at
that time or for several months, until the first rough work of
providing shelter and getting into the ground what crops they could,
had been accomplished. Some of those who remained on the site
the first summer were allowed extra concessions of land when the
actual, individual allotments were made.

REFUSED POSSESSION BY THE INDIANS.

When Captain Treat completed his arrangements for the settle-
ment with Governor Carteret the previous fall, it is said that he
bore back to Connecticut with him a letter to be presented to the
chief sachems of the Hackensack Indians at the time the settlers
should be ready to take up the land. This letter was supposed to
quiet all title the natives claimed and was to act as a warrant
from the Governor, as was required under the “Concessions.” In
that letter Carteret assured the red men that he would see that
they were reimbursed. But Treat is believed not to have had that
letter about him when the vessels arrived in the Passaic alongside
the land they proposed to occupy. Whether he had lost it or had
forgotten to bring it, history does not tell. In any event the red
men were on the ground, or arrived while the settlers were engaged
in landing their goods, and said the ground was theirs, that they
had not been paid for it. It is possible the missing letter might
have explained everything to the satisfaction of the natives, but
this is doubtful.

The settlers were downcast. They were at first inclined to
believe they were the victims of a breach of faith upon the part
of the Governor. They were disposed to return to Connecticut
forthwith. They replaced their goods upon their vessels and headed
for Elizabethtown Point, and Treat and others of the leaders were
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soon in conference with Carteret. He protested vehemently against
their giving up the enterprise, and if he had had any thoughts
that they could be drawn into any transaction that was not strictly
in accordance with the highest principles of right conduct and fair
dealing toward savages as well as to civilized men, he must have
been completely disabused of such impressions then and there. The
settlers must have clear title to the land or they would have nothing
to do with it or the Governor. The conference seems to have closed
with the settlers resolving to arrange matters with the Indians
themselves, as Carteret then and there refused to pay the red men
anything for the territory that was to be Newark, and as they had
now concluded that they would not go back to New England without
first seeing if they could themselves arrive at some equitable under-
standing with the Indians.

WHY DID CARTERET DECLINE TO PAY THE INDIANS?

But why did Carteret refuse to be responsible for paying the
Indians? This is an indistinct spot in Newark’s history. Some
historians have been inclined to think it was sharp practice on the
Governor’s part and that he was disposed to ignore the red man’s
claims upon the land. But this view is not at all consistent with
his conduct in other sections of his proprietorship. The real reason
for his attitude probably lies behind the fact that the Newark
territory was believed by the first settlers of Elizabethtown to be
part of the grant they received from Governor Nicholls, of New
York, prior to Carteret’s arrival, for which they paid the Indians
about $200 in goods and for which Governor Nicholls required
nothing. While Governor Carteret and the proprietors who suc-
ceeded him contested the right of Nicholls to dispose of land in
New Jersey, Carteret was at first probably willing to accept the
validity of the Nicholls grant in so far as it was thought to effect the
title to the Newark territory, partly in order to avoid the
expenditure himself.
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The Elizabethtown grant from Governor Nicholls had the
following boundaries:* “On the South by a river commonly called
Raritan River, and on the East by the river which parts Staten
Island and the Main [Kill van Kull], and to run Northward up
After Cull [Achtér Coll, or Newark Bay] Bay till we come at the
First River [which was quite generally construed to mean the
Passaic River] which sets Westward out of the said Bay afore-
said, and to run West into the country twice the length as it is
broad from the North to the South of the aforementioned bound.”

Now, this great stretch of country, comprising nearly half a
million acres, was claimed by two distinct tribes of Indians, all
below Weequahic or Bound Creek being in the land of the Raritans,
and that above being part of the domain of the Hackensacks.
Naturally enough, the Hackensacks objected to their land being
sold without their consent, and to the Raritans receiving compensa-
tion for it. Carteret seems to have felt that all obligations had
been discharged to the Indians when he satisfied the Raritans as
we have seen. So there was nothing else for Treat and his follow-
ers to do but to enter into negotiations with the Hackensacks if
they wished to possess the land they had chosen.

ROBERT TREAT’S ACCOUNT.

We are fortunate in possessing Captain Treat’s own narrative
of part of the proceedings at the moment when the settlement of
Newark hung wavering in the balance:

“No sooner was the company present got on the Place and
landed some of their goods, than 1 with some others was by some
of the Hackensack Indians warned off the Ground and [they]
seemed troubled and angry that we landed any of our goods there
tho’ first we told them we had the Governor’s order; but they
replied that the land was theirs, and it was unpurchased; and

therefore we put our goods on board the vessels and acquainted
the Governor with the matter.”

Of his visit to the Indians, Treat says that he, “with some
others, went up to the Hackensack [the village and headquarters
of the local tribe of Lenni Lenape] to treat with the Sagamores

? Elizabethtown Bill of Chancery.
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and other Indian proprietors of the land lying on the West of the
Passaick River. One Perro laid claim to the said land which is
now called Newark.”

The result of the meeting at Hackensack was an agreement
that a company of Indians would meet the settlers on the ground.
At this meeting there were present, besides the settlers and their
Dutch interpreters, “all the Proprietors,”? [continues the affidavit]
“viz: Perro and his kindred, with the Sagamores that were able to
travel; Oraton [the grand sachem of the Hackensacks] being very
old but approved of Perro’s acting. And then we acted by the
Advice, Order and Approbation of fhe said Governor (who was
troubled for our sakes) * * * * and I, with some others,
solicited the Governor to pay for our Purchase to the Indians,
which he refused, and would not disburse anything unless I would
reimburse him again; and a Bill of Sale was made, wherein the
Purchase of said land will at large appear.”

HONEST DEALINGS WITH THE NATIVES.

We would lose sight of one of the most significant lessons to
be learned from all Newark’s early history if we failed to note at
this juncture that the settlers paid the Indians for every foot of
land; that it was a straightforward business transaction, carried
out with quite as much exactitude as if the sellers had not been
untutored savages. It was do doubt a very solemn occasion, the
arrangement for the purchase. The settlers conformed to their
consciences in paying the red men what they asked, as well as
adhering to the letter of the English law that colonizers satisfy
all claims of the savage inhabitants of a new country. It is a
source for profound gratification to us to-day that Newark started
with a clean record for fair and square dealing. Indeed, the same
procedure was followed throughout all New Jersey. This, however,
cannot be truly said of all the Colonies.

Perro, according to the laws of the tribe was the titular owner
of the land out of which all of Newark, and in fact most of Essex

* Afidavit of Treat in Elizabethtown Bill of Chancery.
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county has been reared. He was recognized by tribal customs as
its representative to whom the purchase price should be paid,
although the proceeds of the sale were not to be held by him alone.
Perro, then, stands for the earliest owners of Newark soil. The
city should perpetuate his name in some lasting form.

While the agreement to sell was made by the Indians in May,
1666, the bill of sale wis not signed until July 11, 1667, when
practically all of those who are of right called the founders were
on the ground.

Captain Treat and Samuel Edsal, the latter an interpreter of
the Lenni Lenape tongue and a land owner living on Bergen-Neck,
acted as agents for the settlers. Edsal was the pioneer in the
settlement of Constable Hook. John Capteen, a Dutchman, was
also on hand as interpreter, while Perro was the principal for the
Indians. The following natives signed the document with their
marks or individual totems: Wapamuck, Harish, Captamin, Ses-
som, Mamustome, Peter Wamesane, Wekaprokikan, Cackmackque
or Cacknakrue, and Perawae. These were the settlers who signed:
Michael, or Micah, Tompkins, Samuel Kitchell, John Brown and
Robert Denison. Besides Edsal, there were as witnesses: Pierwim,
sachem of Pau; Edward Burrowes and Richard Fletcher.

THE FIRST PURCHASES OF LAND.

The tract purchased, as the bill or deed of sale describes it,
was “bounded and limited with the bay eastward, and the great
river Pesayak northward; the great creek or river in the meadow,
running to the head of the cove and from thence bearing a west
line, for the south bounds, which said great creek is commonly
called Weequahick; on the west line, backwards in the country to
the foot of the great mountain, called Watchung [the Lehni Lenape
name for Orange mountain, meaning ‘the place of the mountain’],
being, as is judged, about seven or eight miles from Pesayak Towne.
The said mountain, as we are informed, hath one branch of the
Elizabeth river running near the above said foot of the mountain.
The bounds northerly up Pesayak river reach to the third river
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above the town. The river is called Yauntakah, and from thence,
upon a northwest line to the aforesaid mountain.”

The price paid for this superb area was, according to the East
Jersey records: “fifty double hands [as much as the two hands held
together hold, undoubtedly] of [gun] powder, one hundred bars
of lead, twenty axes, twenty coats, ten guns, twenty pistols, ten
kettles, ten swords, four blankets, four barrels of beer, ten pair of
breeches, fifty knives, twenty hoes, eight hundred and fifty fathoms
of wampum, twenty ankers* of liquors, or something equivalent,
and ten troopers coats.”

This odd catalogue represents the Indian’s idea of what the
white man calls wealth. Probably the savages felt they were
making a good bargain. In money these goods had a value of
about $700, as we would reckon it to-day. That sum to-day (1913)
nearly two hundred and fifty years after the purchase, would not
buy two inches of front near the corners of Market and Broad
streets. Ten years later, on March 13, 1677, the settlers made
another purchase, extending the western boundary, from the base
to the top of the mountain, giving two guns, three coats and
thirteen cans of rum.

Thus the original owners of the soil received goods valued
at about $700 for the greater part of what is now Essex county.
No more eloquent illustration of the mighty changes wrought in
two centuries and a half can be given anyone of the present gen-
eration who feels himself passably familiar with this region as
it is to-day. The payment was not made immediately upon
taking possession.

The deed of sale was not signed, as we have seen, until the
following year. The purchase price was assessed upon each family,
not only those who first came, but all who arrived in the next
year who were entitled to be considered among the “associates,”
or makers of the original settlement. And they were, indeed, very
well able to pay, for it is reckoned that the thirty families in the

¢ An anker was ten wine gallons.
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first group of settlers from Milford “and neighboring plantations”
had a combined wealth (real and personal) of about $64,000, an
average of over $2,000 for each family, no mean sum indeed for
the time.

DATE OF SETTLEMENT—SOURCES OF INFORMATION.

We date the settlement from the first landing, which, as we
have seen, was not the permanent landing. Did the first appear-
ance of the settlers in the Passaic and the landing of part of their
goods, fall on May 17, or on May 20, 1666, or on either date? In
the writings of a number of historians we find May 20 favored.
May 17 was used on the occasion of the celebration of the two
hundredth anniversary of the settlement, in 1866. May 20 was
adopted as “Founder’s Day” at the time of the Newark Industrial
Exhibition in May, 1912 There is nothing in any record now
[1918] known to exist that fixes it

There are but two really direct sources of the history of the
beginnings of Newark’s settlement: the Elizabethtown Bill of
Chancery, copies of which may be seen at the New Jersey Historical
Society’s building in West Park street, Newark, and the old Newark
“Town Minute Book,” containing the records of the town meetings
from 1666 to 1775, with two short omissions in 1714 and 1715.
In the archives of the Municipal Library at the Newark City Hall
is a copy of the minutes made by Joseph Hedden, junior, in
1775, by order of a public town meeting, for which he was paid
ten pounds, “proclamation money.” All trace of the original min-
utes has been lost since that time. It is to be doubted that anyone
then thought these ancient original records of any value. If they
were preserved, either in the Court House or in the home of the
village pastor of Revolutionary times, the Rev. Dr. Alexander
Macwhorter, the British made short work of them, as they did with
others of Newark’s almost priceless records.

In neither Minute Book nor Elizabethtown Bill of Chancery
proceedings is the date of the founding given. The Minute Boolg
(Hedden’s copy) begins with an “Imprimis,” believed to have been
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written by Captain Treat, who was the first Recorder and keeper
of the minutes, explaining that the settlers deliberated together,
in what was virtually the first Newark town meeting, although it
was held either on one of their vessels or on land in or near
Elizabethtown, and on May 21. They no doubt took this common
action as soon after their ejectment from the land by the natives
as possible, probably the very next day, if not on May 21 itself.
One thing appears certain, that the seven days ending with May 21
should be considered as “founders’ week.” This comprehends both
dates that have in the past been considered as the anniversary of
the eventful day, May 17 and 20.

THE LANDING PLACE,

Where did they land? This fact, too, is shrouded in uncer-
tainty. The spot, in all probability lay somewhere between the
present location of the Market street and Centre street bridges,
and probably nearer the latter. Almost immediately below the
Market street bridge were the marshes. There was in fact, a
marshy fringe along the Newark side of the river nearly all the way
to what is now Belleville. Immediately back of the marsh was a
ridge or bluff whose lines can still be traced. Only six months
after the settlement, reference was made in the Minute Book to
the “landing place” in locating the home lot of Thomas Richards,
and from the description there given the spot would appear to
have been close to Centre street bridge, possibly a little below it.

There is a pretty little story to the effect that the first to set
foot on the shore was Elizabeth, daughter of Captain Samuel
Swarne, Swaine or Swain, one of the leading men among the
founders. She is said to have been assisted to land by Josiah Ward,
whom she afterward married. This story seems to have been
handed down by word of mouth through the long line of genera-
tions of Newark folk, and like most traditions it has possibly been
unconsciously perverted from the original story. The Swains and
Wards were of the Branford group, and very few of the people
from that town came to Newark until months-after the settlement
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in May, those who did come with the pioneers being the “agents”
referred to elsewhere. It was originally intended, before the actual
settlement, to found four towns, the groups from the Connecticut
towns to retain identity as so many communities. Elizabeth Swain
was probably the first of the Branford group, but not of the
pioneers, to land.

DIVIDENT HILL AND THE TRIANGLE.

While the bill of sale settled the boundaries of the new com-
munity so far as the Indians were concerned, the Newark settlers
had still to reckon with their neighbors in Elizabethtown as to
the precise line of partition between them. Representatives of
the two towns assembled at Weequahic creek in 1668, and solemnly
and amicably fixed the boundary there, with prayer and thanks-
giving. Thereafter the little stream was called Bound Creek,
which name it shares with the older Indian name, Weequahie, to
this day. It is well worth remembering that Weequahic creek was
the boundary line between the Hackensack and Raritan tribes of
the Lenni Lenape for many generations before the white man
came. It possesses another feature of value, since the creek is
probably the last surviving trace of the prehistoric Passaic river
outlet, which flowed through the Short Hills and down to the sea,
when the present course was blocked with the glacial ice pack near
Little Falls, and for an unknown duration of time before the glacial
era.

The ceremonies attending the fixing of the boundary were
held on an eminence, called “Divident Hill” thereafter, and on
May 20. We cannot but wonder if that date was chosen as the
anniversary of the landing of the Newark settlers, or if it was
only by chance that it fell so close to, if not actually upon, the
second anniversary of that important event. The agents for the
two towns in fixing the boundaries were: For Newark—Jasper
Crane, Robert Treat, Matthias Canfield, Richard Harris and Thomas
Johnson. For Elizabethtown—John Ogden, Luke Watson, Robert
Bond and Jefferey Jones.
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One interesting part of the ceremonies on Divident Hill was
the cutting of the letter E on the south side of an oak tree and
of the letter N on the north side, to mark the boundary line for
future reference. Similar markings were cut upon trees along the
rest of the boundary line westward.

The business done on that memorable day, May 20, 1668,
settled for the time being an important point, as to whether the
boundary line was to run due west from the lower reaches of
Weequahic creek or northwest to the Watchung mountains. A
great triangle of land, of great length westward, lay between
those two imaginary lines. On Divident Hill the men of Newark
solemnly gave up all claims to that triangle and accepted a bound-
ary line running northwest from that hill to the break in Watchung
mountain, virtually at the southern end of what is now known as
the South Mountain reservation.

In compensation for the concession of the triangle, or such
part of it as lay east of Watchung Mountain, the people of Eliza-
bethtown agreed to give to Newark the salt meadows, from Snake
Hill to Barbadoes Neck, being the tract between the Hackensack
and Passaic rivers and including the ridge then, or soon afterwards,
known as Barbadoes Neck, and being the ridge which we now
call Kearny. Later, however, it was found that a prior grant for
that territory had been given to the Kingsland and Sandford fam-
ilies, English settlers who had come from the West Indies, and
who supplied the name “Barbadoes.” When this became known
the Newark men demanded that the “triangle,” to which they had
surrendered all title on Divident Hill, be given them since they
had nothing to show in place of it. But their demands did not
prevail. During the short period in which the Dutch were again
in authority, the Newarkers purchased the tract from them, but
later the Proprietory government restored it to Kingsland and
Sandford without remuneration to the Newark folk.

The subsequent history of the “triangle” is interesting. It
remained a part of the borough of Elizabeth until 1834, when a
portion of it was included within the limits of the township of
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Clinton. This township was annexed to Newark about 1902, and
thus, after the lapse of nearly a century and three-quarters, a
goodly portion of the ancient triangle became a part of Newark.

THE ELIZABETHTOWN BILL IN CHANCERY.

The Barbadoes Neck controversy dwindled into insignificance
before the far more important discussions involved in the cele-
brated Elizabethtown Chancery case, the suit being begun with
the filing of a voluminous Bill in Chancery on April 13, 1745, by
the Earl of Stair and other proprietors of the Eastern Division
of New Jersey against what were known as the Clinker Lot Right
men who claimed title to the land under the grant of Governor
Nicholls of New York, made by him a little before Governor Car-
teret appeared on the scene in 1665. There were thirty complain-
ants in the case and four hundred and sixty-two defendants.

In this suit the proprietors asked the governor of the Province
to grant writs of injunction “commanding the defendants and
confederates to commit no further waste or spoil upon the lands
in question by the cutting of timber or other abuse whatsoever
until your Excellency shall have given farther instructions therein.”

The writs were never granted, nor was any decision ever given
in the case. The excitement immediately before and throughout
the French and Indian war seems to have prevented a decision in
the 1750’s; (the defendants filed an “Answer” to the bill in 1752).
Before the courts were again ready to move, the promulgation of
the Stamp Act made a decision impracticable or unwise. Then
came the War for Independence and no more has ever been heard
of the Elizabethtown Bill in Chancery, except in the pages of
history and in legal proceedings where citations from proceedings
with reference to it have been considered of value to counsel.

OTHER LAND CONTROVERSIES.
In the controversy embodied in the Elizabethtown Bill in
Chancery, the Bound Creek partition and Divident Hill played an
active part, much information of the greatest value to Newark’s
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historians being there set down, usually in the form of affidavits.
The struggle between the proprietors and the people for possession
of the land hereabouts first found its way into the courts in the
form of prosecutions to test the validity of the Nicholls grant, as
early as the first year of the reign of George I, causing troublous
times in Newark, Elizabethtown and other places affected. The
interests of Newark’s people were closely identified with those of
Elizabethtown, not only in these prosecutions but in the Bill in
Chancery, since Newark’s territory was held to be included in the
Nicholls grant whose soundness the proprietors sought to destroy.
As the Elizabethtown settlers gave up all rights to the Newark
territory at the time of the ceremonies on Divident Hill, the two
had common cause against the proprietors.

It is strange how ancient controversies like this are often
given to cropping out in new forms in succeeding generations. In
1857 Union County was set off from Essex, and the boundary line
was declared to be that of the two municipalities, Newark and
Elizabeth. No attempt was made in the law to accurately define
that boundary. In 1880, however, the Board of Chosen Free-
holders of Essex County applied to the Supreme Court of the State,
under a statute then in force, for the appointment of commission-
ers to locate the line. “At that time,” wrote Frank Bergen, who
represented the county of Union, as counsel, “it was supposed that
a surveyor could easily ascertain the line and that the dispute
would be settled by the commission without trouble. It turned
out, however, that there was no reliable evidence in existence as
to the location of the boundary, and a mass of historical matter
was collected running back for more than two hundred years.®

After many months of controversy in the courts during which
the Legislature twice interposed, a law was enacted locating the
boundary between the two counties, as it had been fixed partly by
the settlers on Divident Hill and determined by the old deeds,
records, mortgages, tax receipts, etc.

* From an article entitled “Newark’s Boundary Fight,” by Frank Bergen,

General Counsel for the Public Service Corporation, in the Newark Sunday
Call, Anniversary Number, May 12, 1912.
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LOCATION OF DIVIDENT HILL.

As for Divident Hill, it deserves to be reckoned as one of the
most precious of Newark’s landmarks, since it was on an ancient
division line established no one knows how long before the coming
of the white man; since on its summit the settlers of two of the
leading communities in all New Jersey fixed their bounds, and
because the hill figured in great controversies between the people
and the Lords Proprietors, from the early days of settlement down
to the War for Independence.

There seems to have been no question of its precise location
until about 1880, when the suits to determine the boundary between
Essex and Union counties began as already described. The parties
to the suits sought, with true human characteristics,to have the
boundary moved further north or south according to the county in
which their interests lay.

The strongest testimony as to the location of the historic hill
fixed it a short distance east of Elizabeth avenue and about on a
line with Lyons avenue, if that thoroughfare had been cut through.
A recently constructed park boulevard (1913) runs around part
of the hill base. Following these directions one finds himself upon
perhaps the highest eminence in the entire neighborhood, upon
just such a hill as one might imagine surveyors and engineers
would select for a boundary. It is well within the confines of the
Weequahic Reservation and its preservation thus falls into the
appreciative hands of the Essex County Park Commission. This
hill, it may be added, was the one given as Divident Hill by William
A. Whitehead, one of New Jersey’s most reliable historians, who
lived in Newark and whose personal recollections of it extended
back to at least 1820, and who no doubt fixed its location partly
by the information given him by residents whose memories carried
them back at least a half century before his own time.

EARLY ORGANIZATION OF NEWARK SETTLERS.

Returning to the main narrative after this long but essen-
tial digression:




HISTORY OF NEWARK 66

Agents from the towns of Guilford, New Haven and Branford
were with the first settlers that memorable May time, 1666. They
approved of all that was done in the selection and purchase of the
town site, and they were told that if the people of their towns who
had thought of joining in the new venture should make favorable
answer before the following November, the Milford folk, already
on the ground, and the prospective new arrivals, whom they called
‘“‘asgociates,” should constitute one township only; “to be,” as the
Minute Book declares in the true Puritan style, “of one heart and
consent with God’s blessing in endeavoring to carry on their spirit-
ual concernments, as well as their civil and town affairs, according
to God and a Godly government.”

It was the men of Milford who really founded the town and
devised the beginnings of the town government; for at the gather-
ing held on May 21, 1666, while negotiations with the Indians were
pending, and which we have already spoken of as Newark’s first
town meeting, they chose their first officers, in the form of an
executive or emergency committee of eleven members, “for the
speedier and better expedition of things then emergent to be done,”
as follows:

FIRST TOWN COMMITTEE.

Captain Robert Treat, Lieutenant Samuel Swain, Mr. [a title
of distinction at that time] Samuel Kitchell, Michael Tompkins
[or Micah Tomkins], Mr. Morris, Sergt. Richard Beckly, Richard
Harrison, Thomas Blatchly, Edward Riggs, Stephen Freeman and
Thomas Johnson. This committee was to have charge of the
system of home lot distribution and to pass upon the rights and
credentials of all whom the agents of Guilford and Branford might
declare were privileged to join in settlement, their rights to lots
as associates to be held open for them until June of the next year.

BRANFORD GROUP AND THE “FUNDAMENTAL AGREEMENTS.”
It was the Branford group, however, that drew up the
religious foundation upon which the town was to be erected, and
in which Newark’s first pastor was no doubt largely instrumental.
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This it did at a public meeting in Branford, on October 30, 1666,
just previous to leaving. This was the only one of the four com-
munities that brought practically all of its people to New Jersey.
They drew up two “fundamental agreements,” in accordance with
the term of agreement laid down by the Milford folk at the “first
town meeting,” on May 21, after the manner of the “fundamental
agreement” of the New Haven Colony, and embodying their per-
fervid Puritan ideals described in a previous chapter, as follows:

“1st. That none shall be admitted freemen or free Burgesses
within our town upon Passaick River, in the province of New Jersey,
but such planters as are members of some or other of the Congrega-
tional Churches; nor shall any but such be chosen to Magistracy, or
to carry on any part of Civil Judicature, or as deputies or assistants
to have power to vote in establishing Laws, and making or repeal-
ing them, or to any chief Military Trust or office. Nor shall any
but such Church members have any Vote in any such elections:
Tho’ all others admitted to Be planters have Right to their proper
Inheritances, and do and shall enjoy all other Civil Liberties and
Privileges, According to Laws, Orders, Grants, which are or here-
after shall Be Made for this Town.

“2nd. We shall with Care and Diligence provide for the main-
éel:mmif of the purity of Religion professed in the Congregational
urches.”

NEWARK'S FOUR SCRIPTURAL FOUNDATION STONES.

The document bearing these agreements had written at the
head of it four texts from the Old Testament, which the people
of Branford had selected as the pillars, or foundation stones upon
which this, the last Puritan theocracy, or Kingdom of God on earth,
was erected, in sublime indifference to any and all laws that might
be set up by Governor Carteret, or any other representative of
the Lords Proprietors, or of the British crown. These texts were as
follows:

Deuteronomy, i, 13. “Take you wise men and understanding,
and known among your tribes, and I will make them rulers over
you.”

Exodus, xviii, 21. ‘“Moreover, thou shalt provide out of all
the people, able men, such as fear God, men of truth, hating
coveteousness, and place such over them to be rulers of thousands
and rulers of hundreds, rulers of fifties, and rulers of tens.”
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Deuteronomy, xvii, 15. “Thou shalt in any wise set him King
over thee whom the Lord thy God shall choose: one from among
thy brethren shalt thou set King over thee: thou mayst not set a
stranger over thee, which is not thy brother.”

Jeremiah, xxx, 21. “And their nobles shall be of themselves,
and their governor shall proceed from the midst of them.”

SUBORDINATE AGREEMENTS.

Upon these two “fundamental agreements” several others were
devised, not by the Branford men but by the Milford company
with the New Haven and Guilford agents, during the delay inci-
dental to the settlement as to the land with the Indians, or shortly
after; and it was these first agreements that the Branford men
are believed to have scanned before they drew up the foundation

just described. One of these read:

“It is agreed upon, that in case any shall come in to us, or
arise amongst us, that shall willingly or willfully disturb us in our
peace and settlements, especially that would subvert us from the
true religion and worship of God, and can not or will not keep their
opinion to themselves, or be reclaimed after due time and means
of conviction and reclaiming hath been used; it is unanimously
agreed upon, and consented unto, as a fundamental agreement and
order, that all such persons so ill-disposed and affected, shall, after
due notice given them from the town, quietly depart the place
seasonably, the town allowing them such valuable consideration
for their lands or homes as indifferent men shall price them, or
else leave them to make the best of them to any man the town
shall approve of.”

Another most significant item, apparently not drawn until
1667, was one by which they deliberately set about to establish
their own courts, with refreshing indifference to the fact that they
were about to make their homes in a British Colony whose officers
would naturally expect to order the manner of judicial proceedings

themselves:

“It is solemnly consented unto and agreed by all the planters
and inhabitants of the Town of Newark from their settling together
at first, and again publickly renewed as their joint covenant one
with another, that they will from time to time all submit one to
another to be lead, ruled and governed by such magistrates and
rulers in the town, as shall be annually c¢i08en by the freemen®

¢*The word is written ‘“‘friends’” in the copy of the Minute Book made
in 1775, but is generally believed to be an error.
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from among themselves, with such orders and law whilst they are
settled here by themselves as they had in the place from whence

they came, under such penalties as the magistrates upon the nature
of the offence shall determine.”

THE “SPECIAL CONCESSIONS” THEORY.

The settlers of Newark, while not willing to grant much in
the way of independence to those who might wish to abide with
them, were most insistent upon their independence as a community
when dealing with Governor Carteret, and for that matter, with
his successors. It was until quite recently thought that the
founders had some special concessions from Carteret other than
those set down in the original document circulated by his agents
and upon the strength of which Newark and the other early Eng-
lish settlements were founded. Weight was lent to this argument
by items in the Newark ™agreements” such as that last quoted.
It is highly probable, however, that they had no right or authority
to set up their own courts or to make sundry other town laws
which they did. They sought to separate themselves as absolutely
as possible from all the rest of the colony, as early as they could,
before the Colonial government had been fully organized and had
time to make laws that would interfere with them. Treat and
the other leaders who first consulted with the Governor found him
willing to concede almost everything they wished except to give up
the quit-rent; but if he made any special concessions to them, in
writing and therefore binding, they have been completely lost.

A “WALL"” THAT SOON CRUMBLED.

Thus was a wall to be built about Newark, to be maintained,
the would-be builders fervently trusted, to the very end of time.
And these austere “agreements” are filed away in the archives of
history, side by side, we may say, with the progressive and kindly
“Grants and Concessions” of the Lords Proprietors, with their
never-to-be-forgotten “liberty of conscience” clause. By very con-
trast between the two, the intolerance and narrowness of the
Puritan plan stands out in sharp relief. The unending wonder of
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it is that a community planned on such lines could spring imme-
diately into prominence as one of the most prosperous and forceful
in all the colony.

The signing of the “fundamental agreements” was enforced
with rigidity for about a decade and a half. After that settlers
were sometimes admitted upon the payment of the purchase money
for the land. In 1680, eleven were admitted in that way; at least
there is no record that they signed the agreements. In 1685 a
committee was chosen to make a house-to-house canvass in search
of all non-signers and to report to town meeting. There is nothing
in the Minute Book to show that the committee ever reported. A
year later a settler was admitted, “he submitting to all wholesome
orders.” Thereafter no mention is made of the agreements, and
we are no doubt safe in believing that they were disregarded
thereafter, although a strict censorship over all new comers was
kept for several generations.
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CHAPTER V.

THE FOUNDERS.!

E fortunately have preserved to us in the old Minute
W Book the names of the sixty-three founders of Newark,
and it is possible also to describe with considerable
detail the personalities of the leading men. This chapter is devoted
to that purpose, for certain it is, no Newarker can hope to know
his Newark thoroughly until he has some understanding of the
individual characters of the founders, until he realizes that they
were men, taking the group as a whole, of more than ordinary
calibre; systematic, painstaking and orderly in their methods, sin-
gularly well equipped to lay down the foundations of what is now
one of the greatest cities on the continent, upon a sure, safe and
enduring basis.

The Milford, Guilford and New Haven men, forty-one in num-
ber, signed the “fundamental agreements” described in the last
chapter, on or before June 24, 1667, and their names are given here
just as they are believed to have written them.

THE MILFORD, GUILFORD AND NEW HAVEN SIGNERS.

Robert Treat his Hauns Albers
Obadiah Bruen Francis F. Linle Thom. Morris
Matthew Camfield mark Hugh Roberts
Samuel Kitchell Daniel Tichenor Eph’m Pennington
Jeremiah Pecke John Bauldwin, Sr. Martin Tichenor
Michah Tomkins John Bauldwin, Jr. John Browne, Jr.
Stephen Freeman Jona Tomkins Jona Seargeant
Henry Lyon George Day Azariah Crane
John Browne Thomas Johnson Samuel Lyon

! The sketches of the leading men among the founders in this chapter are
designedly devoid of genealogical detall, which will be found either in the
chapters in this work devoted to such material or in the following authorities
from which most of the accompanying data is drawn: ‘Genealogical Notices
of the Settlers,” by S. H. Conger; Dr. Stearns’ ‘“History of the First Church,”
and Francis Bazely Lee’s Blographical and Genealogical History of New
Jersey.
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John Rogers John Curtis Joseph Riggs
Stephen Davis Ephraim Burwell Stephen Bond
Edward Rigs his
Robert Kitchell Robert R. Denison
his mark

J. B. Brooks Nathaniel Wheeler

mark Zachariah Burwell

his William Camp
Robert V. Lymens Joseph Walters
mark Robert Dalglesh

The first signers to the “agreements” were, of course, the Bran-
ford group, who set down their signatures when they drafted
them, October 3, 1666. The Milford pioneers, the “thirty heads
of families,” are included in the above list. The Branford list,
with the name of Pastor Pierson second in line, is as follows:

THE SIGNERS OF BRANFORD.

Jasper Crane Josiah Ward Ebenezer Camfield
Abra Pierson Samuel Rose John Ward, Sr.
Samuel Swaine Thomas Pierson Ed. Ball
Laurence Ward John Warde John Harrison
Thomas Blacthly John Catling John Crane
Samuel Plum Richard Harrison Thomas Huntington
Delivered Crane John Johnson
Aaron Blacthly his
Richard Laurence Thomas L. Lyon

mark

Out of the sixty-four founders as above set down, we find but
five unable to write their names, one among the Branford men and
the remaining four from the three other towns. Among the women
and the servants the percentage of illiteracy was of course very
high, although it must be remembered that these people were far
beyond the average intelligence of the so-called illiterates of our
day. They spelt their names in divers ways at different times. To
avoid confusion the spelling generally accepted by their descend-
ants is used here. They were all of them, as their names clearly
indicate, of English stock, with the exception of Dalglesh (believed
to be a curious spelling of Douglass), a Scotchman, and Hans or
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Hauns Albers, a German or Dutchman, who came with the others
from Milford, and who may either have been originally one of the
Dutch settlers in and around New York or may have come under
Puritan influence during the stay of the Pilgrims in the Nether-
lands, where there were many German refugees.

As for the rest, the family names of most of them survive in
Newark to-day. Many were related, some by blood and others by
marriage. They were thus bound together in one large family by
the closest of human ties, those of kinship and of religion.

None of the settlers came directly from England to Newark,
although nearly all were born in the old country. Every one of
the forty-two counties of England contributed to the great Puritan
exodus, but it is probable “that two-thirds of the American people
who can trace their ancestry to New England might follow it back
to the East Anglian shires of the mother country.?

BIOGRAPHIES OF THE LEADING MEN.

ROBERT TREAT—No better understanding of the character
of the Newark founders is to be had than by a perusal of short
biographies of some of the leaders, and there is none that stands
out through all the records in such sharp and striking relief as
Robert Treat, the master mind of the colony from the beginning
and for about six years thereafter.

He was born in England, came to the New Haven Colony
when a young man, and settled in Milford, after a brief stay in
Wethersfield. He is believed to have been well educated and his
father was a man of mark in New England before him. He had
two wives, and the first was Jane, daughter of Edward Tapp, one
of the “seven pillars” of the Milford church. We all like to believe
one story told of her as showing her a woman of some wit as well
as decision. It tells how Treat, while beseeching her to marry him,
drew her down upon his lap, when she said: ‘“Robert, have done with
that; I had rather be Treated than trotted.”? He held many posi-

* Lambert’s Hist. Coll. New Haven, p. 187.
* Lambert’s Hist. Coll. New Haven, p. 137.
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tions of trust in the New Haven Colony, and was a magistrate at
the time the Crown was striving to capture the regicides Goffe and
Whalley, who were in hiding there. Treat warned the people not
to harbor the regicides, as was his duty, but it is believed that he
assisted in protecting them, nevertheless.

He was virtually the pathfinder for the settlers of Newark,
as we have seen. He forsaw the necessity of the immigration,
years before it actually came, and he was the leader in the early
negotiations with the Dutch as well as with the English later. He
was Newark’s first town magistrate and, as the first recorder or
town clerk, was the first keeper of the Town Minute Book. He
and Jasper Crane are believed to have had more to do with the
admirable laying out of the original town plat, to which we are
indebted for the superb breadth of Broad street and the three
triangular parks with which its course is relieved, than to anyone
else. Their responsibility for this work can not be determined by
actual fact and is rather the impression gathered by local engi-
neers and surveyors whose business it has been to search all avail-

able records and other material to locate road lines, boundaries,
ete.

Treat was one of the town’s two first representatives to the
General Assembly. His title of Captain, from the very beginning
of the colonization movement, signified that he was the temporal
leader of the little flock, before it had a spiritual one. He was
Newark’s Miles Standish, for while war did not come to the little
settlement, had there been fighting with the Indians or with white
foes, Treat would undoubtedly have been the people’s tower of
strength in time of battle, and for all such contingencies he and
his lieutenants prepared with great deliberation and care. Treat
was active in military affairs while a young man in New Haven
Colony. He took part in a campaign against the Dutch.

When the settlement was well organized, Treat returned to
Connecticut, in 1672, leaving two sons and as many daughters
behind him. He was almost immediately made magistrate of the
Province and was also appointed as major of militia. At one time
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he headed a small squad of what we would call light cavalry, going
to the relief of settlers attacked by the Indians. In 1675 he com-
manded the Connecticut militia in the epoch-making battle of
Bloody Brook, in which the power of the red man in New England
was broken forever, and before which the very existence of the
New England colonies may be said to have hung in the balance.

After a long march through deep snow and in intense cold,
the Indian stronghold was found, on a hill in a marsh. It was a
village, strongly palisaded and further protected with a deep ditch
or moat. A tree was felled across the moat at the front of the
village and at the portal. Across this the white men dashed with
great valor, but were shot down until the ditch about the tree was
filled with bodies of the dead and dying. For a long time the odds
were against the white men. Major Treat and his men, bringing
up the rear of the little army, arrived on the field near dusk. He
sent part of his force into the main attack at the felled tree-trunk
and with the rest set out to reconnoiter the sides and rear of the
village. They found a weak spot in the palisades and forced their
way through, attacking the savages with great spirit from the
rear. This demonstration demoralized the Indians and they were
quickly crushed between the two forces of militia. Tradition says
that Treat was the last to leave the village, and that he received a
bullet through his hat.

Treat and his men were hailed as heroes upon their return
home and the grateful people accorded him rapid preferment after
that. He was governor of Connecticut at the time of the historic
visit of Sir Edmund Andros to demand the charter of the Province,
and he sat in the assembly room at Hartford on that memorable
day and evening when Andros, on behalf of the Crown, strove to
wrest the precious document from the people. While the delibera-
tions were in process and the charter lay upon the table, it grew
dark and candles were brought. The weather was warm and the
windows were open. A cloak was thrown into the room and the
gust it created extinguished the lights. When the candles were
re-lit the charter was gone, to rest securely in “Charter Oak” until
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it was no longer in danger. Just what part Treat played in this
historic event we shall probably never know; but that he was deep
in the plot we can have no doubt. He was deputy governor or
governor of Connecticut for thirty-two years. He died in 1710 in
his eighty-fifth year.

“Few men have sustained a fairer character or rendered the
public more important services. He was an excellent military
officer; a man of singular courage and resolution, tempered with
caution and prudence. His administration of government was with
wisdom, firmness and integrity. He was esteemed courageous, wise
and pious. He was exceedingly beloved and venerated by the people
in general, and especially at Milford where he resided.” ¢

The service rendered by Robert Treat as the chief founder has
never been adequately recognized by the Newarkers of any genera-
tion since the first. They bestowed upon him the best that they
had, when they conceded to him the unique privilege of selecting
his home lot and one additional lot in advance of all others, the first
to be eight acres instead of six as were those of the other settlers.
That ground is worth millions to-day. It was a splendid gift, even
at the time it was given. The city of Newark to-day can scarcely
retain its self respect without erecting some handsome tribute to
his memory. Treat’s home lot was the southeast corner of Market
and Broad streets, extending down Broad below the present First
Presbyterian Church, and through the block to Mulberry street
and up Market to the corner. His second lot was on the south side
of Market, east of Washington. The Newark Schoolmen’s Club,
in 1912, unveiled a tablet in his honor on the Kinney Building,
which stands on the corner of the Treat home lot. The money
for the tablet was gathered in penny contributions from the chil-
dren of the Newark public schools. The additional lot granted him
was “for his expense with the Indians about purchasing.”

THE REV. ABRAHAM PIERSON—While Robert Treat saw to
it that the foundations of the settlement were laid deep and upon
a sure and lasting earthly basis, it was Pastor Pierson who devised

¢ Lambert’s Hist. Coll. New Haven, pp. 100, 137.
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and created the spiritual framework of this, the last Puritan the-
ocracy. Treat was forty-one when Newark was begun, while
Pastor Pierson was over fifty. He had had the advantages of a
splendid education, for that day. Treat was a devout man, but
intensely practical withal and with much of the genius of an engi-
neer and remarkable in his skill as an organizer. Pastor Pierson
was a power in the Puritan church, even in England, and was known
throughout all of the New World where Puritan doctrines took root.
He was a man of means for the times. His estate, when he came
to Newark, was rated at £644, the largest among the settlers
except that of Robert Treat, whose estate was fixed at £660. They
were the wealthiest among the founders as well as the most
influential.

Pastor Pierson was born in Yorkshire, England, and was a
graduate of Trinity College, Cambridge. He was in college with
the great John Milton, and the companionship of men of such
majestic mentality undoubtedly made its impress upon Pierson’s
whole life. He was a man of deep religious feeling and of high
thinking. He was of the manner of men from whom martyrs, in
his day and in other times, have been made, although it was not
written in the book of fate that he should die a violent death for
his faith. He strove with all the power that was in him to
spread the Puritan doctrines. He is believed to have been ordained
to preach before leaving England, at Newark-on-Trent. After
preaching for a few years in his native country, he came to Boston.
In 1640 he organized a church among the people of Lynn, Massa-
chusetts, and removed with his congregation to Long Island, to
where Southampton now is. Four years later he again moved,
with part of his flock, and several families from Wethersfield, to
Branford, called by the Indians Totoket. After a pastorate there
of over twenty years he departed with his people to Newark,
reorganizing the church to meet the conditions of the new land,
constructing the spiritual bulwarks of this new “Kingdom of God
on Earth” with infinite care and with an enthusiasm that would
indicate he almosj: felt that at last a way had been found to
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build up a community in this naughty world where sin could not
enter in.

He was a man of erudition, and at his death had a library of
four hundred and forty volumes, valued at one hundred and forty
pounds; beyond a doubt the largest in both East and West Jersey
at the time. Many of these books he bequeathed to his son,
Abraham Pierson, Jr., who became the first president of Yale
College, and there are good reasons for believing that some of
these volumes from the old Newark pastor’s library found their
way from the son’s hand into the little collection that made up
the foundation of the present great library of Yale University.

Abraham Pierson was aglow with the missionary spirit and
he strove with high-born zeal to lift the natives of the new country
out of savagery. At the instance of the Commissioners for the
United Colonies of New England “for carrying on and promoting
the Gospel of Christ in New England,” Pierson prepared a cate-
chism in the language of one of the dominant tribes of Connecticut
and New Haven colonies, which was long used by the missionaries,
and which he himself used in preaching to the red men. It was
printed in Cambridge, Massachusetts, in 1658, by Samuel Green,
and was antedated only a few years by the celebrated Indian
catechism of John Eliot, “Apostle to the Indians,” used among the
Indians of Massachusetts.

There are but two known copies of the Pierson catechism in
existence, both of different imprints, although possessing no varia-
tions except in the title page. One is in the British Museum and
the other in the New York Free Public Library. Both were
printed by Green. This work is believed to have been the first
by an author living in either the Connecticut or New Haven
colonies and printed in this country. A reprint of the original is
in the New Jersey Historical Society’s library.

On one occasion at least, when an agreement was to be made
between the Indians and the Colony of New Haven, Pastor Pierson,
with his converted Indians, performed important service in the
capacity of interpreters. Pierson served with the Connecticut
troops in the hostilities against the Dutch, as chaplain.




HISTORY OF NEWARK 81

Pastor Pierson was a man of great influence throughout the
entire New Haven Colony, by reason of his sincere and aggressive
Christianity, which was in entire keeping with the Puritan spirit
of the times; and because of his scholarship and his personal char-
acter he was known throughout New England as a “godly, learned
man,” and Cotton Mather said of him in his quaint fashion,
“wherever he came he shone.” He died in 1678 and was laid to
rest in the old Newark Burying Ground. Many generations ago,
over a century before the bones of the settlers were removed to
Fairmount Cemetery, all trace of Pastor Pierson’s grave had been
lost—but one of many melancholy illustrations of the indifference
of succeeding generations to the memory and achievements of their
forbears who made their comfort and well-being possible.

JASPER CRANE—After Robert Treat and Pastor Pierson,
Jasper Crane was the most forceful and useful man among the
town builders. He was one of the oldest men in the entire group
of colonists and was over sixty when he came here. He was born
in Hampshire, England, and could trace his family back to the
fourteenth century. He was one of the founders of the New
Haven Colony and signed the first agreement to that end that was
drawn up. He was one of the small company that signed the oath
of fidelity at the formal organization of the Colony’s government.
He was a member of the general court of the Colony, together with
Robert Treat. He was a magistrate in New Haven and, after
removing to Branford in 16562, was chosen a magistrate there. He
was deeply concerned in the removal to New Jersey, and it is
significant evidence of his influence among the Branford group
that he heads the list—even preceding Pastor Pierson—among
those who signed the “fundamental agreement.” His name was
also first in the list of signers to the agreement for the organiza-
tion of the First Church in Newark. Jasper Crane and Robert
Treat were the first magistrates of the town. The former was
a surveyor as well as a merchant and is believed to have been
actively interested in the laying out of the original New Haven
. plot, locating grants, establishing division lines and settling dis-
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putes over land titles. He undoubtedly had much to do, together
with Robert Treat, in the layout of Newark’'s town plot, fixing
street lines, lot boundaries, etc. He owned large tracts of land
in and around New Haven.

Jasper Crane foresaw, like Treat, the inevitable departure
from New England of the members of their particular Puritan per-
suasion, and he was a member of the New Haven Company that
strove to establish a trading post and settlement on the Delaware in
1642, whose representatives were persecuted and driven out
by the Dutch. He was one of the founders of Branford, as
well as of New Haven and of Newark. He was one of the
first deputies from Branford to the general court of electors,
in 1668. He was one of the four magistrates for the whole
colony of New Haven from 1668 to 1663, by appointment.
His house lot in New Haven was at the corner of Elm and
Orange streets, where the church of St. Thomas now stands.
Oddly enough, his home lot in Newark, was at the corner of what
are now Market and High streets, occupied to-day by St. Paul's
Episcopal Church. Besides, he took up land at the head of Mill
Brook, near the southern end of what is Branch Brook Park,
purchased a large tract in what was called Barbadoes Neck (West
Hudson) from the Kingsland family, and, with three other Newark
settlers, acquired the land in the centre of what is now Montclair.
He bought other properties in what is now Essex county. He had a
numerous progeny, and so many Cranes made their homes on the
land at the head of Second River, in what is now Montclair, that
the neighborhood became known as Cranetown.

Jasper Crane was one of the first individuals to appreciate the
value of New Jersey real estate, as the above paragraph shows. He
regretted bitterly the failure of the New Haven Company’s venture
-on the Delaware, “whereby,” he said, “the gospel might have been
published to the natives and much good done, not only to the
colonies at present but to posterity.”s

* Rev. Charles E. Knox, in Shaw’s “History of Essex and Hudson
Countles,” p. 890.
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He was first on the list of deputies to the New Jersey General
Assembly for a number of years. After the return of Treat to
Connecticut, Crane was the first citizen, after the pastor. He, with
Treat and others, represented the town at the solemn ceremonies
upon Divident Hill, described in the preceding chapter. He was
moderator of town meeting on a number of occasions. He was
looked up to for his fair dealing. In those days barter played an
important part in all business life, and the settlers often paid off
their obligations to the town with goods. In 1670, as the Town
Minute Book shows, Jasper Crane’s half bushel measure was made
the standard.

He was made a member of various important committees,
including two appointed to confer with those of other communities
in the province upon the advisability of sending petitions and
protests to the Crown against the exactions of the Proprietors.
With others he represented the town in the negotiations with the
Dutch for the ownership of the New Barbadoes tract between the
Hackensack and Passaic rivers. For fourteen years he was almost
incessantly active in the town’s behalf, when his strength began
to fail him, and his three sons—John, Azariah and Jasper, Jr..—
took his place in helping, with vigor and success, to work out the
town’s destinies. Jasper Crane may be spoken of as a typical
Newark founder. Deeply religious, and fearless in following
out the dictates of his conscience in his religious life, he was a
gkillful and far-sighted town builder, working ceaselessly for the
prosperity of the community and at the same time having proper
care for the welfare of his family.

DEACON LAWRENCE WARD—Of the four founders of the
name of Ward, Deacon Lawrence Ward was the most influential
in the community’s upbuilding. He was a ship carpenter by trade
and came from England about 1634. He was one of those inter-
ested in the foundation of the New Haven colony, and took the
oath of fidelity to its government and signed the “fundamental
agreement” in 1639. He removed from New Haven to Branford
at the time of the latter place’s establishment. When the officers
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of the Crown were searching high and low for the regicides Goffe
and Whalley, he was commissioned to try and run them to earth,
in the town of Milford. These sturdy men who had sat in the
Court that condemned Charles I to be beheaded were in Milford
at the time; they were, indeed, being secretly cared for by Michael
(or Micah) Tompkins (or Tomkins), who later was to be associated
with Ward in the founding of Newark. Lawrence Ward is believed
to have been impressed into service, and it is enough to say that he
not only did not find the fugitives, but that the Crown officials
reported that he had made a most thorough search. Lawrence
Ward was a member of the Colonial Assembly from Branford. He
was the first deacon of the church upon its establishment in New-
ark. He died three or four years after the settlement of Newark.

JOHN WARD (Turner)—With Deacon Ward there came to
Newark two of his nephews, John and Josiah, both of whom were
forceful members of the community in its struggling days. John
was one of the Branford signers to the fundamental agreement.
To him fell much of the routine incidental to the making of the
Newark settlement. He had much to do with the allotment and
partition of lands. His home lot was at the corner of North Canal
street and Park place. He was one of those chosen to see that the
cattle were branded and to keep a record of the particular brands
of the individual owners, a task of considerable importance,
especially in the days before fencing could be provided.

John Ward and his cousin, John Catlin, were appointed a
committee to consummate the actual purchase of the new Bar-
badoes Neck property between the Hackensack and Passaic rivers.
He was always mentioned in the Minute Book as “John Ward,
turner,” or “dish-turner,” indicating his trade, and to distinguish
him from another of the founders, Sergeant John Ward. It is
interesting to note that these two Johns had sons also with the
name of John, who were distinguished as John Ward, Jr., and
John Ward, turner, Jr. John Ward, turner, served as town con-
stable in 1670, and may therefore be spoken of as one of the fathers
of Newark’s police force. He was a member of the board of select-
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men or “town’s men,” as they were called. He was a “viewer” of

fences, a “warner” of town meetings, and one of those whose duty
it was to see that every settler turned in his quota of fire wood
for the use of the pastor.

JOSIAH WARD—Josiah Ward was a brother of John, the
turner, and therefore a nephew of Deacon Lawrence Ward. He
also was of the Branford group, and it was he who is reported to
have helped Elizabeth Swain ashore at the time of the landing of
the Branford settlers.

John Ward, Sr., better known as Sergeant John Ward, was
like John, the turner, active in the breaking of the ground for the
new settlement.

MICAH TOMKINS—One of the strong men in the settlement
was Micah or Michael Tompkins. The last name was varied to
Tomkins, even in the early days. He was a Milford man, and the
manner of man he was is strikingly shown by his having secreted
the regicides, Goffe and Whalley, in the cellar of his Milford home.
Had the agents of the Crown discovered the fugitives in Tomkins’
keeping it would have gone very hard with him, as the stern old
Puritan no doubt knew.

¢ “From their lodgement in the woods the judges [Goffe and
Whalley] removed and took up an asylum in the house of Mr.
Tomkins in the centre of Milford, thirty or forty rods from the
meeting house.” Robert Treat was one of the few who probably
knew of and was in entire sympathy with Tomkins’ courageous
and humane act. “The family used to spin in the room above,
ignorant of the Judges being below [in the cellar]. Judge Buck-
ingham tells me this story, the only anecdote or notice I could ever
learn from a Milford man now living. While they sojourned at
Milford there came over from England a ludicrous cavalier ballad,
satirizing Charles’s Judges, Whalley and Goffe among the rest. A
spinstress at Milford had learned to sing it, and used sometimes to
sing it in the chamber over the Judges; and the Judges used to
get Tomkins to set the girls to singing the song for their diversion,

‘ Stile’s ‘“History of the Three Judges of King Charles 1,” pp. 88, 89.
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being humored and pleased with it, though at their own expense,
as they were the subjects of the ridicule. The girls knew nothing
of the matter, being ignorant of the innocent device, and little
thought that they were serenading angels.”

Micah Tomkins, together with Richard Lawrence, succeeded
Lawrence Ward as deacons of the First Church. Tomkins was
allowed additional land to his home lot, because he was willing to
have it laid down at what was then held to be a considerable
distance from the town centre. This was near the corner of what
are now Elm and Mulberry streets.

SAMUEL SWAIN—Captain Samuel Swaine, or Swain, was a
representative to the Assembly of New Haven Coloney from Bran-
ford. He was several times chosen as “third man” or alternate to
the New Jersey Assembly, from Newark. As such he represented
Jasper Crane in the first General Assembly ever held in the
Province of New Jersey. He was at first a lieutenant in the town’s
military government, and became the captain upon the return of
Captain Treat to Connecticut.

HAUNS ALBERS AND HUGH ROBERTS—The first tanners
in Newark were Hauns Albers and Hugh Roberts, who were among
the Milford founders. The tanning industry thus began practically
with the settlement, although these tanners only plied their trade
for the benefit of the community. Azeriah Crane, son of Jasper
Crane, and son-in-law of Robert Treat, was the first man to
regularly set up a tan yard, in 1695.

STEPHEN BOND—Stephen Bond was a man of importance
in Easthampton, L. 1., being a magistrate there. Almost imme-
diately after his removal to Newark with the other Milford settlers,
he became a member of Governor Carteret’s Council at Elizabeth-
town. He is believed to have been a blacksmith by trade. .

OBADIAH BRUEN—Obadiah Bruen arrived from England in
1640 and first settled with the Pilgrim Fathers at Plymouth. Later
he lived at Gloucester, Massachusetts, and removing to the town
of Pequot, was town clerk there for fifteen years, representing that
place in the Connecticut Assembly.
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JOHN CATLIN—John Catlin, a Branford man, performed
services of greatest value in laying the town’s foundations. In the
early Newark records he is given the rare honor of the prefix “Mr.”
He was more than once a member of the board of selectmen or
“town’s men,” and was associated with others in various important
commissions. He was deeply interested in the cause of education
and is believed to have been the town’s first schoolmaster, keeping
school in his own home, near the corner of Broad and Commerce
streets, where the Newark Schoolmen’s Club, in November, 1911,
erected a handsome bronze tablet to his memory and to mark the
school site. The tablet was unveiled by one of Catlin’s lineal
descendants, little Miss Margaret Catlin Parrish Franchere. Catlin
returned to New England about 1681, and became one of the leading
men in ill-fated Deerfield, Massachusetts. His wife and two of his
sons were killed in the massacre of 1704.

ROBERT KITCHELL—Robert Kitchell was the most impor-
tant man in the little group from Guilford. He came from England
in 1638 with the Rev. Henry Whitfield and others, and it is believed
they were on the first ship that ever anchored in New Haven Bay.
Kitchell is therefore to be reckoned as of the very first group of
the founders of the New Haven Colony. Just before leaving the
ship, or immediately after, they drew up their Plantation Covenant
and signed it, “intending by God’s gracious permission to plant
ourselves in New England, and we will, the Lord assisting, sit
down and join ourselves together in one certain plantation.”
Robert Kitchell was the first to sign this document. He was repre-
sentative to the New Haven General Assembly from Guilford. He
was among the older men among the Newark founders, and is
believed to have been a man of considerable education.

JEREMIAH PECK—Jeremiah Peck, of the New Haven group,
lived in Guilford and later in New Haven. He taught school in
Guilford and afterwards in New Haven, teaching Latin, Greek and
Hebrew and preparing youth for college. If he taught school in
Newark there is no record of it. He became a preacher and occupied
a pulpit in Saybrook just before the settlement of Newark. He
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was ordained a minister of the Congregational Church in Newark,
in 1669, is believed to have later preached in Elizabethtown and
is known to have later returned to Connecticut, being the first
settled minister in Greenwich, Connecticut.

Additional information concerning the founders, including
Thomas Johnson, Henry Lyon and others, will be found in the
chapters immediately following, in the regular historical narrative.

- —
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CHAPTER VL
ON THE GROUND—ALLOTMENT OF THE LAND.
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During the first year the time seems to have been largely
taken up with the preliminary work of town building, putting up
a few rough houses and planting, caring for and harvesting what
small crops they could. There were comparatively few on the
ground for the first summer and there was no doubt much coming
and going back and forth between Newark and the Connecticut
towns. Not more than a week was needed to make the round trip,
which was reasonably short for the standards of the day. The
journey was neither difficult nor hazardous. The cattle and horses,
swine, sheep, fowls, etc.,, were removed in small groups in
sailing vessels as fast as proper quarters were prepared for
them and there were sufficient settlers to look after them. The
town was beginning to take some sort of crude form by the time
all who may be termed the founders were here, in the summer of
1667.

THE ORIGINAL CITY PLANNERS.

They had by this time decided on the location of their principal
streets, in fact the only ones for many a year: Broad street, which
was known as “the main street” and which was to be eight rods
wide; Market street, six rods, and Mulberry and Washington
streets, four rods, but which for several generations were
little less than lanes, and which were called “East back street”
and “West back street” as late as 1800. In every instance the
original widths of these streets has remained down to this day,
with the exception of a single stretch of Broad street bordering
Military Park and which was reduced in width early in the last
century to allow for the sidewalk. As any observer can see, the
street is narrower from what is called “Canal bridge,” just above
the Post Office, to Trinity Church. The eight rod width of the
settlement’s principal thoroughfare was quite commonly used by
the Puritans in their New England towns, although it seldom
survives to-day except in such as have grown but little.

With most admirable skill, which entitles them to be consid-
ered city planners of eminence for their day, they relieved the
main street (Broad) with little commons or plots set apart from




HISTORY OF NEWARK 93

lot holders and dedicated to the use and enjoyment of all the
people; at South Park, to which they gave no name, as it was for
a long time just without the southern boundary of the village; at
the Training Place, or Military Park, and at the Market Place,
Washington Park. The two last named were most logically chosen.
Military Park marked the first curve in their long, broad, main
highway, and it curved here because it followed, no doubt, the lines
of least resistance over comparatively level ground and conformed
to the bend in the river. At the Market Place a triangle was made
by the intersection of the “west back street” (Washington) meet-
ing the main street in front of where the Free Public Library now
stands.

ENCOURAGING THE INDUSTRIES.

On the river bank, at Bridge street, as it now is, directly east
of the head of the Market Place, they set aside a plot, known as
the Boatman’s Lot, where the settler who looked after the meagre
traffic and transportation of the town’s goods was to live and do
his business and which was within easy distance of what was at
first intended to be the town’s business centre, the Market Place.
It was reached by a lane from Broad street and was never more
than a cart path until the first bridge was built, in 1792.

A Seaman’s Lot was also set apart and it took up a goodly
portion of the river front from what is now Centre street to where
the Pennsylvania main line tracks cross the river. The difference
between the Boatman’s and the Seaman’s lots has not been
adequately explained. The former passed out of the town’s
possession when the boatman was selected, and as for the Sea-
man’s lot, nothing remains of it in the hands of the community
except a small portion known as the City Dock.

THE WATERING PLACE.

It was necessary to fix some central spot where cattle could
be conveniently watered, and from whence, if necessary, the people
could draw their drinking water. This they fixed at what is now
the apex of the triangle formed by the junction of Market street
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and Springfield avenue, some little distance below where the Lincoln
statue now stands, and to the south.

The Parson’s lot was another reservation of lands upon which
the home of the shepherd of the flock was to be reared, on the
south corner of Broad and William streets, and where the parson-
age stood until long after the War for Independence. Just when
the parsonage was built is not known. Rev. Aaron Burr lived in
it in the 1740’s and 1750’s. The first pastor, the Rev. Pierson,
had his home lot immediately south of Robert Treat, on the east
side of Broad street, starting about where the Broad street station
of the Central Railroad of New Jersey now is.

The Meeting House Lot, with the Burying Ground to the
immediate west, south and northwest of it, fronted on Broad street,
where Branford Place now is. The Burying Ground plot extended
nearly to Washington street for a time. On its northern border
were two ponds, while on the south the plot ran nearly to what
is now William street.

All these lands had virtually been set aside during the first
year. It had also been agreed that six-acre home lots should be
given the first subsequent settlers proficient in the trades, such as
tailor, cooper, shoemaker.

GENESIS OF THE “FOUR CORNERS” HABIT.

Already the men from Milford and the few who had come with
them or who soon joined them, from New Haven and Guilford,
in 1666 and early in 1667, had begun to group themselves about
the southeast, southwest and northeast corners of what are now
Market and Broad streets, at the never-to-be-forgotten “Four
Corners”; thus laying the foundation, as it were, for the custom
which has, after two hundred and fifty years, made it seemingly
impossible for the city to divorce itself from the belief that it can
have but one central and focal point, right there where the first
two of the four original highways cross.!

1 A striking {llustration of the town’s conservatism appears in the
following reference to the opening of Green street in 1834, published that
year in the Daily Advertiser: ‘‘This we believe to be the first and only
street in a direct line, excepting only Market street, connecting the south-
eastern section of the town with Broad street.”
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The kind and character of the soil and nature of the vegeta-
tion, the sorts of beasts, wild fowl and fish, had been carefully
inquired into, as well as the number, size, source and general
direction of all streams and the area and location of the marshes.
They had found the Indians not only peaceful, as they had been
assured by the Dutch and by Carteret, but invaluable, in a way, since
they told them all they knew of the entire region and taught them
their own simple arts of husbandry.

Were they appalled by the tremendous stretches of meadow-
land? Not at all. Others might have been deterred from making
their homes amid such great areas of swamp, but they were
familiar with such territory as anyone who visits New Haven
and its neighborhood, with its great area of marsh, will readily
realize they must have been. Moreover, they saw in the miles of
waving meadow grass unlimited quantities of salt hay to be had
for the cutting, to be used as bedding for their beasts and in the
early days for the cattle’s food until the land should be sufficiently
cleared to provide room for the extensive growth of blue grass
and red clover. They began grading the hillocks and filling in the
marshes as soon as they arrived, and this has been going on without
interruption (except during the War for Independence) practically
ever since.

THE WATER COURSES,

The Passaic appealed to them in all its natural beauty, and
they rejoiced in it. But they saw quite as clearly its commercial
value, most precious to them, too. It was in the beginning of the
settlement their only highway, except for the Indian paths, out of
the wilderness, and far surer and more safe should hostilities ever
arise.

Several streams ran down the hillside from the present line of
High street and beyond, draining the slopes as well as generous
stretches of swamp in the gently rising region west of High street
and Mt. Prospect avenue. It is an interesting fact that while but
three of the many little streams which the settlers found within
what are now the actual confines of the city, still remain visible,
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those three are all boundaries of the city for greater or less
distances. They are Bound Creek,® on the south, Second River on
the north, and Meadow Brook on the west. Bound Creek, until
long after the War for Independence, was large enough to accom-
modate fair-sized sloops which unloaded at a dock near the present
line of the Pennsylvania Railroad. This was the largest of all the
three streams that still remain.

Of all the streams that have vanished, the First River was
the most important. It was formed by the junction of two brooks
which met near what is now the southern end of Branch Brook
Park, and it flowed almost directly east through a little valley about
where Eighth avenue now is. One of the two brooks rose near
where Sussex avenue and Fourth street now join, flowing east
and north until it met the other branch. Its source was really in
a number of springs, from which Newark’s first water supply, to
be conveyed to the people through pipes, was established, about
1800. The other brook, whose name has been given to the park,
drained the region the park lakes now occupy. It is to Mill Brook,
or First River, that Branch Brook Park owes its being to-day;
for had it not been used for the public water supply the city would
not have come into possession of much of the land which it later
disposed of to the Essex County Park Commission.

The First River was at once recognized by the settlers as the
most available for grist mill purposes. Two years after the settle-
ment they began preparations for the erection of a mill which,
however, did not really rise until 1671. The old Mill Brook or
First River still courses along practically its ancient channel,
although much shrunken and hidden from sight. In 1861 the
section of the brook from High to Factory streets was arched
over and the land filled in above the arch. Other portions were
enclosed from time to time. The last section was covered in 1890,
to form the approach to the Clay street bridge over the river:
From the earliest times of the white man’s occupation, there was
a bridge over Mill Brook where it crossed what is now Broad

* See Chapter 1.
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street. When the last was built no man knoweth, but the spot is
still spoken of (in 1913) by older Newarkers as “Clay street
bridge.” But the old stream has virtually disappeared from
Newark and may truthfully be considered as one of Newark’s
vanished waterways.

Second River forms the northern boundary of the city to-day
and Meadow Brook, which flowed along part of the western bound-
ary of the city, from Central avenue northward, was one of its chief
tributaries. It began on the south side of Central avenue, between
the first and second ridges west of Newark, and discharged into
Second River a mile and a quarter from its mouth. Second River
became a very important stream shortly before and immediately
after the War for Independence, as traces of the old mills along
its northern bank testify.

There is also Third River, the original northern boundary of
the settler’s purchase, which we know to-day as the Yantacaw,® and
it is the only one of the three existing water courses of which the
original Indian name is preserved. It is to be regretted that the
settlers did not retain the ancient names of the First and Second
Rivers, but no trace of them can be found.

Of the water courses that have absolutely disappeared there
were several of considerable importance.

A little stream had its source near the junction of Third
avenue and Garside street, running down the hillside and crossing
Belleville avenue between Taylor street and Third avenue, into
the old Kearny Homestead property, where the handsome State
Normal and Training School now stands. Turning sharply to the
southeast here, it merged in the Passaic a little south of the foot
of Fourth avenue. A short stretch of the stream’s gully has very
thoughtfully been preserved by the Newark Board of Education
(in planning the establishment before the possibility of its
becoming a State institution, was broached) in the sunken gar-
den effect upon the Normal School lawn. Another rivulet
flowed out of a pond that was a little back from the south-

* 8ee Chapter 1.
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west corner of High and Orange streets. It crossed Broad street
near State street and entered a pond of considerable size on the
edge of the Passaic. This pond was about midway between Clay
and Crane streets. The first mentioned pond at High and Orange
streets, in the second quarter of the last century, became known
as Boyden’s Pond, from the fact that Newark’s famous inventor,
Seth Boyden, at one time had his shop near it.

Newark’s civil engineers in previous generations have been
baffled by the fact that they found traces of another stream quite
close to that just described, and which flowed in a general southerly
direction. One map maker even plotted the two as crossing each
other. It is now considered probable that the two streams emerged
from Boyden’s Pond as one and the same, and that this stream was
divided through some peculiarity in the topography, on the line of
Orange street, not far from Plane. The southern tributary flowed
down the line of Plane street, to about Nesbitt street, down Warren
street for about half a block, then southeast across Academy and
Bank streets, crossing Market street at Washington street and
joining Wheeler’s brook a little south of Camfield street.

Of all Newark’s vanished streams the most important, histori-
cally, was Wheeler’s brook or creek. It started from the springs
and spongy ground where the Essex County Court House now
stands, and which also extended as far up as Springfield avenue.
This was a marshy region of considerable extent. There were
ponds near the foot of South Orange avenue, while further west,
near where the old South Orange avenue reservoir still stands,
and extending for a distance north and south, were the “Magnolia
Swamps.” Civil engineers and surveyors who have given careful
study to all existing traces of the city’s old water courses have
been unable to detect any direct connection between the “Magnolia
Swamps” and the marshes in the Court House tract. Geologists,
however, and others, whose researches sometimes stop where those
of the surveyors begin, are strongly inclined to believe that ages
ago, a stream of good size, large enough to be dignified with the
name of river, flowed through the region here described, emptying




HISTORY OF NEWARK 99

into the Newark Bay, possibly into the sea, along the line of
Market street. In deep excavations, such as those made for the
foundations of the Firemen’s Insurance Company and Kinney
buildings at the northeast and southeast corners of Market and
Broad streets, and further west on Market street, sand that shows
water influence is always brought up. It is quite possible, there-
fore, that Wheeler’s Brook, the little stream the settlers found
running down the hill from the present Court House region, was
all that survived of an ancient, prehistorie river. ,

One of the principal tributaries to Wheeler’s Brook, or to the
marshes from whence it started, began somewhere in the neighbor-
hood of Orange street, flowing in a westerly and southerly direction .
to Howard street and then into the Watering Place tract.

Wheeler’s Brook ran down the south side of Market street
until it developed into two ponds, one near the southeast corner
of Market and Halsey streets, and the other just west of Broad
street at its junction with Market The first pond mentioned seems
to have been the smaller of the two and it was filled in very early"
in the town’s history The other was spoken of in the old records
as the “Frog Pond.”

Broad street, along the greater part of its length from South
Park to Washington Park, was somewhat higher in level than what
is now Washington street, and from the Frog Pond, south, was a
tiny valley, diverting the course of the stream from its hitherto
easterly course, to one almost directly south. This stream drained
the ponds and ran, one might almost say, parallel with Broad and
Washington streets, crossing South or Lincoln Park (which was
part swamp), and losing itself in the meadows. Traces of it are
still to be seen east of the Pennsylvania Railway near Emmet
street, continuing across the meadows to the Peddie street canal.

Discoveries made by city engineers early in the present century
lead to an apparent explanation of the oft-repeated story that
there was once a brook running along the south side of Market
street east of Broad street and finding its way into the marshes
just east of the present site of the Market street station of the
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Pennsylvania Railroad. Excavations made for city work have
revealed traces of a stream near Halsey street and Maiden Lane
and indicating that a tributary of Wheeler’s Brook ran east from
that point near the southern end of the Old Burying Ground, then
northeastward, crossing Broad street and finding its way into what
is now Market street, a little west of Mulberry street. There are
traditions of a bridge over this brook at Market street, about
Mulberry street.

The exact location of the principal pond at Market and Broad
streets was fixed late in the last century by Harrison Van Duyne
while engaged in gathering data for use in the celebrated First
Church Burying Ground case. He found the pond was longer than
it was wide; that its greatest width was east and west, and that
its greatest dimension was approximately one hundred and fifty
feet. Mr. Van Duyne unearthed several tree trunks, the last relics
of trees that no doubt once stood upon the banks of the pond.*

‘ Fortunately, a good description of the character of the ground in the
immediate neighborhood of the First Church building (which stood where
Branford place and Broad street now meet) is preserved, in the so-called
Century Sermon, by the Rev. Dr. Alexander Macwhorter, the intrepid pastor
of the Newark flock at the time of the War for Independence. It is in part
as follows: “Behind it [the church] and between that and the hollow or
swamp, upon the brow of the hill, was the old, or first, training ground.
Beyond the hollow or swamp was the burying place, on a rising knoll or
tongue of land, which divided this from a greater swamp or pond [the
farthest west of the two ponds, probably] westward of which the land rose
into another hill, then presently sunk into a flat or brook called the
“watering place.” This last hill was the original burying ground; but long
since, more than one hundred years ago, [and the Century Sermon was
preached in 1790] it, some way, became private property, has been occupied
and cultivated as such, and not a trace of the cemetery there remains.”

This establishes the fact that the ‘“Old Burying Ground’” was not the
original burying place and that the latter was several hundred yards further
west. It received the bodles of those first to die in the hamlet, and in all
probability contained very few.

The Sermon further says: ‘[It was] poor land, chiefly swamp, com-
prehending three small knolls of high and dry land fit for a cemetery. The
western knoll of the three was early relinquished as a burying place, for
what reasons not now known, though a number of the first dead were
buried there. This knoll i8 not so much as claimed by the Church, though
the swamp or pond, which divides it from the next knoll eastward, is.”

We can readily gather from the above that many a hillock and other
rough place in the centre of the city was leveled down or fllled in early in
the town’s history, for all traces of the hills Dr. Macwhorter speaks ot

disappeared many generations ago.

" e —— o ——
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Another of the vanished streams of Newark is Hayes’ Brook.
This was a branch of Bound Creek. Its source was near South
Orange avenue. A branch joined it near West Kinney street. It
closely followed the line of Peddie street, Badger avenue and Boyd
street. On this rivulet was a mill, which stood immediately west
of Elizabeth avenue, opposite the old Almshouse (1912). Although
long deserted, the last vestiges of it did not disappear until about
1900. There was a bridge over this stream across Clinton avenue,
near Elizabeth avenue, in use early in the last half of the last
century.

There was also a branch of Hayes’ Brook, starting near West
Kinney and Broome streets, flowing south and crossing Clinton
avenue near Wright street, joining the main stream just west of
the Pennsylvania Railroad tracks.

THE PASSAIC; AN OLD-TIME DESCRIPTION.

Besides the streams mentioned above, there were two or three
other smaller ones, draining the High street hillside, and whose
exact locations are practically lost. There were many small ponds,
too, gleaming and sparkling in the sunshine of that May morning
in 1666 when the pioneer settlers, cruising slowly up Newark Bay
and into the river, gazed upon the beautiful prospect.

It is not possible to leave the subject of Newark’s water
courses without some description of the Passaic, which, although
it flows by Newark territory for but a very small proportion of
its length, has had a tremendous influence upon Newark’s welfare
from the beginning. A most excellent description of the Passaic
was written about 1834 for “Gordon’s Gazeteer of the State of
New Jersey,” and it is given below:

“This stream is endowed with a very singular character.
Rising in and flowing through a mountainous country, it is the
most crooked, sluggish and longest of the State, and presents the
two most profound cataracts, and the greatest hydraulic force.
Its extreme source is near Mendham, Morris county, where its
head waters interlock with those of the north branch of the Rari-
tan. Thence it flows a little east of south about 10 miles, in which
distance it has considerable fall, turns several mills, and forms
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the boundary between Somerset and Morris counties; thence,
turned by Stony Hill of the former county, at the north base of
which it receives Dead River, it assumes a northeast course by
the foot of Long Hill, dividing Morris from Essex county.

“On this line for 20 miles it steals its way, partly through a
narrow vale and partly through a broad valley, with scarce a ripple
or a murmur to indicate its course; and consequently with few
mill-works of any kind. At the southwest point of the Horse Shoe
mountain it receives the Rockaway River, which, having had for
many miles a rapid, spirited and useful course, assumes the torpor
of its recipient and spreads itself as if seeking rest after its hurried
flow and mighty labors.

“Collecting its waters, the united stream meanders along the
curve of Horse Shoe Mountain about 8 miles, when, deflected by
the northeastern point, it inclines to the Second Mountain, still
preserving its monotonous and sluggish character. But in its way
through the mountain that character is suddenly changed for high
and admirable energy. By two perpendicular leaps and a rocky
rapid it descends, at the Little Falls, 51 feet in the distance of half
a mile, into the valley north of the First Mountain.

“The first fall has a comparatively gentle and certainly a very
beautiful appearance. It is 10 feet deep and more than a hundred
yards broad, and has been artificially formed into a broad angle
opening down the stream, over which the whole river, but now still
and lifeless as a sea of glass, is precipitated in two broad and dense
sheets * * * * gand then, hastening rapidly away beneath
the bold and lofty arch of the aqueduct of the Morris Canal, as if
regretting and gladly seeking its broken quiet. * * * *

“Between the Little and the Great Falls, a distance of 514
miles, the river is broken by some inconsiderable ripples which
afford sufficient fall for mills but do not much disturb the placidity
of its course. But before the great leap it is again composed into
a steady calm, as if concentrated for a new and more vigorous
effort. Ere it reaches the perpendicular pitch, it rolls over the
artificial dam, erected by the Passaic Manufacturing Company, and
a low ledge of rocks; and then pours itself in one unbroken column,
50 feet in altitude, into a deep and narrow chasm of about 60 feet
in width; through which it dashes, foams and roars into a broad
and still basin which it has excavated for itself. From this it roars
impetuously by a rapid descent of 20 feet, beneath the level of
Paterson plain, curbed by walls of trap rock and sandstone, whose
loose and disjointed character has enabled the stream to excavate
its passage through the deep chasm.

“From Paterson to the port of Acquackanonck, where the
river meets the tide, its course is again sweetly still; and the
tide waters of no river can present a more charming scene. The
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shore, spreading like an amphitheatre upon either side, is covered
with verdure and studded with dwellings and other monuments of
successful industry, which give it the appearance of a highway
through a thrifty village; whilst the clear and quiet waters tempt
the spectator to venture upon their bosom.

“Few rivers present more attractions than the Passaic River
between Paterson and Newark, above the marshes; nor are the
charms of its beautiful scenery diminished by the sport which the
stream offers to the patient follower of Izaask Walton in the finny
tribe with which it is stored. From Acquackanonck to the head
of Newark Bay the distance may be 15 miles, and thus the whole
course of the river is about 70 miles, in passing through which it
has looked to every quarter of the compass save the west.”

Such was the Passaic River some sixty years before it began
to show signs of serious pollution (1890), about the time Newark
became a city (in 1836) and when the other communities along its
banks were villages. No wonder all Newarkers and all dwellers
along the river’s banks spoke and wrote of it with enthusiasm.

ANCIENT FORES.TS; KINDS OF TREES.

The town site was not densely wooded throughout its entire
extent. One of the largest forests was unquestionably that which
filled a goodly portion of the Hackensack and part of the Newark
meadows. It was of cedar and was partly destroyed by the advance
of the salt marshes ages ago. It lay directly west and southwest
of Snake Hill and it was thick enough to afford shelter for bandits
along the line of the Turnpike early in the last century, when it
was cut down to destroy the cover for the outlaws who there lay
in wait for foot travelers or for insufficiently guarded coaches. In
some sections the forest was so dense, at some early period, that
engineers inspecting the meadows have found it difficult to run
down a rod in the marsh without striking a log. Stumps of trees
are still visible. Mention is made of these forests in a State
geological report for 1868, as follows:

“The marshes about the mouths of the Passaic and Hacken-
sack rivers are filled with the remains of cedar timber; and every
traveler who crosses them by any of the railroads going to New
York can see the timber in the ditches, the stumps standing in
the meadows and occasionally a log projecting from the mud. In



104 HISTORY OF NEWARK

addition to this, stumps can be seen almost down to low water
mark in the hard earth along the Newark Bay shore, between
Bergen Point and the mouth of the Hackensack; and farther up
the valley, north of the Erie Railroad, there are cedar swamps in

which the gradual dying out of the trees is seen to be now in
progress.”

The settlers found no pine trees in their territory. There was
an abundance of other varieties, however, including the following:
oak, red, white and black, and the pin oak (which derives its
name from the fact that it was used for making pins, used in
fastening beams in house frames and for other similar purposes)
which grew on the edges of the swamps; chestnut, hickory, several
varieties of the elm, beech, black and white birch, black and white
ash, tulip, maple, including the sugar maple, from which the settlers
made molasses; sycamore, often of great size; both the sweet and
bitter gum; dogwood, cherry, persimmon and wild apple. Many
small fruits are believed to have been native to Jersey soil and to
this region, including grapes, plums, raspberries, strawberries,
currants, mulberries, peaches, persimmons, apples and quinces.®

THE WILD ANIMALS.

The only wild animals that gave the founders serious concern
were the wolves. There were lots of them, and they were a great
pest, ravaging the crops, destroying many of the smaller domestic
animals and sometimes menacing the people, while their howling
made the night hideous, at times, for a generation or more after
the settlement. Their shining eyeballs were often seen gleaming
through the chinks in the houses, and their prowlings often set
the livestock in the tightly locked barns and outhouses in an
uproar. One of the first items in the Minute Book is this: “The
Town agreed that any Man that would take Pains to kill Wolves,
he or they, for their Encouragement, should have 15s for every
grown Wolf that they kill, and this to be paid by the Town
Treasury.” In 1680 the bounty was raised to 20 shillings and

s Wickes' ‘“History of the Oranges.”
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later lowered to 12 shillings. Rattlesnakes and copperheads, still
to be met with in the northern part of the State, were a constant
menace to Newark’s settlers.

There were bear, elk, deer, panther, fox, coon, beaver, otter,
as well as the muskrat and other small animals. It is a remark-
able fact that red foxes were found in the Newark meadows as
late as 1906 and one was shot in Weequahic Park a few years
later by a park policeman. A bounty of ten shillings was offered
in 1680 for the head of every full grown bear and five for that
of a cub. But bears were not nearly so troublesome as the wolves.
Bears were occasionally seen during the first years of the last
century. Deer were often seen from the very doors of the houses
in thickly settled sections until 1800, and for a short time there-
after. There was plenty of sport for the hunter in Newark
throughout the first quarter of the last century.

LAND READY FOR THE SETTLER,

The Newark territory presented no great natural difficulties
to overcome, as the pioneers viewed it; for to them the meadows
seem to have been no drawback, and there were no sterile sections,
no high mountains, no cliffs, ravines or other disturbing features.
All seemed ready to their hands for comparatively swift develop-
ment to their uses. The topography of Newark has changed but
little by man’s touch in two hundred and fifty years. The minor
roughnesses have, of course, been levelled to meet the needs of
the growing community, but the actual elevations remain much as
they were, except for the filling in of the marshes here and there
within the city proper and upon its eastern edge. The highest
elevation to-day is 228 feet above sea level at the corner of Lenox
avenue and Geneva street, in the Vailsburg section, and it was
probably the highest when the settlers came. Previous to the
annexation of Vailsburg the highest point was at the corner of
Fifteenth avenue and South Fifteenth street—223 feet. The
highest elevation east of the Pennsylvania Railroad is thirty-one
feet. The corners of Market and Broad street are 30 feet above
sea level.
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APPORTIONMENT OF THE LAND.

In the apportionment of land among the settlers, a system
practically identical with that practiced in the New Haven and Con-
necticut colonies was used. There were three great divisions of the
ground, by lot, with a new drawing for each, and each partition
was made with marked solemnity and after prayer to the Almighty
for guidance. And, indeed, it was a time for solemnity, this taking
possession of the soil by the individual. It was to be theirs, and
that of their heirs and assigns, forever; well-nigh free, they
believed, from all the grinding oppression with which they and
their immediate progenitors were all too familiar in England.
They stood ready to fight for it, and to die for it as not a few
of their descendants did in the War for Independence. They were
already apprehensive, no doubt, of interference with their title by
the Lords Proprietors, and they were in no lightsome mood when
they assembled to take each his share of ground upon which to
build his permanent home.

The formal and final apportionment of the first range of lots, the
home lots, did not take place until all who were to be considered the
first settlers or planters were on the ground, or had somebody here
to represent them, which was in the early summer of 1667. It was
agreed before the drawing of home lots took place that those
previously on the ground should select their holdings in the same
quarter where they had first set themselves down. ‘- Another
preliminary agreement was that to Captain Treat should be given
the distinguished and unique honor of selecting his home plot
before everyone else and without any drawing by lot, and that
while all the others were to be restricted to six acres, he should
take eight. An additional portion was also allowed him. For the
first, his home site, Captain Treat selected the southeast corner
of Market and Broad streets. For the second plot he chose one
fronting on Market street, immediately west of the “Frog Pond”
and continuing west nearly, if not quite, to Washington street.*

¢ See Chapter V, ‘“Robert Treat.”
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THE ORIGINAL TOWN PLAT.

The map given herewith and showing the town lots of the early

settlers of Newark is reproduced from the drawing prepared at
the time of the bi-centennial celebration of the settlement, in 1866,
by Samuel H. Conger and William A. Whitehead, for the New
Jersey Historical Society. It is believed to be practically letter
perfect.
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Southeast

Robert Treat.
Abraham Pierson.
Robert Denison.
Thomas Johnson.
George Day.
Nathaniel Wheeler.
Joseph Riggs.
William Camp. -
Martin Tichenor.
Stephen Freeman.
John Curtis.

- John Baldwin, sen’r.

Thomas Staples.
John Baldwin, jun’r.
Michael Tomkins.
Jogathan Tomkins.
aim Pennington.
Seth Tomkins.

The Tailor’s Lot.
Thomas Pierson, jun’r.
Samuel Harrison.
John Brown, jun'r.
Edward Riggs.

Hugh Roberts.

*Azariah Crane, Treat’s

son-in-law.

Northeast

Laurence Ward.
John Catlin.
Samuel Kitchell.
Josiah Ward.
John Rogers.
Robert Kitchell.
Jeremiah Peck.

G
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Southwest

Meeting House Lot.
Treat’s Recompense.
John Johnson.
Parsonage Home Lot.
John Brown, sen’r.
Stephen Bond.
Zachariah Burwell.
Ephraim Burwell.
Thomas Ludington.
John Brooks.
Thomas Lyon.
Joseph Johnson.
John Treat.

Samuel Lyon.
Henry Lyon.

Joseph Walters.
Samuel Camfield.
Robert Dalglesh.
Francis Lindsley.
Mathew Williams.

Northwest

Samuel Swaine.
Robert Harrison.
Edward Ball.

John Ward, sen’r.
. Matthew Camfield.
. John Gardner.

A
B
C.
D. John Morris.
B
F
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Northeast Northwest

Jasper Crane. Obadiah Bruen.
Thomas Pierson, sen’r. The Seaman’s Lot.
Benjamin Baldwin. Thomas Richards.
Thomas Ludington. John Harrison.
Alex. Munroe. Aaron Blatchly.
The Elder’s Lot. Stephen Davis.

.
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John Ward, jun'r. Samuel Plum.
Richard Laurence. John Crane.
Delivered Crane. Jonathan Sergeant.
Hans Albers. Robert Lymon.
Samuel Rose. John Davis.

The Miller’s Lot.
Samuel Dod.
Daniel Dod.

The Corn Mill,

<ERREONOZRr NumE

The above list shows all these to whom home lots were appor-
tioned from 1666 to 1680, inclusive. Many of the second generation
are represented, some of these indicated by “jun’r.”

Thomas Blacthly and Ebenezer Camfield did not have home
lots, if the old Minute Book correctly sets down the several holdings.
It is thought that Blacthly did not adhere to his original intention
of settling here.

Daniel Tichenor and Azariah Crane seem to have drawn their
home lots by proxy, as they did not become settlers until some time
later.

It is a noteworthy fact that a portion of at least one of these
home lots still remains (1913) in the hands of the descendants of
the founder. This is Lot No. 10, of the Branford group, located on
Washington street, west of Washington Park, and now occupied
by Marcus L. Ward (1913), who thus lives on the spot where his
ancestor, John Ward, senior, the first settler to hold the office of
sergeant in the military organization of the community, reared his
dwelling. The building of the Newark Young Women’s Christian
Association, by the way, which stands just south of the Ward
residence, is on a portion of the plot set aside by the founders as
“The Elder’s Lot,” but which was never assigned to an elder and
was disposed of in small plots to several different settlers.
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It will be noted that in the drawing many more highways
are given than the four original thoroughfares mentioned on a
preceding page in this chapter. These additions were made within
a few years after the settlement to meet the needs as they occurred.
It is interesting to note, too, that the line of the common fence
was practically parallel with the present Pennsylvania railroad
tracks, and but a few yards east of them. The home lots were
therefore confined within an area that may be closely described
as bounded on the east by the present line of the railroad and the
Passaic, on the south by Tichenor street and a single row of six
lots running south from Lincoln Park, on the west by High street,
and on the north by Second and Passaic rivers. It was but a modest
proportion of the entire vast tract, bought from the Indians, and
it left a magnificent area for growth.

THE FIRST PARTITION OF REAL ESTATE.

The regular and formal divisions of the land were: First, the
partition of home lots to the original first settlers or founders;
second, in February, 1667, the assignment by lot of “upland in the
neck,” meaning land east of the home lots, with a further partition
of marsh, spoken of as “meadow,” in January, 1669; third, in
February, 1670, a second division of salt meadow; fourth, May,
1673, a partition of upland, principally to the west and north of
the town proper. These allotments were virtually in three divisions
or ranges, for the third was but an additional assignment of meadow
land, a sub-division. The entire territory was divided into what
were called three “ranges”: the home lots, the marshes and the
remainder of the purchase from the natives. In the third division,
young men in the town who had already acquired home lots by
purchase or by assignment from relatives, were allowed to take
part. All these partitions were determined by lot, a new drawing
on each occasion. There was at least one other partial or minor
division. For instance, it was found after the first partition of
meadow, that there were thirty-one lots more than there were men
to draw. So a new drawing was held until the thirty-one parcels
had been disposed of.
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It was out of the land that the town raised its first common
fund, its treasury. Each and all of the settlers had to pay some-
thing for the lands they held as heads of families, and the common
fund thus accumulated was called “purchase money” since it was
used to defray the cost of the land as purchased from the Indians
and to defray what other common expenses there were, such as for
the transportation of Pastor Pierson and his goods from Connecti-
cut. From the time of Pastor Pierson’s arrival, his salary was a
fixed charge upon the town. The rate of payment was put in the
hands of a committee of seven, as follows: “Mr.” Robert Treat,
[Deacon] Ward, Samuel Swaine, “Mr.” Camfield, Michael Tompkins,
Richard Laurence and Joseph Walters, and five of whom shall have
power to act herein.” The settlers were allowed a generous period
in which to pay.

THE FIRST TAX BOARD.

To this committee fell one of the most important of all the
duties of the early settlers, the valuation of the property, the fixing
of the assets of every head of a family and freeholder. This was
done according to the following rule, as laid down at town meeting:

“And for their [the committee’s] Direction therein, the Town
saw cause to allow and pass upon every Head of a Family, or that
takes up Allotment in the Town, to be valued at £50, and for every
Child or Servant in the Family besides, Ten Pounds by the Head,
which shall be allowed as good Estate; and for all other kinds of
Goods and Estates, real and visible, that Men intend, God willing,
to transport on the Place, the Town wholly refers themselves and
the sole determination into their Hands, according to whose Judge-
ment it shall stand—which being done the Town saw Cause that
One Third Part of every Man’s Estate in generall through the whole
Town should be deducted, and according to the Remainder both the
Charges and Divisions of Land should be proportionated for this
year (1667).”

Your financial obligation in the settlement was thus regulated
by the value of your estate. In such fashion was the work laid out
for Newark’s first tax board. It is to be noted, too, that in that

day they did not see fit or proper to tax a man upon the full and

e

~ *Minute Book, page 7.
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true value of his estate, although, like all other Puritans they were
almost morbidly anxious to follow the dictates of their consciences
in all their dealings with God or man. It was a shrewd and sound
basis upon which to begin the actual construction of the community,
and it embodied some of the best principles made use of by the
Puritans throughout New England.

THE ORIGINAL RATINGS.

Fortunately we have preserved to us the actual list of ratings
made by this committee of seven, or “Sale Men,” as the old records
call them. It is spoken of as a “sure list of every man’s estate,”
and as it seems to have met with no objection on the part of
individuals, we are safe in believing that all felt that their valua-
tions were just and equitable. Opposite each man’s name was set
the value of his estate in pounds, and against that sum the two-
thirds upon which he was to be taxed. There are sixty-six names
in all, with many curious variations in spelling, leaving one to infer
that the men themselves did not always spell their names the same
way—which indeed was a fact with no less a personage than the
pastor, himself, who at times wrote “Peirson” and at others
“Pierson.” It is interesting to note also that ten of the sixty-six
are given the title of “Mr.”, one of honor and distinction; and
while some of those of the largest estates received it, some of
those with the least of this world’s goods enjoyed it also. Some of
those rated did not actually join the settlement, and a very few
did not sign the “fundamental agreements,” for reasons not
explained.

According to careful calculations® the pound in Colonial money
about the time of the settlement of Newark was about equivalent
to ten dollars of present money in purchasing power. Making use
of this unit, it is easy to convert the total valuation of each settler’s
estate into its present-money value, by simply adding one cipher,
and the reader may at the same time see what the estates were in
the original valuation by dropping it. The grand total is about
$176,000.

1 $ Made by F. 8. Crum, assistant statistician, Prudential Insurance Co.,
19
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VALUATION OF SETTLERS' ESTATES.

John Browne

Mr. Matthew Camfield
Stephen Davis
Nathaniel Wheeler
Thomas Luddington
Thomas Richards
Thomas Lyon
William Camp
Robert Denison
Thomas Johnson
Martin Tichenor
John Catling

John Bostick

John Ward, Jun.
Deliverance Crane
John Curtis

John Baldwin, Sen.
Joseph Walters
Micah Tompkins
Jonathan Tompkins
Ephraim Pennington
John Crane

Edward Ball

Ser. Richard Harrison
Lawrence Ward
Francis Linle

Mr. Jasper Crane

Mr. Abraham Peirson, Sen.

Hugh Roberts
Josiah Ward
Thomas Peirson
Mr. Robert Treat
Robert Limon
Samuel Plum

$3080
5000
2890
1860
1220
1100
6700
2200

2500

1000-1600

1900
1370
1800
2600
1660
1600
2500
1600
4000
3700
2100
5700
6440
4460
2500
2000
6600
2860
5000

Edward Riggs
Zachariah Burwell
Ephraim Burwell
George Day
John Brooks
John Harrison
John Rogers
Mr. Jeremiah Peck
Mr. Robert Kitchell }
Mr. Samuel Kitchell
Richard Lawrence
John Ward

added
John Baldwin, Junr.
Hauns Albers
Samuel Camfield
Samuel Rose
Mr. Obadiah Bruen
Mr. Morris
Robert Dalglesh
Aaron Blatchly
Stephen Freeman
Thomas Staples
Lieut. Samuel Swain
Thomas Huntington
Stephen Bond
Benjamin Baldwin
Alexander Munrow
John Browne, Junr.

$3200
1600
15600
1200
800
1200
35600
2000

7600

2730
3600

1460
1000
1740
2600
2000
3850
1670
1800
4400
15600

3500
1400
1200
1000
25600

Mr. Abraham Pierson, Junr. 3800

Daniel Dod
Jonathan Sergant
Samuel Lyon®

LATER ALLOTMENTS.

1500
1600
2250

While every settler, with the exception of Captain Treat, got
the same area for his home lot, all other divisions were made on
the basis of their ratings. In the second division, that of the

* Samue] Lyon’s actual estate is omitted from the old record, but as
his two-thirds is given it is practically certain that the whele was omitted

by error.
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“uplands in the neck,” Captain Treat asked that he be allotted a
considerable tract near his eight-acre home lot, and was unani-
mously granted this by the town meeting. The others received
three acres for every hundred pounds of their two-thirds rating.
This system of land apportionment prevailed in both the drawings
for meadow land, save that Captain Treat no longer received special
consideration.

But when it came to the drawing of upland, beyond and largely
to the westward of the town proper, it was decided that each free-
holder might, if he saw fit, take up sufficient property to make his
total landed estate one hundred acres. He could take it all in one
parcel, if he desired; but if he wished to have it in different
sections of the town’s lands, he was permitted to draw for but one
parcel at a time, waiting until everyone had had one drawing before
coming up for his second parcel, and so on. This prevented any
man who might be fortunate in getting a low number, from select-
ing several of the choicest spots. It was a veritable lottery, of
course, as we see it to-day, but it was the best system that they
could devise at the time and there was a strong savor of democracy
about it, nevertheless. It was the old Puritan method of fighting
monopoly.

The town’s first treasurer, Henry Lyon, was not appointed until
1668, to serve for a year, and at the same time Thomas Johnson
was chosen as rate or tax gatherer, the tax to be paid in half-yearly
payments, “in any current pay that will pass and is accepted
between man and man.” 2°

THE FIRST ASSESSMENT.

The first assessment was for two hundred and forty pounds,
eighty of this being the amount it was agreed, in 1668, should be
paid to Pastor Pierson for the previous year, 1667, and the
remainder, one hundred and sixty pounds, to defray the town’s
running expenses and to pay off part of the debt incurred in the
purchase of the land from the Indians. Deacon Laurence Ward

» Town Minute Book.
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and Mr. Samuel Kitchell were chosen, in September, 1668, to deter-
mine the charge upon each hundred acres of land so far taken up,
to meet the outlay of the £240. It was decided that the young
men should pay 12 shillings for each home lot that they acquired
and also a sum not mentioned in the Minute Book, for such cattle
and other livestock as they might possess, this money to go into
the £160 fund for paying the town charges as already described.
As for the young men’s part in the £80 for the minister, they were
to give what they could. From this it appears that the founders
had a rate of their own and that the younger men, in most cases
sons of the founders, were made to bear a lighter burden.

In 1669 an exhaustive system of rating, so as to derive the
minister’s stipend for the year, was drawn up. It is quaint and
most interesting: “For every male person, not freed or disabled
to a single rate, 1s. 4d. by the head, that is, 16 years and upward.
For every acre lying in the Home Lotts under fence, 3d. by the
acre; and for all other upland and meadow, lotted out and enclosed,
12d. by the acre. And for all horses and mares, 2d. by the head;
and for all yearling horses, 1d. And for all oxen of five years old
and upward at 6d. the head; and for all four-year-old steers at 5d.
the head; and for all three-year-old heffers at 3d. the head; and
two-year-olds at 2d. the head; and yearlings at 1d. And for all
cows of four years old and upward at 314 a head; and for all swine
of a year and upward at 1d. And for all vacant or deserted lotts
or lands * * * appropriated to the owners [who] dwell in
another town, they shall pay Mr. Pierson’s rate one-third as much
as they did for the purchase of their lands one-third.” 1* -

The pages of the old Minute Book are thickly dotted with the
individual transfers of land from one settler to another, and with
the occasional apportionment of a home lot to a newcomer. There
was much shifting about, and trading of portions of lots to adjust
party lines, etc. All these details had to be taken up at town
meeting and approved of before they became binding. Before any
lots could be assigned it was necessary to lay out the principal

1 Town Minute Book.

— - —— ————
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streets and in each subsequent lottery allowance had, of course, to
be made for any new highways. The town also reserved the right
to take ground from individual lots for drains or “gripes” and to
preserve the water courses, the town to give full and proper satis-
faction to each and every individual from whom it took land for
the common use. All whose home lots abutted upon the swamps
had to build their section of the common fence, a most important
item, since it was by means of this fence that the cattle were kept
from straying into the marshes and becoming lost. The building
of other lines of common fence was accomplished in the same
manner.

Another of the highly important early rules or ordinances,
fixed at the time of the settlement, was that a settler must live on
the land assigned him, with the greater part of his family, for
two years, before he could dispose of it. Thereafter, he must first
make a tender of sale to the town in general, and if the town
meeting did not wish to take over the property, he might sell it to
anyone whom the town might approve of. If the purchaser was
not approved, the sale was to be null and void and the land was
to be confiscated by the town, which was to pay a price fixed by
“indifferent” (unprejudiced) men.

Sergeant John Ward and John Curtis are the first surveyors
of highways of whom there is any record, although it is pretty
certain that they had either been hard at work before their formal
selection by town meeting in September, 1668, or others had done
some of the preliminary work in determining the location of the
main streets for which they are given no credit in the records. It
is highly probable that Robert Treat and Jasper Crane played an
important part in the administration of this land apportionment
system in the beginning. Ward and Curtis were given full power
to call upon the men of the community to do road work whenever
they found it necessary.
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CHAPTER VIIL

THE HOME BUILDERS—EARLY TOWN ORGANIZATION.
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held and they could not be certain of just where their holdings
would be located. By the summer of 1667 they were busy upon
their permanent dwellings. These were of logs, the frame being
often of oak, of which there was an abundance, while cedar, drawn
from the forest between the Hackensack and Passaic rivers, de-
scribed in the preceding chapter, furnished excellent material for
shingling. All the timbers were hand hewn, and not infrequently
with considerable skill, as inspection of surviving fragments made
by investigators many years ago, proved. Newarkers have been
skillful handicraftsmen from the very beginning. The first saw
mill, which stood on Mill Brook, was not erected until 1696, thirty
years after the settlement, and if boards were used before that
time they must have been brought either from New York or
Connecticut, as there is no record of a saw mill in Elizabeth prior
to the one in Newark. There was a saw pit here as early as 1672,
near the present site of the postoffice from which boards may have
been turned out, although not in any large quantity.

An excellent idea of how the English settlers began life in
East Jersey is to be gained from a letter written by one of
the original planters of Perth Amboy, in February, 1685, and we
may be reasonably sure that the first Newarkers proceeded in
much the same fashion:

“Upon the eighteenth day of November I and my servants
came here to the woods, and eight days thereafter my wife and
children came also. I put up a wigwam in twenty-four hours,
which served us until we put up a better house; which I made
twenty-four feet long and fifteen feet wide, containing a hall and
kitchen both in one, and a chamber and study [both in one, also,
no doubt], which we put up pretty well, (with pallisadoes on the
sides and shingles on the roof) against Yuill [Christmas] on which
day we entered home to it; and have been ever since, and still are,
busy with the fencing. So that I hope to have as much ground
cleared, fenced, ploughed and planted with Indian corn in the begin-
ning of May (which is the best time for planting it) as will maintain
my family the next year if it please God to prosper it. Robert
Fullerton and I are to join for a plough this spring, consisting of
four oxen and two horses. * * * I intend to build a better
house and larger, and to make a kitchen of this I am in.”*

! Whitehead’s “Early History of Perth Amboy,” p. 62.
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The process of early settlement was, therefore; first, the hut,
lean-to or wigwam. for the first pioneers; then the rough house for
the first reception of the women and children, followed with a
substantial and permanent homestead as soon as possible.

“A carpenter, with a man’s own servants builds a house,”
writes another East Jersey settler, about 1680. “They have all
the materials for nothing except the nails. The poorer sort set up
a house of two or three rooms after this manner: The walls are
of cloven timber about eight or ten inches broad, like planks, set
one end to the ground [which explains the word ‘pallisadoes’ used
in the previous letter and which means that the walls were like
thick fences, the hewn logs placed upright] and the other end nailed
to the raising, which they plaster within.” This, according to still
another writer of the period, was the style most commonly followed
throughout East Jersey.

The most pretentious houses in New Jersey during the first
quarter of a century after the beginning of the English settlements
were undoubtedly those erected for the Lords Proprietors in the
1680’s, at Perth Amboy, where it was proposed to establish a great
city. Indeed, for some years it was confidently believed that Perth
Amboy was destined to become the greatest seaport city on the
whole continent. These houses, according to one letter writer, “are
thirty feet long and sixteen feet wide; ten feet between joint and
joint; a double chimney, made with timber and clay, as the manner
of the country is to build.”

As a rule, the first houses in Newark, after the “wigwams”
of the first on the ground, had no cellars. An excavation large
and deep enough to receive the household’s supply of such vege-
tables as it was not advisable to store in the barns and other out-
houses, being deemed sufficient. Rough stone, practically unhewn
and drawn from the fields and woods, was used for foundations.
The huge heaps of oyster and clam shells left along the bay and
the sea shore by the Indians were levied upon in the making of lime
for the mortar. The timbers and beams were usually fastened
together with wooden pins made from the pin oak. Nails were
scarce and were hand wrought; they were used in Newark as early



122 HISTORY OF NEWARK

as 1668, however, as is proven by an item in the town Minute
Book for that year, which tells of the town selling to Henry Lyon
the home lot of John Gregory (probably the Gregory who accom-
panied Robert Treat on his first visit to this region to select the
town site, and who did not come here for the settlement) for ten
pounds, three pounds of which he was to pay in shingle nails, “as
soon as he can, or to do his True Endeavour to get them.”

It is possible that the town had a nail forge as early as 1669,
as an item in the Minute Book for that year directs that each
settler pay his assessment of nails for closing in the meeting house,
to “Brother John Brownes as soon as he can.” If the nails were.
really “made in Newark,” and not bought in New York (by barter
for farm products), we might date the first manufacturing done
in the community from three years after the settlement. Unfortu-
nately there is no full proof that the latter method of supplying
the nails was not used.

The first Newark houses, after the “wigwams” of the pioneers,
were for the most part of one story with an attic. A few were of
two stories at the front and one at the back. They had, many of
them, overhanging roofs. Sometimes the entire ground floor space
was taken up with a single room. Here was the huge fireplace
where the cooking was done and around which the family gathered
in the evening, retiring at night to the close quarters of the attic
and drawing the ladder up after them, the common custom among
pioneers throughout most of the American colonies.

The fireplaces could accommodate great logs and sometimes
these were hauled into the house by horses.? Newark’s settlers,
being most of them men of considerable means, for the period, no
doubt brought considerable furniture with them from Connecticut
which had originally come with them or their fathers from Eng-
land. There was much home-made furniture, of course, and one of
the most useful trees in the region was the bitter gum. As this
tree reaches a ripe age it rots at the centre. It was cut by hand
sawn into sections, the centre dug out and when plugged at one

* Wickes’ ‘“History of the Oranges,” p. 41.
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end these sections made excellent barrels, casks, dye-pots, etec.
Vessels of this sort may be seen at Washington’s headquarters in
Morristown, and a very few are still in the possession of private
families, heirlooms from their ancestors.

Seats, to be placed within the fireplaces, were always contrived,
and the ever-present dye-pot furnished one, the lid or cover being
the seat. The dyes were made from sumac and the bark of the
black oak and chestnut trees, while some dyes were brought from
New York in the very early days. These dyes were used for color-
ing the fabrics wrought by means of the spinning wheel and the
hand loom, the former being an indispensable article in every
settler’s living room. This room served as kitchen and dining room
as well. A few of the original planters possessed some silver for
table use; pewter plate and cups were quite common a little later.
Deacon Azariah Crane, son of Jasper, who died in 1730 at the age
of 83, gave in his will “to the Church of Christ in Newark afore-
said, my silver bowl, to be used for the service of God forever, in
the town of Newark aforesaid.” This bowl is carefully preserved
by the First Church to this day.

The settlers wore homespun, of necessity, and their descend-
ants did likewise for a hundred years and more. Their linen was
made from the flax (which they took good care to cultivate) by
their wives and daughters upon their spinning wheels. Their other
garments came from the wool of their sheep, which they brought
with them from Connecticut or purchased in New York, and of
which they had such generous flocks by 1704 that the town decided
to hire a shepherd, chosen by four sheepmasters who were also to
have general charge over the sheep, seeing to it that each planter
had his animals properly branded. This last was also the case
with all other domestic animals, since they grazed upon the common
lands largely. '

AN ALMOST IDEAL DEMOCRACY.

In some ways the town approached closely to the ideal democ-
racy for several decades. Not only were one’s taxes large or small
according to his estate (“rating’”), but the actual physical work
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required from him and his male dependents between the ages of
sixteen and sixty for the common benefit, was adjusted in the
same way. The greater his land estate, the more fences was he
required to erect, and the greater was his area of highway to
build. The able bodied men were all told off into what we would
call squads, and these were summoned on certain days to do their
quota of work. At one time it was in building the common fence,
at another the burning of the brushwood and the clearing of
undergrowth, at another the “stubbing of the highways” (clearing
the roads of vegetation of all sorts). Again it was the building
of ditches in the marshes.

HOW THEY DID THE TOWN'S WORK.

The following digest from the Minute Book for June, 1669,
explains the actual operation of the method employed in the ditch-
ing of the meadows, which was practically identical with the
system used in all other public works: “Every man is required
to work one day for each £200 of his [two-thirds] estate. Two
rods in length is to be taken for a day’s work. The planters are
divided into two companies, of which Sergeant Riggs is to com-
mand one and Sergeant Harrison the other, [they lived at opposite
ends of the town, north and south] and every man must set up
stakes marked with the first two letters of his name at each end
of his work, so that the Surveyor may know whether he has done
his part, and how he has done it. The men are to come out and
work in succession as they are called by their leaders, notice having
been given the day previous.” *

“Burning Day” was one of the great occasions of the year.
For the children it furnished gratifying diversion, no doubt. The
ridding of such cleared or sparsely covered land as was ready for
it of all growth was a very important business, of such grave
moment that the town appointed a special committee which
decided when it was to be done and in what neighborhoods, avoid-
ing dry spells of weather, when their infant settlement might have

s Stearn’s “History of the First Church,” p. 39. Note.
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been swept away by their own torches, and noting carefully the
direction of the wind so as not to endanger any building or planted
field. The day selected, every settler between the 16-60 age limit
was required to appear at beat of the drum, at the “common place
of meeting” previously assigned, “and then and there come to an
agreement with his neighbors as to the best manner of proceeding
for the best good of the town.” The torch must not be applied
until the sound of a general drumbeat proceeding from the lower
end of the town, at about Lincoln Park, up to the present Bridge
street neighborhood, gave the signal. It is to be regretted that more
details are not given in the Minute Book as to the precise method
of controlling the fire when once started, and of quenching it when
it had done the required work.

ON A MILITARY FOOTING—POTENCY OF THE DRUM.

Thomas Johnson was the town’s first regularly appointed
constable, selected in 1668, although there must have been very
little for this, Newark’s first police department, to attend to of the
nature attached to that function of government to-day. After
Captain Treat, he was one of the most efficient men among the
founders. His son Joseph was the first fown drummer. The town
paid his father, for him, eight shillings a year for drumming.
Joseph must have been kept quite busy, since the community was
summoned by drum-beat for every doing of common concern. The
drummer was a town officer and a person of considerable conse-
quence. The community was really under a sort of martial law,
with Captain Treat, two lieutenants, two sergeants, and later on
two ensigns, as the military heads, clothed with the town authority
to fine and to otherwise punish such as did not bend themselves
to the will of the town meeting; or to mete out such discipline
as was deemed by them proper until one or the other of the two
magistrates could act, or until another town meeting disposed of
the case.
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No one was asked to do more than his share (fixed according
to his rating), but that share he must render, or take the conse-
quences, which in that rigid Puritan company were not likely to
Dbe gentle. There is no record of severe physical punishments,
however. If there was a stocks or a whipping post, or both, the
planters took care to keep all hint of them from their records.
It is practically certain that such harsh disciplinary methods were
not required. The townsfolk dwelt together in peace and amity
for generations, correcting each other by means of fines, chiefly.

THE FIRST INN.

Newark’s first inn or tavern was kept by Thomas Johnson,
the constable. The job was first assigned to Henry Lyon, the town
treasurer, but he does not appear to have accepted it. All settlers
were prohibited from selling liquor but the innkeeper Johnson,
“except in cases of necessity and that by license from a magis-
trate,” says the old Minute Book.

Johnson is believed to have kept the tavern in his own home,
which was near the corner of Broad and the present Walnut street,
not far from, if not exactly on, the site of the present Grace Epis-
copal Church. The Minute Book calls the hostelry an “ordinary,”
using the expression of the day, and the prospective innkeeper
was directed (in 1668) to maintain it “for the entertainment of
travelers and strangers, and desired to prepare for it as soon as
he can.” The celerity sought may have been due to the fact that
the first Provincial Assembly had directed that all towns establish
“ordinaries,” it no doubt being the intention of the Lords Pro-
prietors to provide suitable accommodations for themselves, when
on their visits of inspection over their domain. Thus early did the
founders seek to control the sale of liquor. Any evil that might
result from it would, by their system, be directly traceable to Mine
Host Johnson’s door.

BUILDING THE CHURCH.
The first church building was begun in 1668. It was always
spoken of as the “meeting house,” with all of the good old demo-
cratic significance of the phrase. Its construction was arranged
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for at a town meeting in September,* two years after the settle-
ment, which no doubt indicates that the settlers were by that time
more or less comfortably housed. There is no doubt but what
church services were held in the homes of individuals from the
very first. All the details for the church building, its dimensions,

ete., are laid down with great particularity in the Town Minute
Book.®

THE CATTLE POUND AND ITS IMPORTANCE.

It is impressive to note that at the very next town meeting
the task of building of a cattle pound is taken up with fully as
much seriousness and with almost as much exactness of detail as
was required for the building of the church. It was located near
the Frog Pond, which means that it stood either on Market street,
east of Washington, or on the latter street near Market. Stephen
Bond was chosen at the same time as the first “common brander
in our town for all horses, according to our law for branding
settled in our Province; and also to keep the records for the same
for the year Insueing.” John Ward held the same office with
reference to cattle.

The pound was not completed until 1669, and we get a further
insight into the reason for the shrewd old Puritans’ apparent
anxiety to have it in commission as soon as possible (and it was
ready for use about as soon as the meeting house), from the fact
that the owners of stray cattle had to pay a fine into the town
treasury for each of their beasts impounded. It was one of the
few comparatively certain sources of revenue that the town
possessed, since the cattle were forever straying. The settlers
were even required to set up poles and bushes at the foot of their
meadow lots and in the water to prevent the swine from swimming
around them into the lower river or bay. The first poundkeeper
was Robert Denison, “and he is to have a penny by the head for

¢ See the chapters on Churches in the present work; also Stearn’s
‘“History of the First Church.”

s “Meeting house’” is an almost exact translation for ‘‘synagogue.”
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turning the key, or reception of any cattle trespassing, into the
said pound.” Poundage ran as high as five shilling per head, and
as low as a penny, ranging from unruly horses and cattle to the
shy and gentle sheep.

LADDERS FOR FIRE PROTECTION.

The wise old founders seem to have neglected no detail to
insure the comfort and safety of the people. In 1668, for instance,
the town directed that every man provide himself with a good
ladder, within two months, or pay a fine of five shillings, “and so
maintain the same under penalty of 1s. by the month.” Thus
were the first measures for protection against fire taken, for it
goes without saying that the ladders were needed for the common
safety against fire, as well as to safeguard the family against
prowling savages or more pronounced attacks, in conveying them-
selves to their attics and other places of vantage. They were also
essential in raising the roofs upon the framework of their buildings.

The first auditors of the treasurer’s accounts (1668) were
“Mr.” Camfield and Thomas Johnson, the constable and innkeeper.

THE FIRST COURTS.

The two town magistrates held court twice a year, in February
and September, “to hear and try all causes and actions that shall
be necessary and desired within our compass and according to our
articles [the “Fundamental Agreements”] ; and that the same shall
pass by a verdict of a jury of six men.” This practice was
inaugurated in 1668. A few years later courts were held quarterly.

PREPARING FOR COMMERCE,

It fell to the lot of John Rockwell to become the town’s first
boatman and to take up the lot set aside for this functionary, at
the river’s edge south from what is now Bridge street and six acres
in area, “upon consideration that he doth this very spring season
[1669] come and settle here in our town and maintain this or such
like sufficient boat for the use of the town or particular persons in
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thetown *-* -* 40 long asthe Lord shall’enable him thereto.”
Thus was the commerce- of Newark first provided for, and it may
be added that its shipping was highly subsidized, as it was agreed
that the town would “forbear him for some time the present rate
of purchase money,” for the land from the Indians. ’

THE TOWN'S MEN. -

Although the New England town meetmg form of govemment
was in operation even while the pioneer settlers were on their
vessels awaltmg the perfectmg of an agreement with the Indlans
in the spring of 1666 it was not until May, 1669 that the ﬁrst
body of selectmen, or as they were then called “towns men” or
“townsmen” were chosen. They were Matthew Camﬁeld Sergeant
John Ward, Richard Harrxson, Sergeant Edward Riggs and Robert
Denison. Their functions were those of a town executlve com-
mlttee, and their first duties were: to see that the meetmg house
was finished accordmg to the specifications, to supervise the fur-
ther erection of the common fence, the setting out of hlghways
in the fields, the herding of cattle, etc. The number of selectmen
was later increased to seven. This form of government continued
until 1736 when the township of Newark was organized, the town-
ship officers being created by law. There was no further material
change in the local government for the next hundred years, until
the city was organized, in 1836.

By 1669 the land in the lmmedlate centre of the territory
was quite well taken up, and the town decided to ask Captain
Treat to make a complete and exhaustive record of the entire
real property distribution, and the treasurer was directed to
procure him a suitable book in which to set it down. The book
disappeared ages ago, if, indeed, it was ever prepared. In the
same year the town meeting passed a rule definitely setting aside
the various “commons” as “not to be disposed of to any man’s
property, without the consent of every free-holder or received
inhabitant of the town.” These parcels included South or Lincoln
Park, Military Park (“that which lyeth in the middle street toward



130 HISTORY OF NEWARK

the landing place”) Washington Park, then the market place, and
the watering place, southeast of the present County Court House.

EARLY INDIFFERENCE A8 TO EXERCISING RIGHT OF SUFFRAGE.

Men were quite human in those days, as now. The settlers,
intensely concerned as they were in every step taken for the
upbuilding of the town, were many of them inclined to shirk
attendance at town meeting. We groan to-day at the indifference
of thousands to exercising their right of suffrage, but it is, indeed,
an ancient failing. In the “good old time” of 1671, the town
meeting of Newark voted that thereafter, until further order,
twenty freeholders, together with the clerk and one magistrate,
should constitute a quorum, with full powers. This, in effect,
notified the voters that if they did not care to attend meetings
things might be done of which they might not approve, but from
which they would have no redress. All this did not have the
desired effect and, in 1676, the town voted as follows: ‘“Town
meetings may be called by the town’s men, and 24 hours shall be
accounted legal warning. The drum is to be beaten twice in fair
weather; the first drum is to be beaten as far as Sergeant Harri-
son’s gate, and the second at the meeting house about half an
hour after, at which every planter shall be at the place of meeting
to answer to his name.” Joseph Johnson, the drummer, probably
started out thumping his drum from his father’s home at Broad
and Walnut streets. The half-hour interval between the first call
and what was the virtual call to order of the meeting is significant,
as it shows every settler was within easy half-hour walking dis-
tance of the meeting house. Johnson, the drummer, was 26 years
old at the time, and lived to be 83.

If anyone was tardy he was to be fined six-pence. If he was
absent half a day, the fine was fifteen shillings, while for a whole
day’s absence a half crown was the penalty. It did not at all
suffice to go to the meeting, answer to roll call and then go back
to your business, for a two-shilling fine was imposed if you left
before meeting was dismissed. If you were absent for any part
of the day you lost your vote, besides being fined.
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This seems to have had a tonic effect upon the attendance, for
three or four years; but it was found necessary to renew the
above rule in 1680, 1683 and in 1690, which was done each tiime
by a unanimous vote.

THE TOWN’S DEFENSIVE FORCE.

The first training day in Newark, of which there is any
record and which means the first mobilization of the community’s
defensive force, including all able-bodied men between the ages of
16 and 60, was held on June 5, 1671, five years after the settle-
ment. It took place in the rear of the church or meeting house,
and not upon Military Park or Common, which the settlers had
named the “training place,” although it manifestly had not been
cleared sufficiently to permit of its use for that purpose in 1671.
The order was for “every soldier to appear at the beat of the
drum, to show his arms and ammunition, and to spend that day
in exercising their arms, as they shall agree among themselves.”
The fine for absence was 2s. 6d. The soldiers thus assembled
were to divide themselves into squadrons, “for the carrying of
arms to meeting, and warding on the Lord’s days during the
time of publick exercise; which is the town’s mind and order, that
it be strikly observ’d and attended.” Captain Treat, who was
town clerk and recorder as well as commander-in-chief of the
military forces, probably put all the unction possible into the last
phrase, for it was without a doubt left to him to express the meet-
ing’s idea in his own language.

THE FIRST GRIST MILL.

After the meeting house was built, and the cattle pound
established, the founders turned their attention to the building
of a grist mill. At first no one was ready to volunteer for the
work and the town meeting formally asked Lieutenant Samuel
Swain, who was a millwright by trade, to submit a proposition.
It was agreed to pay him “twenty shillings by the week and three
pounds for his skill,” unless, as the Minute Book quaintly and
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shrewdly puts it, “he shall see cause to abate it, which, if he should
see cause to do, the town will take it thankfully.” He agreed to
“give his best advice about the building of the dam and leveling
the ground as the town shall need him,” and together with “Mr.”
Robert Treat, Henry Lyon, John Brown and Stephen Davis, the
town’s committee in the business, who were “to appoint and oversee
the work, and that, as near as they can, in an equal and propor-
tionate way, and to keep a clear and distinct account of each man’s
work and layings out about the work.” Thomas Pierson and
George Day were chosen to summon the men of the town to the
Mill Brook at the proper time, to do the actual work of construc-
tion. A committee was also appointed to search the country
'round for suitable mill-stones.

Despite all these preparations, the work lagged for a year.
The settlers were busy getting their own homesteads in order.
They were practically all farmers and it was not easy for them
to leave the fields at the beck and call of the committees, without
great personal sacrifice. So it was arranged that Captain Treat
and Sergeant Richard Harrison should construct the mill and its
equipment and supply a miller who should “grind all the town’s
grist into good meal.” Treat and Richards were to have exclusive
rights to all mill privileges on the brook, with the guarantee of
having all the town’s grist to grind. The town was to aid them
by giving them thirty pounds value in goods, sole possession of
all timber and other material already prepared for the mill, and
“two days’ work of every man and woman that holds an allotment
in the town.” What the women lot owners did in the building of
the mill does not appear; they probably hired men to do their
share.

ROBERT TREAT'S LAST IMPORTANT SERVICE.

Captain Treat never failed the founders when they called on
him, and it usually was his lot to unravel their hardest problems.
Under his direction the mill soon became a reality. It was ready
for business some time in the summer of 1671, as the following
item in the Minute Book goes to show: “It is agreed that the 2d
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day of the week and the 6th day of the same week and the next
days if the town need and the work can not be well done on those
days that are appointed and agreed upon by the Town Meeting
and the owners of the Mill to be their grinding days, upon which
days the Miller is to attend his grinding and the town are to bring
their grists, and the Miller promiseth to do his * * * as for
himself, secure the same [from damage or other loss] until it be
inclosed and under lock and key.”

The mill remained the property of Treat and Harrison for
thirteen years, until 1684. Then, with the consent of the town, the
property was conveyed to three sons of Sergeant Harrison, Samuel,
Joseph and George, the father having bought Treat’s interest.
Captain Treat had long before this sale returned to Connecticut
to grapple with far greater problems than the building of mills.

This mill was probably the “corn mill,” for which a lot was
set aside on the Mill Brook, at the junction of High and Clay
streets. The Miller’s lot, on which he had his home, was on the
southwest corner of Broad and Clay streets. Two other mills were
built later, in the neighborhood. It is significant that Azariah
Bush [probably Beech], who was received in the town as a boat-
man, a little later than John Rockwell, was assigned a home lot
close to that of the miller, as it was the intention, probably, that
he should transport such grains as were intended for shipment,
to New York, Elizabethtown or elsewhere, in his boat.

Within a year after the completion of the mill, Robert Treat
bade farewell to Newark and returned to Connecticut, in 1672, so
that its erection stands as his last conspicuous service to the
community. No mention is .made in the town records of his
departure, although it is probable that the records of the First
Church, which were destroyed during the War for Independence,
no doubt contained some account of his formal leave-taking. If
he ever again saw the little community for whose existence he
was to so large a degree responsible, history does not disclose the
fact. It is quite probable that he expected to return, since he
was not formally dismissed from the Newark church until several



134 HISTORY OF NEWARK

years after his departure. Just why he went, too, will probably
never be known. One belief is that he was urged by persons high
in power in Connecticut to give that colony his aid in meeting the
difficulties consequent upon the rapidly growing unrest among the
Indians and which was presently to culminate in the sanguinary
King Philip’s War; but no substantial proof of this is so far forth-
coming. Certain it is, however, that he was almost immediately
given one of the most responsible posts in the military organiza-
tion of the Connecticut colony and from that time on was never
free from the gravest responsibilities of state for many years.

Jasper Crane now became the leading citizen, and Lieutenants
Samuel Swain and Thomas Johnson were, in August, 1673, named
for the posts of captain, the intent of the town being apparently
to have two thereafter, possibly because of there being no one man
among them who could fill the place of Captain Treat, and partly
perhaps because of the increasing fear of an Indian uprising in
this section of New Jersey. Sergeant John Ward and Josiah Ward
were nominated for lieutenants, at the same time, and Sergeant
Richard Harrison and Samuel Harrison were named for ensigns.
All were confirmed in office, as the Minute Book subsequently
refers to them with their new titles.

APPREHENSION OF WAR.

While there was very little fear that the New Jersey savages,
the Lenni Lenape, who were the friends and allies of the settlers,
would become involved in the war now about to begin in New
England, the white men knew the volatile nature of their dark-
skinned neighbors, and they had some reasons for believing also
that the fierce tribes in the wilds of Pennsylvania might sweep
across the country, spreading terror and ruin. For September,
1673, we find this in the Minute Book: “It was also by the Magis-
trate’s order published, that in consideration of the present danger
and fear of what may further ensue, we do therefore require that
every man in our town under sixty and above sixteen years of age,
shall meet together with their arms well fixed, upon eight of the
clock, on the first day of October, which is this day Sennight,



HISTORY OF NEWARK 186

upon the penalty of five shillings. The ammunition for each man
to bring with him being half a pound of powder and twelve bullets
fit for his gun, or two pounds of pistol bullets, and upon that day
the soldiers shall chuse the rest of their officers.” The sum of
thirty pounds was, a few days later, at another town meeting, set
aside to meet public expenses, no doubt an emergency fund. For
the town to hold town meetings within a week or so of each other
was most extraordinary. Clearly, Newark was preparing for war.

FORTIFYING THE CHURCH.

In the summer of August, 1675, while the church was being
repaired and strengthened, partly as a stronger citadel of defense,
no doubt, the twelve men detailed each day to give that period to
this work were directed to bring their arms with them.

The fortifying of the church or meeting house consisted of
lathing the interior and filling in part of the space between this
and the outer wall with thin stone. Flankers, or little towers, were
constructed at diagonally opposite corners of the structure, in
which men were to stand ward, while the others were at divine
service, or town meeting within. Palisades or stockades were also
constructed, but whether these were made to surround the entire
structure, or simply placed around the flankers, the Minute Book
does not make clear. The cattle that were accustomed to range
on the meadows during the open season were brought in earlier in
this particular year. The strengthening of the settlement’s forti-
fication continued for months thereafter. Early in 1676, the town
ordered: “John Ward is chosen to procure a Barrel of Powder,
and Lead answerable to it, as reasonably as he can, for the town’s
use; provided that the town pay him at once, within this week, in
corn, fowls and eggs, or any way to satisfy him.” Pastor Pierson,
who was ordinarily exempt from most taxes, was specifically
informed that he must pay his share, as this was evidently deemed
a time of great public emergency.®

* The settlers were occasionally prodded by the Governor and Assembly
to organize for defense, and Newark’s alertness in this regard was no doubt
in some measure due to this inspiration.
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.. 'The possihility.of war quickened the settlers along many lines.
They now.proceed, in 1676, to. provide for. the laying out of -a
highway .and a landing .place by the.river. The .highway was
prabably Centre street and.the landing place was close.to the very
spot where the rapid. transit .railroad bridge now crosses the
Passaic, and where the.old Centre street. bridge stood. .This gave
‘the. people in the centre of the town the shortest and easiest access
to.and from the river. .A.line of retreat was thus prepared; and
it was good generalship, even though, as we well know now, there
was to be no war. Before the year 1676 was very far advanced,
the. war scare subsided. .

EARLY PROTECTION OF SHADE TREES.

‘At the end of the first ten years Newark was beginning to
take definite physical form; the people were becoming alert to
improve its general appearance. Now began to appear the pretty
little village that was to be the admiration of all travelers a little
later. = “The town,” says the Minute Book, “seeing some trees
‘spoiled’ in the streets by barking, or otherwise; the towr hath
agreed, that no green tree within the town as is marked with N.
[for ‘Newark] shall be barked or felled, or any otherwise killed,
under the penalty of ten shillings so killed.” The town’s men are
chosen to mark such trees as are convenient for shade in'the town
stréets.” "Here we have Newark’s first Shade Tree Commission
work. ’ ‘ : ' ‘

" At about the same time, children above the age of fourteen
were authorized to bring in stray cattle to the pound. In this
year, 1676, the town laid its plans and apparently started its first
school. ‘John Catlin, one of the founders, was active in this work
and is believed to have taught it. The settlers had ¢onquered the
soil; they now knew their town-building was a success, and they
. proceeded to make it a more comfortable abiding place.

QUARANTINE AGAINST NEW YORK SMALL-POX.
In 1678, the community took the first steps in its history to
conserve the general health, There was in that year an epidemic
of small-pox in New York. A special town meeting was called in
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Newark and this edict adopted: ‘Upon.a.report.that many are
sick of the pox in New York, it is thought fit to. prohibit. persons
from going thither upon every .small occasion as farmerly. The
town has therefore chosen as a committee [its first .Board .of
Health] Mr. Ward, Mr. Johnson, Mr. Swaine, Deacon Lawrence and
Sarj’t Harrison, to whom persons shall repair for Liberty;.and.this
committee or any three of them to consider whether persons’ ocea-
sions are of urgent necessity, and as they. find, to._give Liberty.or
prohibit. If any person or persons shall. presume to.go without
approbation from some one of .these three, shall. forfelt the. sum
of 20s., to be distrained hy the Constable.”. . ... ... .. ..

The community, as has-been said- on- a- preeedmg pege, was
under a kind of martial law for a long time after the settlement;
indeed, it was little short of imperative that it should be, and it
is because of this swift-moving and.abselute power of the.people
that the foundations were laid so quickly and so well. ., The above
paragraph from the old records is illuminating, for it shows. us
that the habit of “running over” to New York was laid at the very
beginning of things in Newark.

THE NIGHT WATCH.

" The town became a little disturbed over another rumor of an
Indian uprising in 1679, and the martial side of its government
was quick to act, the town meeting adopting the following: “For
the better security of the town 1t is agreed to have a watch kept
in this town, three in a night, at some house appomted by the
serjents, and one of the three to stand Centry, one at one time
and another at another; and at the break of day or thereabouts
all three of them to be walking, that if there be Danger it may
be timely discovered and prevented, and about half a hour after
Daybreak to call the Drummer, and he is to beat the drum. It is
- also agreed that one-fourth part _of the town at a time, and so
taking their turns, shall carry arms to meeting on the Lord’s Day,
and two to ward and one to stand Centry,” .
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Some months later a call to arms was devised as follows: “It
is agreed that the Drum, being begun to be beaten at Joseph Rigg’s
gate [on what is now Clinton avenue nearly opposite the end of
High street], and so all the way up the street as far as Sam’l
Harrison’s gate [just north of Military Park], and at the ceasing
of the beating of the drum three guns being distinctly fired of [f]
—it shall be sufficient warning for all as are in the Military list,
forthwith to meet at the Meeting House in their Arms.”

This seems to have been the last Indian excitement which
Newark had to pass through. In 1680, the Assembly directed
that each community fortify itself against the Indians, but Newark
had already taken all necessary precautions.

A TANNERY IN 1678.

The first shoemaker to reside permanently apparently arrived
in June, 1680, for the town then announced that it was “willing
Samuel Whitehead should come and inhabit among us, provided
he will supply the Town with shoes, tho’ for the present we know
not of any place of land convenient.” The town was now pretty
well supplied with manufacturers to fill its modest needs, and in
its desire to foster the industries thus early we see the infant
settlement laying the foundations for Newark’s industrial great-
ness. It had been tanning hides and making leather since 1676,
if not before. Deacon Lawrence was chosen the first sealer of
leather, under an act of the Assembly which also provided for
the appointment of a meat packer, Joseph Walters, being the first
to hold that office in Newark.

KEEPING OUT STRANGERS.

When the town was less than fifteen years old, its leading
men began to fear that strangers would get in, somehow, and
remain. They were still striving to preserve their Puritan the-
ocracy and they viewed the possibility of those of other ways of
thinking and living getting a foothold among them, with genuine
alarm. In 1680 it was decided by solemn vote of the town: *“To



HISTORY OF NEWARK 139

prevent Sundry inconveniences which may grow to this town of
Newark, by the inconsiderate receiving and entertaining of
strangers amongst us—it is voted, that henceforward no planter
belonging to us or within our bounds or limits, receive or entertain
any man or woman of what age or quality soever, coming or
resorting to us, to settle upon the land; nor shall any person that
hath been or shall be received as a planter among us, by right of
inheritance or otherwise, sell, give, or in any way alienate, or pass
over, lease or lett, any house, or house lot, or any part or parcel
of any of them, or any land of what kind or quality soever, to any
such person. Nor shall any planter or inheritor permit any such
person or persons so coming or resorting, to stay or abide above
one month, without license from those the town shall appoint for
the purpose, under the penalty of five pounds for every such defect;
besides all damages that may grow up by such entertainments.”
Nothing could be more rigid than the above ordinance, and the old
fellows meant it, every word of it. It was evidently drawn up
with great care and with supreme exactitude, and there was some-
thing more than religious intolerance behind it. The town wanted
no drones or persons of questionable reputation to pervert the
youth, or spread discord.

CURING FRIVOLITY AND DISORDER.

The town fathers were also at this time troubled over certain
frivolous tendencies among the youth of the town, and the town
meeting, in 1681, ruled that no family should harbour or entertain
any person or persons in their homes after 9 o’clock at night, or
at other unseasonable times (extraordinary occasions excepted) ;
nor shall they suffer them disorderly to meet at any place within
their power to spend their time, money, or provisions inordinately,
in drinking, gaming, or such like; nor shall they suffer any carriage,
conference or council, which tends to corrupt one another. All
such persons so transgressing shall be liable to such fines the
authority shall see fit. Truly, they were sorely worried for the
preservation of their precious Puritan ideals.
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In 1686 it was decided to devise a more systematic and expedi-
tious way of conducting the town’s business. Four regular town
meetings a year were fixed: For January, April, July and October,
the taxes to be fixed at the last meeting of the year. Notice of
the meetings was to be fastened to the meeting house door ten or
twelve days in advance. The meetings were to begin at 10 in the
morning, and if ten or-twelve freeholders, together with the clerk,
were present, they were authorized to transact all the town’s busi-
ness. Special meetings might be called, if necessary. This meant
that the people had found it impossible to get anything like a
large proportion of the freeholders to attend the meetings, and
some plan like the above had to be evolved. This quarterly town-
meeting system prevailed after the War for Independence, with
little variation.

PASSING OF THE FIRST ‘GENERATION.

By the time the first generation of the founders began to
relinquish the control of things to their sons, and the little church-
yard on the edges of the Frog Pond had received all that was
mortal of these patriarchs, most of whom were well advanced in
years when the settlement was started, Newark had a population
of about five hundred persons (in 1668). It was compactly built.?
It occupied about ten thousand acres, and the various plantations
that had been set close to its borders covered some forty thousand
acres more. These last included the estates on the east bank of
the Passaic and along the Hackensack, established by the Sand-
ford, Kingsland, Berry, Pinhorne and other families who were
reckoned as coming under the jurisdiction of the town.

' Whitehead’s ‘“East Jersey Under the Proprietors,” pp. 123, 124.
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CHAPTER VIIL

THE Lorps PROPRIETORS VERSUS THE PROPLE. 1668-1702.

HE solemn promise of the Lords Proprietors, in the original

“Concessions” ! of an annual Assembly, was one of the

strongest attractions set forth in that document, to the
settlers of Newark, Elizabethtown, Woodbridge, and the other
groups of English-speaking people, who responded to the Proprie-
tors’ call for settlers. It is doubtful, at least, whether the Newark
founders would have come into New Jersey at all had it not been
for this safeguard of their rights, where they might state their
grievances, and demand redress. The struggle for independence
virtually began with the very first session of the Assembly in
New Jersey, and continued with little cessation down to the very
opening of the actual physical conflict in 1776. The student of
the history of this State may trace its growing strength with
clearness for more than a century, until the question was settled
by force of arms. It is not within the bounds of this work teo
follow it slowly, but to outline the forceful part taken by the
people of Newark in the leading features of the struggle.

NEW JERSEY'S FIRST ASSEMBLY.

The first Assembly ever gathered in New Jersey was called
to order by Governor Carteret on May 26, 1668, at Elizabethtown,
when the representatives of the people from the six communities
so far established, sat down together with the Governor and his
Council. Thus began the actual organization of what is now the
State. This Assembly was organized fifteen years before that in
New York was formed, with Pennsylvania a still unbroken wilder-

' A written constitution for the government of the new Colony, one of
the very first in all America. It went far beyond the Dutch ‘““Charter of
Liberties’’ granted in 1629. 8ee ‘‘The Discovery and Early History of
New Jersey,” by William Nelson, 1912, pp. 33, 34. See also Chapter III
of this work.
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ness and Philadelphia unthought of. The pioneer assemblymen
were, as the old records of the Lards Proprietors show: “Burgesses
—For Bergen, Gasper Steenmetts and Balthazar Bayard; for
Newark o1t thé ‘Pishawack River, Captain- Robert Treat and Samuel
Swarne [Swain] ; * for Elizabethtown, John Ogden, sen’r, and John
Brackett; for Woodbridge, John Bishop and Robert Dennis; for
Middletown, James Grover and John Boune, and the last consented
aIso to represent Shrewsbury "’ These men represented something
like two thousand seftlers. The total white population of New
Jersey at that time, including outlying and unrepresented groups,
could scarcely have exceeded three thousand.

The Assembly contmued for four days and during that time
1t passed a number of laws strongly flavored with Puritanism,
since alI the settlements except the ancient Dutch community of-
Bergen were made up very largely of New England and Long
Island ‘members of thls sect. The first tax was then levied, for
thirty pounds, to mamtam the new govemment and as eéach of
the le commumtles was ordered to pay five _pounds to make up
the total it would appear that the population was about the same
in each. The Assembly adjourned to meet the following November,
but discord had already begun; the Assembly and the Governor’s
Council, the commons and the aristocracy, who were to wrestle.
throughout the long and weary years until the very eve of the
War for Independence, now began their contentions. The second
session, like .its. predecessor, closed in four days, but this time with
affairs all awry, and for seven years there were no regular sessions,
of which there is reliable record, although the representatives of
the people gathered in assembly two or three times to arrange for
their common safety, without the sanction of the Governor and
his Counecil.

. FIGHT AGAINST QUIT-RENTS BEGUN.

The first real crisis came when the Governor announced that
the first payment of quit-rents would be due on March 25, 1670.

* Swain had been named as the ‘‘third man,” and he acted in the place
of Jasper Crane, whom the people had chosen to serve with Treat, but who
was absent from that historic gathering,
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This stirred the colonists to a high state of excitement. It will
be remembered that the Newark settlers in their earlier interviews
with Governor Carteret had striven to have the quit-rent clause in
the “Concessions” abrogated and how the latter had declared that
he might concede almost anything else but the annual half-penny
for each acre, which was a just and proper obligation and must
be paid. The enforcement of this clause brought on a storm
gingularly similar to that caused by the Stamp Act a century later.
The men of Newark and all the other settlements, with the possible
exception of Bergen, considered that in their payments to the
Indians they had discharged all their obligations to both God and
man for the land. Their titles thus obtained, they contended, were
held by them as a divine right. In the case of those settlements
that had received formal grants of their land from Governor
Nicholls of New York previous to Carteret’s arrival, it was held
by the people that these grants gave additional force to the titles
obtained from the Indians. There was great confusion at this time
and Newark, in 1668, sent Captain Treat and Jasper Crane to
New York “to advise with Colonel Lovelace [Governor Nicholls’
successor] concerning our standing, whether we are designed to
be a part of the Duke’s [Duke of York’s] colony or no.” *

Governor Carteret strove to adjust these difficulties, but as he
and his Council had already aroused the well-founded suspicion
that they were engaged in a systematic campaign to evade grant-
ing the liberties (promised in the “Concessions”) by means of
Assembly, his efforts were of little avail. So the settlements, with
Newark among the foremost, openly and boldly defied the consti-
tuted authorities with quite as much courage as did their descend-
ants in 1776, although not resorting to force of arms. Almost
simultaneously with the demand for the payment of quit-rents,
the Governor declared that no person should be accounted a free-
holder thereafter, or have a vote in any election until he should have
obtained a patent for his land.

* Town Minute Book.
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BOLD OPPOSITION TO GOVERNOR CARTERET.

A condition little short of anarchy now prevailed. The men
of Newark, Elizabethtown and one or two other places elected
delegates to an Assembly, in 1672, without the sanction of the
Governor and Council and which sat in March and later in May,
1672. As the Governor refused to recognize this body, the mem-
bers took advantage of a certain clause in the “Concessions” and
appointed a “President of the Country” in the “absence” of the
Governor, who should serve until the latter’s “return.” This was
nothing short of insurrection. The insurgents chose as President,
James Carteret, a son of Lord Carteret, who happened to be in
the Province at the time and who said he had authority to assume
supreme charge from this father, and to oust the Governor if he
thought necessary; but he never produced his credentials. About
this time, Governor Philip Carteret sailed for England to obtain
support from the Lords Proprietors. The insurgents seized upon
officers of the government and cast them into prison.

James Carteret left the Province after about a year. He was
a man of no particular force and the only reason the settlers
could have had for selecting him as their ‘“President” must have
been his blood relationship to one of the Lords Proprietors.

PROPRIETORS UPHOLD GOVERNOR.

The Lords Proprietors supported Governor Carteret and
insisted that his authority should be obeyed by the colonists.
They refused to abate the quit-rents, and gave orders that all
arrears must be paid in three years from 1673, together with
such quit-rents as should accrue during those years. I{ was a
hard blow to the people, but most of them submitted after a time,
and for longer or shorter periods.

NEWARK'’S FIRM STAND.

The people of Newark offered their quit-rent in wheat instead
of “lawful money” specified in the ‘“Concessions.” The wheat was
refused, and thereafter the people of Newark were more or less
closely allied with the anti-quit-rent party. Twice they deliber-
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ated with the other settlements with a view to sending representa-
tives to England to present their side of the controversy upon the
matter of quit-rents and upon many other grievances which the
old records do not enumerate. The measures taken by the people
of Newark at this time, described in the previous chapter, to
fortify the town, were in all probability actuated not alone as a
protection against the Indians, but as a means of defense against
any demonstration that the Governor and his Council, in those
troublous days, might see fit to make. There is no specific author-
ity in history for this opinion, but the indignation of the people
against the government make this view not only possible but highly
probable.
THE DUTCH RECONQUEST, 1673.

The mission to England on the part of Newark and the other
towns would in all likelihood have been carried out, had not the
Dutch descended upon New York, in July, 1673, and, with a large
fleet, ousted the English government’s representatives and taken
possession of the entire region, in much the summary manner
pursued by the English in 1664. They promised not to dislodge
the English settlers, however, and their demands for allegiance to
the authority of the Netherlands were met with prompt acquiesence
on the part of the people of Newark and elsewhere. The settlers’
willingness to turn their backs upon the mother country and
submit to the authority of her enemy is not hard to explain, for
they were little short of desperate over what they considered the
oppression of the Lords Proprietors’ administration and saw in the
new order of things a fair opportunity to get their rights and
to permission to return to a comparatively untroubled and untram-
meled existence.

The Dutch agreed to give the settlers full confirmation to
their lands, and the Newark settlers at once entered into negotia-
tions to that end. Officers of the Dutch were sent to Newark to
see that all the freeholders, individually, took the oath of allegiance,
and there is no evidence that anyone declined to do this.* The

¢ See Whitehead’s ‘“East Jersey Under the Proprietors,” p. 77.
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new rulers mapped out a somewhat new form of government, a
code, which was tolerant and kindly and seemed to meet with
general approval. But it had not been brought down to smooth
working order before the Dutch and the English accomplished a
peace, and New Jersey and New York returned to English domina-
tion, in February, 1674. Governor Philip Carteret returned to
power in New Jersey and Andros became governor of New York.

ENGLISH AUTHORITY RESTORED, 1674.

Here was the Duke of York’s opportunity to take back from
the Lords Proprietors all this splendid territory we now call New
Jersey. While there are good reasons to believe that he regretted
having given it away in the first place, he now neglected to keep
it, even though by the chances of war it had been returned to him.
Political reasons probably prevented his retaining it.

Lord Carteret received renewed titles to land from the Duke
of York in July, 1674, and with quite as much authority as in the
first instance. But this time his holding was limited to approxi-
mately the upper half of the Province, Lord Berkeley definitely
receiving the lower half for his portion. Carteret was recommis-
sioned July 31, 1674.

He now came out with an “explanation” of the “Concessions”;
that is, a “declaration of their true intent and meaning.” This
“explanation” was a more or less drastic abridgment of the original
broad and progressive document which had brought the first
English settlers here. The people, for instance, were now specifi-
cally to take out patents for their land from the Surveyor General.
There was deep protest against this in Newark, for the settlers
felt, as in the matter of quit-rents, that they had discharged all
their obligations for the purchases of the land. Many of them,
however, took out the patents at once, paying the necessary
charges. There are numerous references in Newark’s old Minute
Book to the survey of the lands by the Surveyor General of the
Province during the second decade of the town’s history.
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Soon after Governor Carteret resumed authority, a law was
passed fixing the pay of each member of the Assembly and of
the Governor’s Council at three shillings a day for every day that
the Assembly and Council sat, and four shillings for the Governor.
One of the many quaint enactments of the Assembly at that time
was to the effect that propagators of false news were to be fined
ten shillings, and those guilty of slander were to be penalized in
the same amount. For the second offense the fine was to be
doubled, to twenty shillings.

ATTEMPT TO ABSORB NEW JERSEY IN NEW YORK.

From almost the very day that Philip Carteret resumed his
office, Andros, Governor of New York, began to manifest an undue
interest in the affairs of New Jersey. A well-founded apprehension
spread through New Jersey that Andros was seeking to absorb
that Province in New York, and that he was inspired to that end
by James, Duke of York. In 1680 Lord George Carteret died,
and left his estate in the hands of his widow Elizabeth (for whom
Elizabethtown had been named). She continued his representative
for more than a year, Philip Carteret remaining Governor. Andros
now became more meddlesome. On March, 1680, he issued a decree
abrogating the government of New Jersey by the Carteret regime,
claiming that he had the authority of the King of England for this
step, and calling upon the people to submit to his jurisdiction.

The people of New Jersey promptly resented Andros’s high-
handed procedure, and the inhabitants of Newark showed their
temper in a resolution set down in the Minute Book to the effect
that: “The town being met together, giving their positive answer
to the Governor of York’s writ, that they have taken the oath of
allegiance to the King and fidelity to the present government,
and until we have sufficient order from his Majesty we will stand
by the same.” This was a defiance of Andros, and equivalent to a
declaration that the freeholders of Newark questioned that Andros
was clothed with the authority he claimed. These were strenuous
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times for the young settlement, and its fathers demonstrated time
and again that they were quite able to meet each emergency as
it arose with courage, foresight and wisdom.

Presently, early in April, 1680, it was reported throughout the
settlements that Andros was about to move upon their Province
and to wrest Governor Philip Carteret’s authority from him by
force.. Men were summoned to resist this usurper and about one *
hundred and fifty, fully armed, were gathered at Elizabethtown.
That Newark sent her share of this, the first draft upon it for
fighting men, is certain. Andros appeared, but without show of
arms. He presented his ultimatum to Carteret, and presently
departed. The Jerseymen remained defiant and refused to yield
an inch, and a fortnight or so later, a party of Andros’s soldiers
from New York came to Elizabethtown in the night (April 30,
1680) and, dragging Governor Carteret from his bed, took him to
New York, where he was locked up and so remained for some
weeks, until his trial, before judges and jury, with Andros as
chief officer of the court. Two or three times the jury reported
a verdict of “not guilty” and each time Andros ordered it to retire
and prepare a new verdict. But the jury was courageous and
refused to bend to the irascible governor’s will. Carteret was finally
released from prison, the court having decided that he should nof
resume authority over New Jersey until official instructions had
been received from England.

BRAVE DEFIANCE OF ANDROS BY THE PEOPLE.

Andros was not slow to see his chance to push his purpose at
this juncture, and on June 2 he appeared before the Assembly at
Elizabethtown and advised that body to adopt the laws of the
Province of New York as those of New Jersey. But the members
bravely stood for their rights and refused to be awed by his
letters patent from the King. They answered Andros in a written
statement of their position, concluding with, “for the great
charter of England, alias Magna Charta, is the only rule, privilege
and joint safety of every freeborn English man.”
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This was a dramatic moment in New Jersey’s history. Newark
may glory in the fact that she had two stalwart representatives
in that Assembly, Thomas Johnson and John Curtis.

Andros returned to New York, having failed in his purpose
of intimidation. Many months later, Carteret, who appears to
have remained in the Province awaiting the decision of the Crown,
announced, in March, 1681, his receipt of advices, that the Duke
of York had wholly discredited Andros, and protesting in unequivo-
cal language that he had never authorized that worthy to act for
him in the affairs of New Jersey. Carteret at once resumed the
reins of government.®

EAST JERSEY UNDER TWENTY-FOUR PROPRIETORS.

On the death of Lord Carteret his share in New Jersey was
offered for sale, and in 1681 was purchased by William Penn and
eleven others, for £3,400. These twelve presently sold, each one-
half of his share, to another, so that the upper half of the Province
came under the dominion of twenty-four proprietors.

Lord Berkeley had not from the beginning taken an active
part in the development of the Province. He had fallen into
disgrace with the English court because of charges of corruption.
He tried more than once to rid himself of his holdings in
America, and in March, 1678, disposed of his share of New Jersey to
two Quakers, John Fenwick and Edward Byllinge. The price paid
was £1,000.* They desired the section they purchased, West Jersey,
as a retreat for the people of their sect from oppression in England.
William Penn was deeply interested in their action. The transfer
from Berkeley to the two Quakers occurred just before the Dutch
conquest, but it was reaffirmed by the Crown after the return to
English domination.

5 See Whitehead’s “East Jersey Under the Proprietors,” pp. 89-98.
¢ 8ee Mulford’s “History of New Jersey,” pp. 165, 164.
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EAST JERSEY’S POPULATION OVER 6,000 IN 1681,

East Jersey, at the purchase by the twenty-four proprietors,
had a population of more than 5,000, two-thirds of whom lived in
the towns of Newark, Elizabethtown, Middletown, Piscataway,
Woodbridge and Shrewsbury. The capital was established at
Perth Amboy and elaborate plans were made for the upbuilding
of a great and powerful city, which were never realized. Govern-
ment of West Jersey under the Lords Proprietors was much less
difficult to administer than in East Jersey. In the former the
population was comparatively homogeneous, being composed largely
of Quakers and practically all coming direct from England. In East
Jersey there were clashing elements—the New England Puritans,
the original Dutch settlers with occasional small accessions, chiefly
from New York; some Quakers and Baptists, and after the acces-
sion of the twenty-four proprietors, many Scotch and English
immigrants.” The latter were for the most part Presbyterians,
while there was a sprinkling of Church of England communicants.

KING JAMES' LAST EFFORT TO RECOVER NEW JERSEY.

King Charles II died in 1685, and his successor was the same
James, Duke of York, to whom the late King had given the
territory of New York and New Jersey and who had given the
latter tract to Berkeley and Carteret. We have already seen
how James, the Duke, apparently regretting his generosity, had
striven to get back control of New Jersey and had been
forced by circumstances to relinquish the effort. He was in
a measure responsible for the broad and progressive “Con-
cessions” which had attracted the first English-speaking set-
tlers and which had encouraged them to believe that in this
region, at last, they would find comparative if not entire freedom
from oppression of every sort. They had been sorely disappointed,
as we have seen. And now that James was on the throne, they
were to meet even more bitter conditions. James the Duke and
James the King were two very different personages.

* S8ee Tanner’s “The Province of New Jersey,” Chapter II.
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During the three years after the twenty-four proprietors
secured the land, and previous to James’ accession, half a dozen
different governors and deputy governors were appointed. James
watched his chance, and, in 1688, found it possible to have the
proprietors appoint Andros, to act as governor of East Jersey while
holding the same office in New York and in New England, with
his residence in Boston. He was extremely unsatisfactory to the
people of East Jersey in this instance, as he had been before, and
he retained his office but a single year, leaving it with the people
more disturbed and more distrustful of the Crown than ever.

ANTI-PROPRIETARY MOVEMENT GROWS.

There were no less than thirteen governors from Carteret’s
immediate successor to the last one to be appointed by the Lords
Proprietors, in 1699. Most of the difficulties arose over alterations
and deviations from the original “Concessions,” and there were
frequent intervals when the Assembly did not meet. The repre-
sentatives of government were openly opposed on several occa-
sions in Newark, as well as in some of the other towns. Sessions
of the Provincial court were broken up amid scenes of violence.?
The governors were often singularly unfitted for their positions.
Some used undue severity and harshness, others were arbitrary
in the extreme and some were foolishly and unavailingly concilia-
tory. In two or three instances an effort was made to enforce
the Provincial authority by show of arms, but in each instance the
insurgents appeared with a superior force, winning their points
for the time, and without bloodshed.

The anti-proprietary party grew steadily stronger as the
seventeenth century neared its close. In 1697, it had become so
powerful in the Assembly that Governor Hamilton made use of a
technicality to dissolve it, and there was rioting in Newark and
the other towns. Governor Hamilton himself was thrown into
prison. This ended the proprietary government in New Jersey.
After long negotiations both East and West Jersey were taken up

* 8ee New Jersey Archives, Vol. II, pp. 317, 333-39.
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by the Crown, all authority of the Lords Proprietors (save such
rights and titles to land as still remained to them) was extin-
guished, on April, 1702, and the series of royal governors, begin-
ning with Lord Cornbury and ending with William Franklin,
natural son of Benjamin Franklin, in 1776, was inaugurated.

DETAILS OF THE STRUGGLE—THE “REVOLUTION.”

The struggle against the Lords Proprietors during the last
few years of their dominion was, for many years thereafter,
spoken of in Newark and throughout all East Jersey as the
“Revolution.” This ‘“Revolution” in East Jersey, while it has no
prominent place in history, is singularly attractive to the
student. It came just when the second generation of settlers
were beginning to assume the reins of government in the several
towns, when the founders of Newark, Elizabethtown, Middletown,
Piscataway, Woodbridge and the Shrewsbury had either been laid
to rest in the quiet churchyards or had, while still living, handed
over the control of affairs to their sons. The new generation had
received something more from the founders than the mere posses-
sion of the soil and the means of tilling it, the homesteads, the
live stock, etc. They had breathed in a staunch spirit of independ-
ence, which voiced itself against every move under the proprietary
form of government that savored of oppression.

Unfortunately the Lords Proprietors did not seem to appre-
ciate the temper and the mettle of the people whom they had
set out to govern. They expected to control them very much as
the petty rulers of England were at the same period administering
affairs for the masses in the mother country. They failed to
grasp the vital and subtle fact, that the new country was breeding
a new spirit in men, and that their application of old world rules
and systems did not adequately apply to the management of the
colonies. They continually violated the letter or the spirit of the
original “Concessions” of 1665.
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The people of Newark and the other East Jersey communities
readily divined the trickeries and fallacies of the government set
in authority over them; they saw that justice administered by the
governor and his council, constantly ignoring the rights of the
Assembly, was but a paltry subterfuge designed to carry out
selfish ends; and they grew rapidly to treat it first, with open
distrust and finally with indifference, until their personal rights
were most arrogantly interfered with, when they resorted to force.

A JERSEY “LEXINGTON” IN 1700.

In 1700 the Governor of both East and West Jersey, Andrew
Hamilton, made Lewis Morris president of the Governor’s Council,
ordering him, from his headquarters at Burlington, to see to it
that his, the Governor’s authority, was properly respected by all
the people in East Jersey. Morris promptly made it known that
he would make the people respect the Governor and obey his
wishes, or “embrue the province in blood.” Because the English
sheriff of Monmouth county had not managed affairs with as
much zeal for the Governor’'s interests as the latter saw fit, he
was dismissed and a Scotchman appointed, a man ready and pliable
to the first touch of proprietary authority.

There was unrest in Middletown, and the new sheriff was sent
there to discipline several men who were known to be outspoken
in their contempt for government. The sheriff threatened
these men with imprisonment if they did not give security for
good behavior in the future. One refused, and the sheriff promptly
placed him in durance.” “This disturbed the people greavously, itt
being harvest time, and they [the Governor’s representatives]
had given out warrants to seize Richard Salter and others, and
the sheriff had like to have taken him, which some of his [Salter’s]
neighbors onderstanding [they] went and met the sheriff, banged
him, broake his head and sent him packing.”

* New Jersey Archives, Vol II, pp. 327-329.
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This episode stirred the people of all of what is now Mon-
mouth county. The men gathered in an impromptu mass-meeting
and decided to leave their fields and the harvest, on Friday, July 19,
1700, go in a body to Middletown and release the man whom the
sheriff had taken with him and locked up. The sheriff learned
of this move in advance, and sent messengers to Governor Hamil-
ton at Burlington, telling of the acute stage matters had reached.
The Governor came at once, pressed thirty or forty men into his
service, gave them arms and marched to Middletown, where they
found the people assembled to the number of nearly two hundred,
without arms, but each man with a stout club. The Governor’s
show of authority had no effect upon the people. They stood their
ground and Hamilton presently withdrew in a mighty rage. In
cowardly fashion he commanded the sheriff and the armed men
not to leave the ground until the people had come to their senses
and had acknowledged his authority. The sheriff, nevertheless,
did leave the field in the possession of the yeomanry without firing
a shot. One is reminded of the fact that three-quarters of a century
later a somewhat similar scene was to be presented at Lexington.

NEWARK GIVES AID TO FELLOW INSURGENTS.

No sooner had the sheriff and his hirelings disappeared than
the people of Middletown and all the surrounding country put
themselves in communication with the people of Middlesex and
Essex counties, in the latter case with leading men of Newark,
asking for support if the outbreak should take a more serious
turn. Newark and the other communities answered that they
would send aid, and they urged the Middletown and Monmouth
folk to stand their ground. It was decided by the people among
themselves that if Governor Hamilton and his council resorted to
further measures of oppression they should be seized and confined
and the whole case be presented to the Crown. “And the coun-
try, on the other hand, are rising by whole townes against them
[the Governor and his Council] resolving to putt a stop to their
arbitrary proceedings although it be with the hazard of their lives



HISTORY OF NEWARK 167

and fortunes. These officers of theirs [of the Governor and
Council] are so bold as to attempt the drinking of King James’
health.”®* Which last sentences shows how deep was the detesta-
tion of the people of East Jersey for the former Duke of York, when
to drink his health as King, in public, was held to be an insult!

THE FIRST NEWARK RIOTS.

About two months later, on September 10, 1700, the scene
shifted to Newark, when a Provincial court attempted to sit and
mete out justice. This was counted as needless interference with
the local government, and it seems to have been resented with
quite as much bitterness as would no doubt be shown if the
Federal government of to-day should set about to adjudicate
matters of purely local importance. In this instance the court
proposed to compel a man to support his natural child. Whether
the court had justice upon its side does not appear. Its action,
however, was vehemently resented, apparently not so much because
of the nature of this specific case but because of the Governor’s
representatives presuming to pass judgment in matters which
the town’s magistrates had in the past disposed of. A riot occurred.
The judges were hustled out of their seats, their wigs torn off,
the sword of one court officer taken away from him, and before
the melee was over the defendant in the case had been spirited
away.

THE SIXTY HORSEMEN.

This affair inflamed the whole neighborhood. Two days
later more than sixty horsemen rode into the centre of Newark,
searched out the sheriff, took the keys of the jail (which was on
Broad street at what is now Branford place), and released the
one prisoner then confined there. The Governor demanded that a
grand jury be assembled to investigate this scandalous business,
and eighteen jurors were assembled. The sworn testimony of
many witnesses was taken. One of these set forth that there
appeared suddenly before his house, “a greate company of men a

¥ See New Jersey Archives, Vol. II, pp. 327-329.
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horse backe with clubs in their hands.” They demanded to know
the whereabouts of the “pitifull Raskells who had taken upon
them to userp authority.”

The horsemen called upon one of the leading men in all
Newark, Theophilus Pierson, a son of Pastor Pierson and a brother
of the first president of Yale University, to produce the sheriff.
Pierson attempted to compromise and asked the horsemen if any
two of them would stand surety for the body of the sheriff if they
were permitted to see and talk with him. They answered defiantly
that they would not. They declared they would take the sheriff
by force. Pierson commanded them, in the King’s name, to let the

_sheriff alone. And again they refused. Then Pierson demanded to

know by what power would they presume to seize the sheriff,
and one of the horsemen, Samuel Whitehead, answered, as he
brandished his club, “By this power!” “And soe you say all of
you, gentlemen!” he cried to his followers. With that they held
up their hands and said, ‘“Yes, one and all;”

East Jersey was now in a state of anarchy. After this stirring
demonstration in Newark, but one more episode remained to bring
the administration of Governor Hamilton to a virtual close, and
to rouse the Crown to put an end to the rule of the Lords Pro-
prietors. It has been said that the people of East Jersey had
made up their minds to jail the governor and his council if they
were annoyed by them after the affair at Middletown already
described. The rioting at Newark seems to have brought the
anticipated crisis. The end came' very soon afterwards.

In March, 1701, the Governor and his Council assembled in
Middletown to try a number of cases, notably that of “Moses
Butterwoth who was accused of piracy and who confessed yt he
did sail with Capt. William Kidd [none other than the notorious
freebooter] in his last voyage when he came from ye East Indies.”
The proceedings had not gone far when a man named Samuel
Willetts rushed out of the courtroom and dashed down the stairs

1 See New Jersey Archives, Vol. II, p. 362.
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to the ground floor crying that the Governor and Council had no
authority to hold court, and that he would break it up.

LORDS PROPRIETORS “DRUMMED OUT” OF POWER.

Now enters Thomas Johnson, a drummer boy, and we are at
once reminded that a youth, Joseph Johnson, was first appointed
by the Newark settlers to warn the people to their various duties
to meet every common emergency, with his drumming. We cannot
but wonder if this drummer at Middletown was not the Newarker
(some old scrivener giving the wrong first name, possibly),
now of middle age, or some member of his family. ‘“Accordingly,”
runs the old record, “Willetts went downstairs to a company of
men there in armes [no doubt deliberately assembled by the people]
and sent up a drummer, one Thomas Johnson into ye court, who
beat upon his drum, and severall of ye company came up with
their armes and clubs.”

A furious riot was now started. The Governor and his Council
strove to go on with the proceedings, but Johnson drummed
continuously and the insurgents raised a mighty din, which all
ended just as planned, no doubt, in the representatives of the
Lords Proprietors being put under lock and key. They were kept
prisoners for three or four days—and thus ended proprietary
government in New Jersey. The drummer Johnson, whether of
Newark, Middletown or elsewhere, deserves a unique place in New
Jersey history for he drummed proprietary government out of
existence.
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CHAPTER IX.

THE CoMMON LANDS—EARLY LAWS AND PENALTIES—QUARRIES AND MINES—
CURRENCY,

THE opening of the eighteenth century, which was to work
such tremendous changes in the welfare of the colonists be-
fore its completion, found Newark and her sister villages of
East Jersey freed from the vacillating and exasperating govern-
ment of the Lords Proprietors, but, while hopeful of much better
things under the direct government of England, uneasy and sus-
picious. In the early days of the settlements, shortly after the
promulgation of the famous “Concessions,” New Jersey was recom-
mended by some cynic as a “Paradise,” because, among other
things, it was almost entirely free of “lawyers, physicians or
parsons.” * A quarter of a century or so later, about 1700, another
observer wrote that “no men grow rich as fast here as gentlemen
of the bar.” The chief reason for this last was the great confusion
over land titles.

THE PATENT OF 1696.

In 1696, the freeholders of Newark, having practically all of
them taken out surveys for their land under the Lords Proprietors,
resolved to secure the so-called common lands; so, on December 10
of that year, they obtained a patent, granting to the town, the
Watering Place, Market Place, Training Place, the Burying Ground,
the highways, the large parcels variously distributed over the
uplands and in the meadows, spoken of as the “parsonage lands”
and aggregating about 210 acres. This gave the people of Newark,
as a whole, a comprehensive or “blanket” title to much of their
territory that had not as yet been taken up by individuals. The
settlers, as has been told in previous chapters, always contended
that their rights to the land were from the Indians, the original

1 Atkinson’s “History of Newark,” p. 50.
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owners, and that they needed no further confirmation of this right.
But, as fast as they had taken out individual letters patent under
the Lords Proprietors, the latter had felt that their own contentions
to supreme right in the land had been acknowledged by the settlers.
To avoid further danger of losing their common lands, the second
generation of Newarkers did as above described.

THE TRUSTEESHIP.

Under this grant of common lands, they were to be held by
four leading citizens and their “heirs and assigns forever,” as
trustees for the community. An annual fee of six pence sterling
was to be paid, every March 20th. The four trustees were: John
Curtis, John Treat (son of Robert Treat), Theophilus Pierson
(third son of the first Pastor Pierson) and Robert Young. In this
connection the comment of the late associate justice of the United
States Supreme Court, Joseph P. Bradley, is of great value:?
“The common lands (embraced in the patent) belonged, in truth,
to the town, as much after as before, and as much before as after,
the grant, and, when not affecting private rights, such as adjacency
to streets and highways, the town could dispose of them for such
purposes as it saw fit. The action of the town has always been in
accordance with this view.”

The trustees were accountable to the community for the proper
conservation of these common lands, first through the Town Meet-
ing. Newark was practically a pure democracy for forty years,
and until the township of Newark was created in 1718 by roydl
patent under Queen Anne (the other then existing four counties
being similarly sub-divided), when the trustees became known as
“The Trustees of the Freeholders and Inhabitants of the Township
of Newark.” The Queen Anne charter remained in operation even
after the War for Independence, until 1798, when, by law, a body
politic was created under the name of “The Inhabitants of the

*See ‘“‘Miscellaneous Writings of the late Hon. Joseph P. Bradley,”
edited and compiled by his son, Charles Bradley, pp. 294-297. .
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Township of Newark of the County of Essex.” This form of
government continued until 1836, when the charter of the City of
Newark was granted.

PASSING OF THE TRUSTEESHIP, 1804.

The trusteeship over these common lands was continued until
1804, when a law was enacted, describing the impracticability of
maintaining this trusteeship, and vesting the title of the trustee-
ship in “The Township of Newark in the County of Essex”?
excepting all such parcels as had been disposed of by sale or lease
by the heirs of the trusteeship, such as the First, Second and
Third Presbyterian churches, Trinity Episcopal of Newark and the
First Church of Orange, previous to the year 1808. The officers
of the township thus assumed the mantles of the ancient trustees,
and they in turn handed them over to the Mayor and Common
Council, when the city came into being in 1836.

SELLING COMMON LANDS.

It was not many decades after the granting of the common
lands to the trustees before the town began to realize that portions
of these lands were not needed for common use, and could be
disposed of by the community, to individuals, with great advantage
to the town.* The Watering Place, which lay on the south
side of Market street between Harrison [now Halsey] and the
foot of the hill [above Plane street], and extending nearly to
William street, but somewhat gore-shaped, being no longer needed
for its original use, was left out and finally sold to the tanners of
the town for the location of tanneries; and in that way has con-
tributed immensely to the prosperity of the town. The Burying
Ground, not being all needed for that purpose, and the northeast
corner being a pond, or marsh, and unsuitable for it, the town and
church let out lots around the margin, which greatly benefited the
appearance of that part of the town, multiplied business facilities,

* Essex and Monmouth counties, the first in New Jersey, were created
in the same year, 1675.
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and contributed to the public finances without any public detriment.
The court house and jail were erected on lots granted to the county
along Broad street, south of the old church [which stood about
where Branford place now is] and neat and tasteful stores were
erected between the meeting house and Market street. Nobody
was injured; the town was benefited; the public good was
furthered.®

BEGINNING OF CITY PARKS.

“Then the Training Place [Military Park] being no longer
wanted for that use [the militia was often drilled there even as
late as the_early decades of the last century] as there were hundreds
of places in the vicinity much better fitted for it, was converted
into a public park, and planted with beautiful trees that adorn it;
first, those grand old elms were planted about the beginning of
the present century [1800], and the interior trees were set out in
1838, many of them being brought from Long Island, and finally,
the. park was enclosed with an iron fence [the last vestiges of
which disappeared in the 1880°s] * * * Then, again, the
Market Place, Washington Park, was deemed to be of more use to
the health and beauty of the city by making a public park of it,
than by using it for a market.

“The first market that was built for the town was not built
on Washington Park, but in Market street, on the margin of the
Burying Ground, in a low spot where no graves could be dug.® It
was the only market that the town had for many years. It had a
hall above in which meetings were held and when the old Court
House at the corner of Broad and Walnut streets was burned
[1835], the courts were held in the upper part of the old Market
house. They were held there in 1885, 1836 and 1837, whilst the
present court house [the one demolished in 1906 to make room for
that now standing] was being built. When this old market became
too small, what next? Did the city authorities (the collective
representatives of all the town’s people) go uptown and take Wash-
ington Park for a market place? No. They purchased the present

¢ The earliest leases of land abutting on the Burying Ground of which
there 18 record were given by the First Church the year after the War for
Independence closed, in 1784. Jesse Baldwin leased the southwest corner
of Market and Broad streets in that year.

s See ‘“Miscellaneous Writings,”” by Justice Bradley, p. 295.

It gave the street its name. It was on the south side of Market street,
had a frontage of about 50 feet, and was a little east of Halsey street. It was
built about 1795.
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site over the Morris Canal because it was more central and con-
venient to the people, and because Washington Park * * *
was a public park, and property had been purchased and residences
built around it on the faith of that appropriation.”

The above was written by Justice Bradley in defense of the
common rights of all the people to these public places. It is given
here in order to establish clearly the status of these common
lands. Justice Bradley’s concluding sentences in this connection
are particularly lucid and forcible:

. . “The courts, or the City Council itself, would have no more
right now to deface it and convert it [Washington Park] into a
market place, than they would to sweep away all the trees and
structures from Military Common, or from the Watering Place.
[An effort, by the way, was made to locate the then proposed new
City Hall in Military Park, in the 1890’s, but quickly abandoned
in response to public opinion.] And why? Simply because, upon
the faith of the acts and conduct of the town for over two hundred
years, rights have grown up which can not be disregarded and
overthrown. The plea that these acts and conduct are in violation
of the Patent of 1696 * * * is based on a false idea, namely,
that the public lands, commons and streets of Newark were the
free donation of the Proprietors; whereas historic truth is different,
and shows that this common property belongs to the townspeople
themselves, to be disposed of by them for the public good as they
deem best, and not to the private injury of the citizens. This is
the sound, sensible view of the subject, and law is never found, in
the end, to be at war with sound sense and reason.”

-LAST PHASE OF COMMON LANDS DISPOSAL.

The last link in the long chain of adjustments of the common
lands titles was not forged until 1888, at the time of the celebrated
“0Old Burying Ground Case,” when an injunction was asked by the
officers of the First Presbyterian Church to restrain the Mayor
and Common Council, the successors of the ancient trustees, from
removing the bones of the settlers from the cemetery, the old
Burying Ground. The chancellor sustained the First Church, but
was reversed by the State Supreme Court, and the remains of the
settlers were taken up and deposited in a vault in Fairmount Ceme-
tery. The Mayor and Common Council were confirmed in their
right and title, for the city, in the Burying Ground plot. The
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First Church’s title to the lands bordering upon the Burying Ground
was not disturbed. The church, it was long thought, could not
sell any of these lands, now (1913) enormously valuable; but that
theory has been exploded. On the other hand, the city had sold
all of the Burying Ground land by 1911.

EARLY LAWS AND PENALTIES.

While a greater part of the unrest and strife during the
regime of the Lords Proprietors and the early royal governors is
traceable to struggles over the land and to the hostility of the
settlers to the payment of quit-rents (which virtually ceased to be -
paid in the second or third generation) not a little of the trouble
was caused by the long periods when the Assembly did not sit, and
the towns of East Jersey were almost without government save
that which they administered themselves. Such laws as were
enacted by the central government they obeyed or not, about as
they chose. The early penal statutes, which reflect to a striking
degree the Puritan characteristics of the first English speaking
settlers, were continued in force after the coming of the royal
governors, and many of them were not materially modified for
a long time thereafter.

7 Offenses punishable with death were: arson, murder, perjury
to the prejudices of life; stealing any of mankind; burglary and
robbery, for the third offense, as incorrigibles ; theft, if incorrigible;
smiting or cursing parents by children, on complaint of parents
only; rape, subject to the discretion of the court; gross and un-
natural licentiousness. In all these offenses life was not to be
taken except on proof of two or three witnesses.

The penalties for infidelity were divorce, corporal punishment
or banishment, as the court might award. Unchastity was at first
punishable by fine, marriage or by corporal punishment; in 1682,
three months’ imprisonment, or a fine of five pounds was incurred,
and later, ten stripes at a public whipping post were substituted
in place of imprisonment, upon non-payment of the fine.

* See Whitehead’s “East Jersey Under the Proprietors,’” pp. 239-240.



HISTORY OF NEWARK 169

Night walkers or revelers after 9 at night and later on, after
10, were to be detained until morning by the constable, and, unless
excused, were to be bound over to appear in court. Liars were
liable to a fine of ten shillings for the first offense and twenty
shillings for the second offense. If the fines were not paid the
liars were to be put in the stocks or publicly whipped.

For the “beastly vice of drunkeness,” the early laws inflicted
fines of one, two and two and one-half shillings for the first three
offenses, with corporal punishment; and if the culprits should be
unable to pay, or were unruly, they were to be put in the stocks
to remain until sober. Later, each offense, incurred a five-shilling
fine, and if not paid, to the stocks for six hours. Constables who
did not do their duty in this were fined ten shillings for each case
of neglect.

Imprisonment for debt, save when fraud was intended, was
prohibited as early as 1675. But there were rooms for debtors on
the top or third floor of the Essex county jail at the corner of
Broad and Walnut streets, Newark, early in the last century, and
they had occasional tenants.

In 1698 the common law of England was assured to every one,
and more than a dozen years before that, it was provided that no
one should be imprisoned except by the judgment of his peers, or
by the laws of the Province. All courts were open to persons of
any religious belief; they were allowed to plead in their own way
and manner, either in person or by their friends or attorneys.
Trial by jury was confirmed with reasonable challenges allowed;
all persons were bailable, except for capital offenses. No court by
execution or other writ could authorize the sale of any man’s land
without his consent, but the rents and profits might be stopped
for the payment of just debts

All prizes, stage plays, games, masques, revels, bull baitings
and cock fighting, “which excite the people to rudeness,” were to
be discouraged and punished by courts of justice, according to the
nature of the offense. Swearing, or “taking God’s name in vain,”
was punishable by one shilling fine for each offense. In 1682 this
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fine was increased to two shillings and six pence, and, if not paid,
the offender to be placed in the stocks or whipped, according to his
age, whether under or over twelve years. The observance of the
Lord’'s day was required; servile work, unlawful recreations, un-
necessary traveling and any disorderly conduct on that day being
punishable by confinement in the stocks or common gaol, or by
whipping.
NEWARK'S FIRST HANGING, 1738.

That the grim old fathers of Newark did not hesitate to
administer capital punishment under the law is certain enough.
The first instance of it on record, however, occurred in 1788, when
a man with many aliases, of which the first mentioned is “John
Barnes” and the last “George Brown,” was hanged here, for three
times robbing the house of Thomas Bailey. He made a long con-
fession of a dreary series of petty crimes, committed in England
and in various provinces, concluding with the Bailey robbery, which
seems to have been his most ambitious effort, and ending his state-
ment with, “For which I now must die, and hope all people will
take warning by me, and put their trust in God, and not give way
to the temptations of the devil as I have done. N. B.—This is taken
down from his own mouth and read at the gallows at his desire.”

It is practically certain that the execution took place near the
town’s first jail, which was just south of the first meeting house
at Branford Place and Broad street.

A PEOPLE OF DEEDS AND FEW WORDS.

The second generation of Newarkers were quite as diligent as
their fathers, and they relaxed but little from the hard, iron-bound
rules of living of their parents. They were farmers, nearly all of
them. They carried their produce to New York in their boats,
which were for the most sort, periaugers or petteaugers—light,
one-sailed craft, broad of beam, steady of keel, and capable of
carrying good loads.* For many years they exchanged their pro-
duce in barter, bringing back teas, coffees, sugar, spices, nails,
hinges, glass and various other useful things.

s «“pPeriauger” 18 derived from the French “pirogue,” a dugout.
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Their tilling of the fields was not accomplished without infinite
labor, and they were very well adapted for it. They were a people
of deeds and of few words. The terseness and directness of the
language employed in the Town Minute Book gives ample testimony
to this. They seem to have written very few letters to their friends
and relatives in New England or elsewhere. Exhausted from their
long days afield, from sunrise until dusk, they had little time or
ambition for writing or for reading beyond the conning of the
Good Book.

THE FIRST VEHICLES.

They had no wagons for two generations or more; they would
have been of little use on the crude roads. They used two-wheeled
carts drawn by oxen for the heavy work, and sleds and drags,
usually pulled by horses for lighter work. The old English plow,
with an iron share and a wooden mould board, broke the soil for
them.

NEWARK FAMED FOR ITS CIDER.

They had been on the Newark ground less than a generation
before they were manufacturing excellent cider. As fast as a
settler cleared his land he devoted part of it to his apple orchard.
The young trees often came from the droppings of the cattle that
had fed upon the fruit in the woods, for the apple is indigenous to
New Jersey. Apple trees are mentioned in the Minute Book as
early as 1678, as a boundary. These young plants were carefully
fostered until fit to set out in the orchards. The apples improved
steadily with cultivation, and for a long time the cider improved
as the settlement became older. Newark was soon celebrated
throughout the colonies for its cider. In a description written in
1700, we find: “The town of Newark alone in one year made ready
a thousand barrels of good cyder out of the orchards of their own
planting.” It was shipped to many parts of the colonies, largely
to southern ports. Cider-making was a very profitable industry
for Newark for over a century. It was, practically, Newark’s first
industry and out of this fact we read another evidence of Newark’s
industrial skill and success from almost its very beginning.
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In 1731, there was offered for sale in Newark a farm upon
which “there is a good bearing young orchard and a good barn, as
also a distilling house, with stills and all conveniences ready for
distilling of strong liquors and especially of Syder; and where the
buyer may also be instructed in the art of distilling.” Which
makes it manifest enough that the Puritans, with all their strait-
laced ways were by no means above manufacturing liquor when
there was a profit to be made from it. They were distilling West
India molasses into rum as early as 1732.

One of the first accidents reported from Newark occurred in
1789, when a boy, a son of Peregrine Sandford, living on the east
side of the Passaic, got his fingers “in between the cogg’d rollers
of a Cyder Mill, which drew his arm up to the elbow before he
could be rescu’d by him that ’tended the mill; they were obliged
to set [cut] off his arm below the elbow.”

THE FIRST SAW MILL, 1696.

In 1695, the first saw mill of which there is any record was
authorized by the town meeting, upon Mill Brook, by the following
resolution: “Thomas Davis hath liberty to set up a saw mill, with
liberty to have use of any timber in any common land; provided
he shall let any of the inhabitants have boards as cheap as others
and before strangers.”

NEWARK'S QUARRIES.

In 1721 and possibly a few years before, freestone was quarried
for market in Newark, “and this article, celebrated for its excellent
quality, has long been exported in great quantities,” said Gordon
in his Gazeteer of New Jersey in 1886, nearly a century later. No
doubt the first generation of settlers quickly discovered the value
of the Jersey brownstone and used it in their own buildings to a
limited extent. We do know that by 1700 the second generation
had to an extent replaced the first permanent habitations of their
fathers with more spacious and substantial homes made, in part, of
this stone. The fact that it was not marketed until a half century
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or so after the settlement was no doubt due to the lack of roads
and the proper facilities for quarrying the stone in large quantities
and for moving it. :

® One of the very first quarries, possibly the first, was located
on the north side of what is now Bloomfield avenue, about a
hundred yards west of Belleville avenue. This was quite near the
Passaic, and the stone was probably moved down the slope to the
mouth of Mill Brook, where a rude dock is believed to have been
constructed in very early times.

The largest quarry in Newark was no doubt that of which
the last vestige disappeared in the 1890’s, on the north side of
Bloomfield avenue, between Mt. Prospect and Clifton avenues, and
which was part of a system of quarries extending along Clifton
avenue and Ridge street about to what is now Seventh avenue.
One big quarry hole was located where the reservoir now is in the
southern division of Branch Brook Park. Mill Brook, shortly after
leaving the Branch Brook ponds, ran through the middle of one
large quarry hole, and the Lackawanna Railroad passes over part
of the same quarry.

There was also a quarry on the north side of Mill Brook,
between Factory and Sheffield streets, and extending north nearly
to Crane street. Quarry street (now Eighth avenue) connected
with the two quarries last mentioned. One or another of these
quarries seem to have been worked with little cessation for nearly
two hundred years. The first stone masons in Newark, of whom
we have any record, tell their own story in an announcement
printed in a New York newspaper in September, 1745: “This is
to give notice to all persons whatsoever, that William Grant, stone
cutter, and Samuel Hunterdon, quarrier, of Newark, lately arrived
from England, carves and cuts all manner of stones in the neatest
and most curious fashions ever done in America. The said Grant
is to be spoke with at Mr. Walsh’s, sexton to Trinity Church, in

° This quarry was apparently in operation as late as 1838, for it is
plotted on a map of the city made in 1838, together with the others men-
tioned in succeeding paragraphs.
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New York.” Newark sandstone was used in constructing the New
York City Hall that preceded the present venerable structure; in
churches and other pretentious structures in various places.

THE SCHUYLER COPPER MINE AND OTHERS.

The discovery of copper ore in 1719 in what is now Arlington,
on the east side of the ridge, caused great excitement, not only
in Newark, but throughout the entire province. This was the
famous Belleville copper mine, its original owner being Arent
Schuyler. The mine was worked at intervals and with varying
success from about 1726 until 1870 or thereabouts. An unsuccess-
ful effort to put it in operation was made about 1900. The early
owners are believed to have realized very handsomely from the
mine. Great quantities of the ore were shipped to England. This
was one of the very first mining ventures in what are now the
United States, and it is further remarkable from the fact that the
first steam engine brought to the American colonies was set up at
this mine, in 1763, at a cost of £3,000. The old mine is a little
north of the cut through the hill of the Greenwood Lake branch of
the Erie Railroad, at its eastern end.

With the discovery of this mine, every freeholder in Newark
was roused with the hope of finding similar treasure on his own
acres. In 1721 the people of Newark, at town meeting, appointed
a committee to let out the common lands, or any part thereof, “to
dig for mines, to such persons and on such terms as they shall
agree upon.” But no mines were found in what is now Newark.
One mine was worked in Orange, between Dodd street and the
Bloomfield township line and close to the bank of the Second River,
and a shaft was sunk near where the foot of Vernon avenue now
is, in Orange also. There was much mining activity in old Bloom-
field, from east of Ridgewood avenue (now Glen Ridge), and con-
tinuing on over the line into Montclair. These mines were opened
soon after the discovery made by the Schuylers across the Passaic,
but little work was done after 1760. In the early fifties of the last
century people living on the site of the Dodd street mine mentioned
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above were thrown into a state of panic by the sudden sinking of
the ground, which was no doubt caused by the decay and collapse
of the timber supports of the mine below. A few years after the
Civil War a well digger discovered a chamber in this ancient mine
which he estimated to cover half an acre.»

While the searchers after the precious metals were busy in
all parts of this neighborhood, looking, with their crude knowledge
of geology and mineralogy, for signs of ore, others, stirred by the
find of the Schuylers, were scanning the rock formations in various
sections of the Colony. The governor of East Jersey in 1728
reported to the Crown that silver and gold were to be found in
New Jersey, shrewdly adding, however, “there must be a great
allowance made for the humour that now prevails to run a mine-,
hunting.”

Danger lurked in the old mines as in those of to-day. An
ftem in a New York newspaper, published in November, 1739,
reads: “One Marsh in the [Schuyler] mines, being about to blow
off a blast, before lie could shelter himself from the explosion, it
went off and bruis’d him very much; and that there was some
hopes of his recovery.” And in 1748, also from a New York paper:
“We hear from Newark, that on Saturday, the 26th of March last,
one Malachi Venderpoel unfortunately fell into one of the mine
pits near that place [the Schuyler mine] upwards of 100 feet deep,
by which his whole body was so bruis’d, and many bones broken,
that he died immediately.”

Slaves worked in the old Belleville copper mine, as appears
from the following from a New York newspaper of 1746, which
also chronicles the fact that the mine lessees were ready to part
with their property: “To be sold at publick Vendue, on Friday,
the 29th instant, at the house of Mr. Joseph Johnson, in Newark,
two negro men, whome understands mining; also the utencels
belonging to the mine, in Kingsland’s lands, with pots & kittles, &c.
As also the remammg part of the.leace of said mine which being
near two years.”

» Wickes’ “History of the Oranges,” pp. 68-61.
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CURRENCY FROM 16656 TO 1776.

As most of the commercial and mercantile business of East
Jersey was done by barter during the first quarter of a century,
currency did not become a matter of special concern until about
the opening of the eighteenth century. The first Assembly, in
1668, provided that taxes, quit-rents and the settlement of accounts
might be payable in produce at prices fixed by the authority of
the Lords Proprietors. For that year the standard of money
equivalents was as follows: Per bushel—Winter wheat, 6 shillings;
summer wheat, 4 shillings sixpence; peas, 3 shillings sixpence;
Indian corn, 8 shillings; rye, 4 shillings; barley, 4 shillings; per
pound—beef, two and half pence; pork, three and half pence; per
barrel—beef, 50 shillings; pork, 70 shillings.

The coins of England, the Netherlands and their respective
moneys of account circulated without trouble for a time, but the
difference in values, especially between New York and New Jersey
and Pennsylvania gradually grew vexatious. In 1704 Queen Anne
issued a proclamation to correct the “inconveniences caused by the
different rates at which the same species of foreign coin pass in
drawing money from one plantation to another, to the great preju-
dice of her Majesty’s subjects,” ordering the reduction of all
foreign coins to the same current rate within her territory on this
continent. By way of illustration of the varying values of the
same coin, which the proclamation sought to correct: pieces of
eight, weighing not less than seventeen pennyweight, were current
at six shillings in Boston, eight shillings in New York, seven shill-
ings sixpence in New Jersey and Pennsylvania, four and sixpence
in Maryland. The equalization ordered by Queen Anne was con-
firmed by act of Parliament a few years later. Bills of credit,
based on the “proclamation” standard, were afterwards issued.
The expression “proclamation money” is constantly met with in
old Colonial records and writings.

The proclamation was unsatisfactory to American traders.
It was suspended in New York, by Governor Cornbury, and it
was practically ignored in the other colonies. In 1708 the Assembly
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of New York fixed the value of silver coins at eight shillings per
ounce troy. Hence arose the term “New York money.” In making
contracts in New Jersey thereafter, payment was provided for in
“New York” or in “proclamation” money.

But coin was very scarce, it being constantly drawn back to
the mother country by the English traders. An urgent demand
arose for paper money, which was grudgingly permitted by the
British Board of Trade, the body to which all matters of currency
were referred by the Crown. The Colonial governor could sanction
the issue of paper only on special emergencies. New Jersey’s first
paper money act was passed in 1709, authorizing the issue of bills
to the amount of three thousand pounds for his Majesty’s service.
Some of these notes continued in circulation for about eight years,
disappearing finally in the payment of taxes. In 1716 an issue of
bills of credit to the amount of 11,675 ounces of plate, or about
£4,000, of proclamation money, was authorized. These were soon
paid in and redeemed.

There was a long controversy between the New Jersey
Assembly and the Governor, the former denying its support of
the government unless bills of credit were permitted. An under-
standing was reached in 1723, when the Assembly “provided for
ten years to come for supplying the government in order to obtain
money which their necessities made inevitable.” 1

By this act £40,000 in bills of from three pounds down to one
shilling were issued. In its preamble the act explains that the
people, in order to pay their taxes for the support of government,
had been forced to cut down and pay in their plate, including, it is
understood, silver coin, ear-rings and other jewels.

Later laws provided for other issues amounting to about
£600,000, previous to the War for Independence. None was issued
for a period of almost ten years before the beginning of the war.
Then the last was assented to in 1774, by Governor Franklin. This

2 Blmers’ ‘“History of Cumberland County.”
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paper bore the date of March 26, 1776. From this issue came most
of the currency of New Jersey at the beginning of the conflict.

Death was the penalty meted out to counterfeiters, but there
were many offenders, nevertheless. The bills were crudely printed
on coarse paper, and the temptation to copy them proved too great
to a number. Persons of high intelligence and of considerable
culture were sometimes among the criminals,
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CHAPTER X.

NEWARK. MoTHER OF TowNS—A CENTURY—LONG CHURCH CONTROVERSY—
PRINCETON COLLEGE IN NEWARK.

EWARK may truly be called “Mother of Towns.” She has
been chiefly responsible for the creation of every town in
Essex county and in West Hudson; and her staunch sons,
in the very early days, made their way still further out into the
wilderness. Learning from the Indians of the presence of iron ore
in what is now Morris county, a small company penetrated to the
Whippany river and founded the town of Whippany where they
set up their forges, bringing in the ore from the hills further above
in their pack saddles, to the furnaces. They also founded Morris-
town, which was really an offshoot of Whippany. They had an
influence upon the creation of Hanover, Hanover Neck and Troy
Hills. This Whippany river colonization movement was in opera-
tion shortly after 1700. The gravestone of Whippany’s first school-
master, Richards, still standing in Whippany cemetery, bears the
date of death as 1710.

The first movement out of the very centre of Newark began
within a half dozen years or so after the settlement, when the
settlers found the uplands to the west of what is now High street
very useful for the pasturage of their cattle. The beasts roved at
will all the way to the Orange Mountains, which explains why it
was 80 essential that all the animals should be branded and the
owner’s brands entered in a town book. The third division of land
was made in 1675, and this comprised the partition of all lands
west of High street to the mountain, which had been previously
held in common. It is doubtful if a single habitation was built
west of High street previous to the third division of land, in 1675.
High street was, then, for ten years, the dividing line between
civilization and the wilderness.
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MAKING ROADS OF INDIAN TRAILS.

Now the sons and daughters of the founders, taking their life
partners, began to move westward and northward, and thus, grad-
ually the nuclei for the Oranges, Irvington, Bloomfield, Montclair,
Caldwell, Belleville and Nutley were formed. Here and there, to
the north and northwest, the Newark “frontiersmen” found Dutch
farmers on the ground ahead of them. But there was nothing
approaching community organization until the Newarkers came.
In the beginning, that is, when the lands west of High street were
used for pasturage, the people resorted to the Indian paths to get
back and forth. But when homes were reared, better ways of
getting to and from the mother settlement on the Passaic became
necessary. The Indian paths were straightened, little by little, and
widened, although it was many years before the people got beyond
the saddle and the pillion. They came to town to attend church,
to market their produce and to visit their relatives, and the need
for highways increased rapidly. While the Assembly, in 1675,
made provision for the laying out and improvement of roads, and
from then on two surveyors of highways were required in each
town in the colony, little was actually done beyond the making of
rude paths which accommodated a two-wheeled cart with difficulty
out of the Indian trails. It was not until 1705 that the Newark
people responded to the demands of the “frontiersmen” for better
roads. In a single day in that year twelve new highways were
provided for, on paper.

TWELVE HIGHWAYS PROVIDED FOR, 17065.

It is not possible to-day to locate all these old roads with
absolute accuracy. The first in the list is undoubtedly that starting
at the head of what is now Market street, at the County Court-
house, through Warren street to Roseville and thence to Orange,
being practically identical with Main street in the Oranges. It was
for generations called “the Crane road,” in honor of old Jasper
Crane, one of the chief founders of Newark, who lived on what is
now the northeast corner of Bank and High streets. It was to be
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laid out “as the path now runs, as straight as the ground will
allow,” which virtually meant along the lines of least resistance, a
method employed in all the early highway building. It followed
the original Indian path for a great part of its way, and the trolley
cars to-day pass over much of that ancient trail.

The second road laid down in that memorable list of twelve
was wholly in the Oranges, running north and south, from the
road just described to what is now South Orange avenue, part of
the way over the present Valley road and over Ridgewood avenue.

The third road was South Orange avenue. The location of the
fourth is uncertain but it was in Orange. The fifth road is believed
to have opened communication between Cranetown (now Mont-
clair), and Orange. It is impossible to locate any of the others
except one that appears to have been the Eagle Rock road, from
the foot of the mountain to the top. The roads were fixed in the
specification of their planners, by trees, boulders and other land-
marks long, long since disappeared.

OTHER HIGHWAYS.

The first road actually laid out by the commission of high-
ways for Essex county (which was created in 1675) was a highway
in Elizabethtown, in 1698, ( Elizabethtown being then and for more
than a century thereafter, in Essex). The first legally laid road
between Newark and Elizabethtown was provided for in 1705, which
run “as the old road runs to Newark.” The “old road” was un-
doubtedly the ancient Indian trail, one of those leading from the
territory of the Raritan Indians below Weequahic or Bound Creek
into the territory of the Hackensacks, the Indians who owned the
Newark region. In 1707 the road along the west bank of the
Passaic, starting apparently at Mill Brook (Clay street) and
following the line of what is now Belleville avenue, was laid out.
It turned down to the riverside at the present Gully road, on the
northern boundary of what is now Mt. Pleasant Cemetery, and
proceeded up the river bank to Passaic, then called Acquackanonck.
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High street was probably opened a few years after Newark
was founded, but there is no record of it until 1709.

The old Bloomfield road was built about 1716. Bloomfield, then
Wardsessons, was begun by the second generation of Newarkers,
about 1700. Franklin street, Bloomfield, is none other than the
“old road,” which entered the present Newark at the head of
Branch Brook Park, ran southeast in winding fashion down to what
is now Mt. Prospect avenue, entering it at Abington avenue. From
there it continued down Second avenue into the present Belleville
avenue and thus to the Mill Brook. Several roads were laid out
from the main and original streets of the town to the meadows to
aid the people in getting out their salt hay.

THE “MOUNTAIN SOCIETY.”

The community expanded with the building of the roads. It
did not grow at all rapidly, but the people moved further out,
appreciating the improving facilities for travel and for the trans-
port of their goods, and becoming convinced that they need no
longer anticipate trouble from the red men, now disappearing. In
1719 the community in the Oranges had grown sufficiently large
to warrant the establishment of a church there, the first offshoot
of the original First Church of Newark. This new congregation
was known as the “Mountain Society.” Two or three years before
this, the second edifice of the original Newark congregation was
erected, a little north of the first building, on Broad street. It was
built of stone (of the brownstone now beginning to come out of
the local quarries). The new Newark church gloried in a steeple,
the first in Newark, with a bell, likewise the first in all the region.
The Rev. Dr. Alexander Macwhorter said of this church in his
famous “Century Sermon,” preached on January 1, 1801, “that all
the people in Newark could have sat upon the foundations of this
building,” which was no doubt an exaggeration, as there were
upwards of six hundred souls in the village by that time. In 1726
a church was established at Second River (Belleville) for a Dutch
congregation, and about the same time another further up the river
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at Acquackanonck. These churches did not arise because of
schisms or dissensions, but were a natural response to the growth
of the region, all of which was still within the confines of the town-
ship of Newark.

THE REGION’S POPULATION IN 1730.

It is impossible to closely estimate the actual population of
the entire region considered as being in the township, from the
east bank of the Passaic to South Orange, Orange proper, Mont-
clair, Bloomfield, Belleville, Nutley and Acquackanonck, but it must
have approximated two thousand in 1780.
| SR
| B N

PURITANISM LOSING ITS GRIP.

Newark was, by 1730, casting aside many of its early and
original Puritan characteristics. The children of the founders
had ceased to impose the religious qualifications set down in the
“Fundamental Agreements” and there was now a sprinkling of
those of other faiths, notably a small following of the Church of
England. This was made up largely of the owners of the fine
manor houses on the east bank of the Passaic, in what are now
Kearny and Arlington, then called Barbadoes Neck. The persecu-
tion of the Congregational and Presbyterian congregations by
Lord Cornbury, the first royalist governor, was in some small
measure responsible for the growth of Episcopacy here, for while
Cornbury was not a Church of England zealot by any means, he
was bitterly opposed to the other congregations, apparently consid-
ering them instruments for the further disquietude of the Crown’s
administration in New Jersey.

A Church of England missionary, established for a time at
Elizabethtown, wrote, in 1731, that he sometimes traveled as far
into the country as Whippany holding services, adding that he
found his congregations increasing. Episcopal services were held
occasionally in Newark as early as 1730, possibly a year or so
earlier.
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COLONEL OGDEN BREAKS THE SABBATH.

Conditions were therefore ripe for the establishment of a
congregation of the Church of England, when one late summer
Sunday, in the early 1780’s (about 1733), Colonel Josiah Ogden,
one of the leading men in Newark, got into difficulties with the
fathers of the First Church. He was a son of Elizabeth Swain,
by her first husband, and she is believed to have been the first of
the Branford group of settlers to land upon Newark soil. The
summer season of 1780 had been one of much rain. But this
particular Sunday was clear and bright, and Colonel Ogden decided
to take advantage of the smiling skies. He called his household
together and, going into his fields, moved his wheat, already cut,
into his barn. He saved his grain, but in so doing destroyed then
and there the absolute religious sovereignty of the original church
of Newark, the centre and citadel of the “Little Kingdom of God
on Earth” which the Puritans founded Newark to establish.

AN EPOCH-MAKING DISSENSION.

Colonel Ogden was disciplined by the First Church for breaking
the Sabbath in a manner contrary to all rule and precedent, being
publicly censured. The First Church had before this gone over to
Presbyterianism and was part of the Philadelphia Synod. The
case was laid before the Presbytery, and the drastic action of the
church in seeking to humble so powerful and so good a man as
Colonel Ogden, whose life was full of public works, and who had
represented the town in the Assembly from 1716 to 1721, was
reversed. But the Colonel was a fighter. He felt that there could
no longer be any peace and harmony for him within the walls of a
church where so innocent an action as his seeking to save his prop-
erty on Sunday at a time of emergency, could be viewed so harshly
by a considerable number of the congregation. Others in the
congregation shared his views. It was a revolt of “Progressives”
against “regulars” or reactionaries. It was a striking manifesta-
tion of the very spirit of self-reliance and independence that had
sent the Puritan founders of Newark out of Connecticut; it was
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the last physical demonstration, here, of the inevitable result of
the attempt at rigid adherence to the old Puritan doctrines, in a
new country, where independence and tolerance were waxing in
strength and power every day.

THE FOUNDING OF TRINITY EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

The dissension was even carried before the Philadelphia Synod
and solemnly debated. The breach was never healed, and out
of it was born Trinity Episcopal Church, for its founders declared
they had come to the conclusion that there was more true religion
in the Church of England than in the ancient institution that their
fathers had come out of Connecticut to establish, which was pure
and wholesome enough when first set up in the wilderness on the
Passaic’s banks, but which had now, in their day and generation,
grown too harsh and uncharitable to permit their longer remaining
within its doors.

The founders of the new church insisted that they be given a
proper share of the parsonage lands, contending that they were as
much the descendants of the pioneer settlers as their fellow towns-
men in the First Church. They were conceded the right to land
for their new church upon some portion of the common lands, even
as the First Church had been placed. The location was chosen by
a mutual arrangement between the members of the new congrega-
tion and the town (although all mention of this dissension is
scrupulously avoided in the old Town Minute Book). Committees
were appointed on behalf of each party, which met and “staked out
the plot.” It contained about half an acre and was, where Trinity
Church now is, at the head of Military Park. The congregation
was not actually organized until about 1786. There is a tradition
to the effect that the new church was to remain in possession of
the land at the head of what is now Military Park, and which was
then the Training Place, “so long as the spire shall stand,” which
may in part account for the fact that when the present edifice was
erected on the site of the original structure (in 1809-10), the tower
of the original church was preserved. The old story, occasionally
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heard to this day, that Trinity Church would forfeit to the munici-
pality its title to the ground on yvhich it stands, if it ceased to
paint its steeple white, has no foundation in fact.

After Colonel Josiah Ogden, the most influential member of
the new congregation was Colonel Peter Schuyler, who gave to
the church about four and one-half acres of land, the benefits of
which the church has scarcely ceased to enjoy to this day (1913).
Colonel Schuyler’s gift comprised all the land on the upper or
northeast side of what is now Park Place, from a point a little
west of Park Place terminal, to Broad, then along Rector street
to the Passaic, the line returning to Park Place parallel with what
is now Saybrook Place and fifty feet or so to the west of it. The
first parsonage was built on the southeast side of Broad and Rector
streets. Of this handsome gift of land, all that the church now
owns is the present rectory property on Park Place and the chapel
and graveyard property on Rector street. For more than a century
after the War for Independence the church was accustomed to sell
small parcels of this tract whenever it needed money.

Beside the land given it by Colonel Schuyler, and the half acre
set aside by the town for the church building, in Military Park,
there was a certain share of the ancient “common lands” which
its members believed belonged to their congregation but to which
it did not get title until early in the last century. These lands were
located partly in the meadows and partly in the uplands, some of
it being in Roseville. But their title was not then and never has
been clear, and the land was leased by the church, at irregular
intervals, on ninety or hundred-year leases, which have come to
maturity during the last fifteen years or so (1913). In disposing
of its right and title to these lands the church has issued quit-
claim deeds, requiring in payment, ten per cent. of the actual value
of the land (irrespective of buildings), at the time of expiration
of the long leases. Thus, during the first years of the twentieth
century, Trinity Church congregation has been disposing of the

last vestige of its ancient right and title in the so-called common
lands.
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THE FEUD THAT LASTED FOR A CENTURY.

The animosities engendered between the two religious factions
at the time of Colonel Ogden’s memorable Sabbath-day visit to
his wheat field did not die out for fully a hundred years. The
Rev. Dr. Macwhorter wrote of it, in 1801, as “still before the
public.” In the War for Independence the greater part of the
First Church congregation supported the Continental cause; while
nearly all of the members of Trinity remained loyal to the King,
suffering the loss of lands and other possessions confiscated by and
through the Committee of Safety acting for the new State govern-
ment. Yes, the old feud still rankled nearly a score of years after-
wards, when many of the one-time loyalists returned from Nova
Scotia and from England striving to recover their property. There
are old men and women living in Newark to this day (1918), who
tell of manifestations of the old differences between the members
of the two churches which they noticed as children or learned of
by word of mouth from their parents or grandparents.

TRINITY CHURCH BUILDING FUND AUGMENTED BY A LOTTERY.

It was nearly a decade after Trinity Church was established
that the first church edifice, the only predecessor of the present
house of worship, was completed. The church’s charter bears the
seal of George II, and the date of February 10, 1746. Funds to
finish it were raised by lottery, a very common method for gather-
ing money for churches and parsonages, strangely enough. It is
hard for us to-day to reconcile the use of the lottery for such a
purpose, in a day and generation when a common precept taught
the young was, “cards and dice are the devil’s device,” and when
all forms of gambling were rigidly forbidden by acts of the
Assembly.

As a matter of fact, the Assembly did frown upon lotteries,
but would occasionally authorize them for special and specific
purposes. The practice was continued intermittently until after
the War for Independence. Many an edifice for divine worship and
some for educational purposes reared in various sections of New
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Jersey could scarcely have been provided without lotteries. For
the people were poor; there were very few who, even in their
day, could be called wealthy. The gaming instinct, also, was
strong in those days, as now. The very fact that laws were
constantly being enacted to suppress it is the best proof we need
of the prevalence of the habit of indulging in games of chance.
The end and aim of church lotteries seems in the minds of the
people generally, to have justified the practice and to have purged
it of all sin. An announcement of the Trinity Church lottery
appeared in the New York Gazette in December, 1748. It read as
follows:
“SCHEME.

“Of Newark, in New Jersey, Lottery, for raising £387:10:0
Proclamation, for compleating the Church, and building a Parson-
age House, consisting of 8,000 tickets at fifteen shillings Proclama-
tion, each, 678 of which to be fortunate, viz.:”

The notice then explains that there was to be one prize of
£100, two each of £50, of £40, and of £30; three of £20; five of £15;
gixteen of £10; twenty of £7; forty of £6; two hundred of £2; four
hundred and eighty-seven of £1:10s each. The business was con-
ducted in a straightforward manner, every detail being set forth
80 that the public might know just what sort of a venture it was
embarking in. The three thousand lottery tickets realized £2250.
From this, fifteen per cent. or £387:10s was deducted as the
church’s share, leaving £1912 10s for the prizes. The newspaper
notice continues:

“The drawing to commence on or before the first day of May
next, in Newark aforesaid, under the care and management of
Col. Peter Schuyler,! Col. Jacob Ford, Messrs. Frin Lucas and
Uzal Ogden, who are to dispose of the tickets and be under oath
for the faithful management of the same. The fortunate are to
receive their prizes entire, the fifteen per cent. being deducted
from the whole sum produced by the sale of the tickets, before the
drawing begins, and not from the prizes after they are drawn.
Fourteen days’ notice at least to be given before the day of draw-
ing. The prizes to be printed in this paper when the drawing is
concluded. Tickets are to be sold by the printer hereof.”

! Who led the New Jersey soldiers in the French and Indian War.
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LOTTERIES THROUGHOUT THE PROVINCE.

On May 1, 1749, the Gazette announced: ‘“The managers of
the Newark lottery have began to roll up the blanks and prizes,
and [are] preparing to put the numbers in the wheels, so as to be
ready certainly to begin the drawing on Tuesday the 16th of this
Instant. There remains but a few tickets in the hands of the
managers which continue to be sold as usual.”

The Trinity Church lottery is the only one in Newark to be
noticed in the newspapers of the day. Lotteries came into fashion
in New Jersey before 1780. The first acts of the Assembly pro-
hibiting them were directed chiefly against schemes for the
rafling of goods, and there was then a general feeling that this
act was not intended to forbid money lotteries. The most respect-
able people of the time embarked in them. The custom grew to
such proportions, however, that in the same year and at about the
time the Trinity Church lottery was advertised, an act of Assembly
was passed putting a stop to all forms of lotteries under heavy
penalties. The act was evaded by having the lotteries drawn
outside the province, although the managers of the Trinity lottery
appear to have had their drawing here in defiance of the law. Ten
years later another lottery, the drawing for which was conducted
outside the Province, was held, to raise £750 “for the benefit of
Trinity Church of Newark and towards building a new English
church [Christ Church] at Second River [Belleville].”

A lottery to aid New Jersey College (Princeton) then in
Newark, was held in 1749, and the drawing conducted in Phila-
delphia. Churches and parsonages were wholly or partially built
by lotteries in: Elizabethtown, St. John’s Episcopal Church; New
Brunswick, New Providence, and Hanover, all about 1748. One
printer of that time spoke of the lotteries as “so many at once
. they were like cabbage too thickly planted, which never suffer one
another to come to a head”—from which we infer that not all the
lotteries projected came to a successful end.

Colonel Josiah Ogden died in 1763, apparently content with
his separation from the Puritan faith of his forefathers and his
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return to the religion which his more ancient forbears in England
had found illy suited to their spiritual needs. He left to the church
in his will, “my silver cup or porringer with two handles,” as
Azariah Crane had done with reference to the First Church.

LOCATION OF HISTORIC WHEAT FIELD.

Where was the wheat field that caused all this uproar which
took more than a century to quiet? Where were those acres into
which Colonel Josiah and his household sallied that peaceful
Sabbath day? There is no apparent way of telling with absolute
certainty, but the historic grain, in all probability, waved on the
gentle slopes comprised between North Canal street and Centre
street, or Saybrook Place. In 1763 and for a year thereafter
Colonel Josiah’s home was offered for sale in the New York news-
papers. Here is one of the advertisements:

“To be sold. The late dwelling house of Col. Josiah Ogden, at
Newark, being built of Free-stone, two and a half story, has six good
rooms and fire-places, besides a kitchen with a Garden and Barn,
and also about four acres of very good mowing or pasture land,
with an Orchard thereon of choice fruit lying near said house,

which is pleasently situated at the most publick Landing in Newark,
and very suitable for a storekeeper or merchant.”

The “most publick landing place in Newark” at the time was
undoubtedly that at the foot of Centre street. Colonel Ogden’s
tidy little farm probably reached from the river to Park Place,
and may have extended from Saybrook Place to the Canal on its
western boundary.

When the “Old Burying Ground” was cleared of the graves of
the forefathers late in the last century the tombstones of Colonel
Ogden and of David Ogden, his brother, were saved from the
wreckage and securely set on either side of the tower of Trinity
Church, outside the edifice. They were so worn that the legends
were well-nigh undecipherable, and early in the present century
they were re-cut. On the north side of the tower is the stone of]
Colonel Ogden. It reads: ‘“Here lyeth interred ye Body of Col.
Josiah Ogden, who died May 17, 1763, in the 84th year of his age.”
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On the south side of the tower the legend on the stone there placed
reads: “Here lyeth interred Body of Captn David Ogden, who died
July 11th A. D. 1784, aged 56 years.”

During the controversy which led to the separation from the
First Church of some of its leading members and the establish-
ment of Trinity, the Rev. Joseph Webb was pastor of the former.
He came to the pastorate in 1718 and immediately after the church
left the Congregational denomination and adopted Presbyterianism.
He was a godly man, meek and unoffending. He was too peaceable
by nature to control or in any way influence the warring elements
in his congregation and shortly after the Trinity separation was
dismissed. He came to a tragic end in 1741, as the following notice
in a New York newspaper explains: ‘“We are informed that the
Rev. Mr. Webb, sometime minister of the Gospel of Newark, was
drowned crossing a ferry over the Connecticut river. His son,
who is said to have been with him, endeavored to save himself
upon his horse; but if the report be true he shared the same fate
as his father.”

DR. AARON BURR.

Now began, in the First Church, the pastorate of the Rev.
Aaron Burr (father of the vice-president of that name) whose
nineteen years here were of the most profound influence upon the
advancement of the town, far transcending the limits of his work
as leader of the flock. His forcefulness in the church is set forth
in the chapters upon Churches of Newark, and will be no further
discussed here. He was a man of deep learning and rare intellectual
attainments. He was graduated from Yale College in 17356 and
came to Newark the following year. His erudition, combined with
a natural aptitude, made him a very successful teacher. He con-
ducted a grammar school while in Newark, probably from the
earliest days of his stay here. He was largely instrumental in the
founding of what afterwards became Princeton College, as he was
one of the leading Presbyterian clergymen in all this section of
the colonies, and the college was established as an institution of
the church and directly under its control, as was the custom of the
time with regard to all institutions of learning in the colonies.
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DAVID BRAINERD AND YALE.

But while spiritual reasons animated the actual establishment
of the college, it would probably not have been created had it not
been for a curious and decidedly human incident, which, amusing
as it seems to-day, strikingly illustrates the narrowness and
intolerance of the perfervid Puritan communities.

In 1741 a student in his third year at Yale was expelled because
he had been discovered to harbor religious thoughts and ideas not
in entire concord with the dominant religious tenets of the college.
He was overheard to remark to fellow students that a certain
instructor possessed no more grace than a chair. This manifesta-
tion of heresy was reported to the authorities by some eaves-
dropper. It was also learned that this student was occasionally
attending the meetings of a congregation outside the college and
of a somewhat different shade of faith. In spite of the most
earnest efforts of his friends in his behalf, the student was
expelled.

ORDAINED A MISSIONARY IN NEWARK.

This student was none other than the Rev. David Brainerd,
spoken of later in religious history as the “saintly Brainerd” and
a deeply devout follower of religion from childhood, with not the
slightest blemish upon his personal character that historians have
been able to discover, a veritable martyr to the faith, in fact.

Brainerd, after being driven from Yale, resolved to become a
missionary to the Indians, and he was ordained to this work, in
Newark, as appears from the following extract from a Boston
newspaper: “Just published.—A sermon preach’d in New-Ark,
June 12, 1744, at the ordination of Dr. David Brainerd, a missionary
among the Indians upon the borders of the provinces of New York,
New Jersey and Pennsylvania.”

Thus did Newark play its part in launching upon his career
one of the earliest missionaries to the Indians in this section of
the country. The young man gave his life to the work, living amid
great privation among the savages and contracting consumption
which brought about his end. His brother, the Rev. John Brainerd,
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took up his brother’s missionary work where the latter dropped it.
Later he succeeded Mr. Burr as pastor of the First Church, subse-
quently taking charge of the first Indian reservation ever estab-
lished in this country, at Brotherton, New Jersey, on the Delaware.

It is difficult for us to understand the times that could tolerate
and even foster lotteries and simultaneously give evidence of such
harshness as that meted out to Brainerd by the grim old doctors
of divinity who then ruled at Yale. It is to the credit of Newark
that it received Brainerd with open arms and that Mr. Burr and
his people were not so tightly swathed in the lashings of intoler-
ance as to be unable to comprehend and condemn the wrong done
him. The’boy and the youth of that period, in New England and
almost to the same degree here in Newark, seems to have led a
far from attractive life, as we view it now.

AUSTERE TRAINING OF BOYS—1700-1760.

One may search the old records and writings up and down for
evidence of anything pleasurable in the lives of the children or
young people, and find little in this period. The boys and girls in
Newark during the first half of the eighteenth century lived either
in strict conformance to the rigid laws of their fathers or departed
from them altogether and were disgraced and deemed little short
of outlaws. That there were very few who strayed from the narrow
and stony path is remarkable. Herewith is given a curious and
Hflluminating description of the life of a Puritan boy of the period
about 1700-1750:

*“A boy was early taught a profound respect for his parents,
teachers or guardians, and implicit, prompt obedience. If he
undertook to rebel, his will was broken by persistent and adequate
punishment. He was accustomed every morning and evening to
bow at the family altar; and the Bible was his ordinary reading
book in school. He was never allowed to close his eyes in sleep
without prayer on his pillow.

“At a sufficient age, no caprice, slight illness, nor any condition
of roads or weather, was allowed to detain him from church. In
the sanctuary he was required to be grave, strictly attentive, and

' “Life of John Brainerd,” pp. 44-48.
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able on his return at least to give the text. From sundown Satur-
day evening until the Sabbath sunset his sports were all suspended,
and all secular reading laid aside; while the Bible, the New England
Primer, Baxter’s Saint’s Rest, etc., were commended to his ready
attention * * * |

“He was taught that his blessings were abundant and unde-
served, his evils relatively few and merited, and that he was not
bound to contentment but gratitude. He was taught that time
was a talent to be always improved; that industry was a cardinal
virtue, and laziness the worst form of original sin. Hence he must
rise early and make himself useful before he went to school; he
must be diligent there in study, and be promptly home to do
‘chores’ at evening. His whole time out of school must be filled
up by some service—such as bringing in fuel for the day, cutting
potatoes for the sheep, feeding the swine, watering the horses,
picking the berries, gathering the vegetables, spooling the yarn
and running all errands.

“He was taught that it was a sin to find fault with his meals,
his apparel, his tasks, or his lot in life. Labor he was not allowed
to regard as a burden, nor abstinence from any improper indulgence
as a hardship.

“His clothes, woolen and linen, for summer and winter, were
mostly spun, woven and made up by his mother and sisters at
home; and as he saw the whole laborious process of their fabrica-
tion he was jubilant and grateful for two suits, with bright buttons,
a year. Rents were carefully closed and holes patched in the
;‘eve;y-day’ dress, and the Sabbath dress was always kept new and

resh.

“He was early expected to have the ‘stops and marks,’ the
‘abbreviations,” the multiplication table, the Ten Commandments,
the Lord’s Prayer and the ‘Shorter Catechism’ at his tongue’s end.

“Courtesy was enjoined as a duty. He must be silent among
his superiors. If addressed by older persons, he must respond with
a bow. He was to bow as he entered and left the school, and bow
to every man or woman, old or young, rich or poor, black or white,
whom he met on the road. Special punishment was visited upon
him if he failed to show respect to the aged, the poor, the colored,
or to any persons whatever whom God had visited with infirmities.
He was thus taught to stand in awe of the rights of humanity.

“Honesty was regarded as a religious duty, and unpaid debts
were represented as infamy. He was allowed to be sharp at a
bargain, to shudder at dependence, but still to prefer poverty to
deception or fraud. His industry was not urged by poverty but
by duty. Those who imposed upon his early responsibility and
restraint led the way by their example, and commended this example
by the prosperity of their fortunes and the respectability of their
positions as the result of these virtues. * * * .
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“He learned to identify himself with the interest he was set
to promote. He claimed every acre of his father’s ample farm, and
every horse and ox and cow and sheep became constructively his,
and he had a name for each. The waving harvests, the garnered
sheaves, the gathered fruits, were all his own. And besides these
he had his individual treasures. He knew every trout-hole in the
streams; he was great at building dams, snaring rabbits, trapping
squirrels and gathering chestnuts and walnuts for winter store.
Days of election, training, thanksgiving and school intermissions
were bright spots in his life. The long winter evenings, made
cheerful by sparkling fires within and cold, clear skies and ice-
crusted plains and frozen streams for his sled and skates, were
full of enjoyment.”

We can hardly respond to the enthusiasm shown by the writer
of the above, over the boyhood of the young Puritan in New Eng-
land, as well as in all Puritan offshoots on Long Island, and at
Newark, Elizabethtown, Middletown, Woodbridge and Piscataway,
in New Jersey. It was a solemn, joyless life, viewed from modern
standpoints. It bred a race of stern, sturdy, honest, but more
or less unimaginative and narrow men, intolerant of the ideas of
other sects. A strange combining of splendid characteristics with
others of which the least said to-day the better.

PRINCETON COLLEGE IN NEWARK.

We are now to see how the expulsion of David Brainerd from
Yale worked for the founding of Princeton. There had been a
dearth of ministers in the Provinice of New Jersey ever since the
first settlements, and the desire for a college where young men
might be prepared for the ministry was increasingly strong.
Harvard and Yale were both difficult for the youth of the middle
colonies to reach. At the time of Brainerd’s expulsion from Yale,
much indignation over this act was felt in New Jersey. It was
intensified by a violent religious controversy in which the clergy
at Yale had been in opposition to those of this neighborhood. The
Rev. Aaron Burr is said to have remarked that “if it had not been
for the treatment received by Mr. Brainerd at Yale College, New
Jersey College would never have been erected.” This was said
by other divines. It is a significant fact that three of Brainerd’s
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most ardent supporters were the three first presidents of the New
Jersey College: Jonathan Dickinson, Aaron Burr and Jonathan
Edwards.

The college was established at Elizabethtown in 1747 with the
Rev. Jonathan Dickinson as its first president, who had for some
time conducted a school at Elizabethtown for the instruction of
theological students, while Burr was conducting his Latin School
in Newark. Dickinson, however, died the same year the college
was started and the eight students were removed to Newark and
placed under the care of Mr. Burr. Thus Newark’s pastor became,
virtually, the first president of what is now Princeton.

It is not clear whether Mr. Burr gave up his grammar school
when he took up the more ambitious work that had fallen into his
hands from Jonathan Dickinson’s stiffening fingers. It was con-
tinued, but may have been directed by someone else. When the
college was moved to Princeton the grammar school went with it.
The college classes were held in the Essex County Courthouse,
which stood facing Broad street, a little south of the church, and
just below Branford Place. Mr. Burr was a masterful teacher and
many of his students while in Newark became the most prominent
men in this and other provinces. Jonathan Belcher, recently made
governor of the Province, unlike some of his predecessors, was
friendly toward the Presbyterian Church, took a deep interest
in the college from its beginning, often speaking of it as his
“daughter.” He worked assiduously to promote its welfare, and
procured its second charter, which was granted by the Crown in
1748.

THE FIRST COMMENCEMENT, 1748.

The institution was formally reorganized under this charter
on November 9, 1748, at the first commencement exercises, which
were held in the church. At that time also Mr. Burr was unani-
mously chosen president of the college which he had administered
for more than a year. The first board of trustees under the
new charter, and the first to show appreciable interest in the great
educational enterprise, were on that day also inducted into office.
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These, the first commencement exercises of the now world-famous
college, were conducted in two sessions, morning and afternoon.
They were the most imposing and impressive ceremonies to occur
in Newark during all the then eighty-two years of its existence.

In each instance, the exercises were opened with a procession,
which started at Mr. Burr’s parsonage, on the south corner of what
are now Broad and William streets, and where Governor Belcher
lodged, he having come here for the express purpose of presenting
the charter and taking part in the ceremonies. The six young
graduates (who, by the way, had been ready for their diplomas
for six months and had had to wait for them until the King signed
the new charter and forwarded it) led the procession, everyone in
it marching by twos. They were followed by the trustees, after
whom came Governor Belcher and President Burr. Thus the line
proceeded up Broad street from William to the church. Arrived
at the door, the graduates stood, three in a line on each side, while
the Governor and the President entered first, the graduates enter-
ing last as the church bell ceased tolling.

“Thus the first appearance of a college in New Jersey having
given solemn satisfaction, even the unlearned being pleased with
the external solemnity and decorum which they saw ’t ’is hoped
that this infant college will meet due encouragement from all public
spirited, generous minds; and that the lovers of mankind will wish

it prosperity and contribute to its support.” *

The first graduates were: Richard Stockton (afterwards a
signer of the Declaration of Independence and one of New Jersey’s
most eminent sons in all generations), Enos Ayres, Benjamin
Chestnut, Hugo Henry, Israel Reed and Daniel Thane. All became
ministers with the exception of Stockton, who took up the study

of law and became a distinguished jurist.

REQUIREMENTS FOR ADMISSION.

The original requirements for admission are interesting. They
were as follows:

* Parker's Gazette and Post Boy. New York, Nov. 21, 1748,
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. “1. None may expect to be admitted to college but such as
being examined by the President and Tutors shall be found able
to render Virgil and Tully’s orations into English; and to turn
English into true and grammatical Latin; and to be so well
acquainted with the Greek as to render any part of the four
Evangelists in that language into Latin or English; and to give the
grammarical connexion of the words.

“2. Every student [that] enters college shall transcribe the
Laws [of the college] which being signed by the President shall be
testimony of his admission, and shall be kept by him, while he
remains a member of the college, as the rule for his Behaviour.”

The time for succeeding commencements was fixed for the last
Wednesday in September by the trustees, and they also decided
that the second commencement should be held at New Brunswick.
Governor Belcher urged that the second commencement exercises
be held at Princeton, but he was overruled, the majority of the
trustees being anxious to have the institution permanently estab-
lished at New Brunswick. The third commencement and those
succeeding it until the college was removed to Princeton were held
here, in Newark.

WHY THE COLLEGE LEFT NEWARK.

There seems to have been, almost from the first, a conviction
that the college could not remain in Newark. Just why this was
80 early determined cannot be told to-day. One reason no doubt
was a desire to have the institution more centrally located in the
region from which it was expected to draw the majority of its
students, since not a few of them were drawn from Pennsylvania
and further south, while it was expected that New York would
send few of her sons here, but to Yale or to Harvard. Another
force that worked for its removal further into the country was,
no doubt, the desire to keep the young men as far as possible from
the temptations of a large community like New York. The officers
of the college decided, however, that the community in which it
was to sit down forever, must furnish a bond for £1,000, donate
ten acres of cleared ground and two hundred acres of woodland.
At the third commencement, here in Newark, the trustees voted
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to make proposals embodying the above conditions to both New
Brunswick and Princeton. The majority of the trustees expected
the people of New Brunswick would meet the conditions. Indeed,
they had insisted upon the second commencement being held there
in the expectation that the people in that village would be so
impressed with its value and importance, as to undertake to adopt
it. But New Brunswick folk could not or would not raise the
thousand pounds nor supply the land, while a few well-to-do and
public-spirited residents of Princeton rose to the emergency, and
thus the College of New Jersey presently became what, after the
War for Indpendence, was to be re-named Princeton.

Why was the proposition above described not offered to the
people of Newark? Possibly because of the desire for a more central
location, and possibly because the college officers had found, with-
out the necessity for a formal tender of their conditions, that
Newark people would not respond to it. New Brunswick subse-
quently got its college (now known as Rutgers), but Newark, to
the everlasting regret of many of its people to-day, not only let one
of its greatest opportunities slip through its fingers, but has been
content ever since to go on without a higher institution of learning,
for more than a century and a half.

But there is another theory with reference to the failure of
the college to remain in the community in which it was virtually
given in its initial momentum, which, so far as the writer is aware,
has never been given its proper weight by the historians of either
Newark or the college. The County Courthouse, it will be remem-
bered, was the only available college hall. Nearly all recitations
and meetings of the college body were held there. The Courthouse
was next door to the county jail. The land riots which roused the
town and the entire county to fever heat at times, throughout the
stay of the college in Newark, had the jail as their focal point, for
the citizens who were arrested by the officers of the Provincial
government were continually being delivered from that jail by their
infuriated fellow citizens.
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Such activity under the very windows of the college could not
be considered anything less than pernicious so far as the college’s
well-being was concerned. Indeed, as a number of the students
educated there while the institution was located in Newark after-
ward became leaders in the cause of liberty, it is not beyond reason
to assume that they drank in some of their spirit of independence
from the turbulent scenes around their class room doors in the early
1760°s. Finally, Governor Belcher, an enthusiastic supporter of the
college, was equally energetic in denouncing the land rioters, and
it is easy enough to conceive of his being anxious to remove the
young men from such a hot-bed of insubordination, and of his
having used his great influence with the president and trustees for
its transportation to a quieter and more docile neighborhood.

COLLEGE LIFE IN NEWARK.

College life in Newark was, of course, vastly different from
that at Princeton to-day. There were no dormitories; the students
lived in the families of the townspeople, which was felt to be
unfavorable to intellectual and moral discipline. The college had
no building of its own. It remained in Newark about eight years,
and President Burr kept up his duties as ‘pastor of the First
Church, and possibly continued to conduct his grammar school,
all that time except for the last year when, because of his increas-
ing responsibilities he found he must give up the college or the
church, and he chose to leave the latter. For the first three years
of the college’s life in Newark he received no salary. After that,
five pounds of the institution’s income was annually devoted to
the payment of the college clerk or treasurer, as much more to
the payment of fixed charges, and the rest given to the president
and the tutor or tutors.

The Assembly of the Province turned a deaf ear to the appeals
of the trustees for “countenance and support.” The people of
Newark and the adjacent towns seem to have kept their purse-
strings tightly closed against it. Generous folk of Boston, Mass.,
subscribed a few hundred pounds after a time, and President Burr
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was presently made very happy while on a sick bed by the good
news that the college had won £200 in a lottery. The lottery,
forbidden by the Jersey Assembly, throve in Pennsylvania. Mr.
Burr, during all the time the college was in Newark, did most of
the teaching himself, having never more than two and sometimes
only one tutor to assist him. In 1751 a few pieces of apparatus
for the teaching of natural science were procured, and the next
year Mr. Burr published his Latin Grammar, known as the
“Newark Grammar,” which was long used in the college as the
standard.

THE COURSE OF STUDY.

The college course of study embraced these subjects: Latin
and Greek, Elements of Mathematics, Natural Philosophy, Moral
Philosophy, Rhetoric and Logic, with discourses upon doctrinal
religious faith. The freshmen, at least, had little time for diver-
sions, athletic or otherwise, as will appear from the following, an
extract of a letter written by Joseph Shippen, jr., to his father in
Philadelphia, on February 14, 1750:

“At seven in the morning we recite to the President lessons
in the works of Xenophon, in Greek, and in Watts’ Ontology. The
rest of the morning until dinner time, we study Cicero de Oratore
and the Hebrew Grammar and recite our lessons to Mr. Sherman
(the college tutor). The remaining part of the day we spend in
the study of Xenophon and Ontology, to recite the next morning.
And besides these things, we dispute once every week affer the
syllogistic method; and now and then we learn Geography.”

The college was removed to Princeton in the fall of 1756,
where a house for President Burr and a building for the institution
had been prepared. It took seventy students with it, and during

its stay in Newark about ninety had been graduated.

Newark felt the departure of Mr. Burr quite as keenly as it
did the removal of the college; probably more so, since it seems
to have made no effort to retain it, although the townspeople
opposed his going, bitterly.
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DR. BURR'S MARRIAGE.

Four years before he departed from Newark, Mr. Burr went
on a journey in New England (probably in search of funds to keep
his college going), and when he returned announced, no doubt to
the great amazement of the college and town, that, after fifteen
years of single blessedness since his coming to Newark, he was
about to take unto himself a wife. Joseph Shippen, jr., the student
already quoted, like a dutiful son, promptly wrote his father all
about it, on July 6, 1752, as follows:

YOUNG SHIPPEN'S LETTERS.

“Dear and Honoured Sir:—

“The best piece of news I have now to furnish you with is the
marriage of our President. As this must come very unexpected
to you, I shall give you an account of his proceedings as brief as
they were themselves. In the latter end of May he took a journey
into New England, and during his absence he made a visit of but
three days to the Rev. Mr. [Jonathan] Edward’s daughter, at
Stockbridge, Mass., in which short time, though he had no acquaint-
ance with, nor, indeed, ever saw the lady these six years, I suppose
he accomplished his whole design; for it was not a fortnight after
his return here before he sent a young fellow, who came out of
College last Fall, into New England, to conduct her and her mother
down here.

“They came to town on a Saturday evening, the 27th inst.,
and on the Monday evening following, the nuptial ceremonies were
celebrated between Mr. Burr and the young lady. As I have yet
no manner of acquaintance with her, I cannot describe to you her
qualifications and properties; however, they say she is a very
valuable lady. I think her a person of great beauty, though I must
say that in my opinion she is rather young (being only twenty-one
(?) years of age) for the President. This account you’ll doubtless
communicate to Mammy as I learn she has Mr. Burr’s happiness
much at heart. I conclude with my love and duty to her, love to
—&ec., &c., and am with due esteem

“Your very dutiful and affectionate son,
“J. Shippen, jr.”

N. B.—Mr. Burr was in his thirty-seventh year.

Mrs. Burr was the third daughter of the Rev. Jonathan
Edwards, who was one of his son-in-law’s successors to the
Presidency of New Jersey College. Shippen guessed the young
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lady’s age wrong. She was but nineteen. Later, Shippen wrote his
father: “I can’t omit acquainting you that our President enjoys
all the happiness the married state can afford. I am sure when
he was in the condition of celibacy the pleasure of his life bore
no comparison to that he now possesses. From the little acquaint-
ance I have with his lady I think her a woman of very good sense,
of a genteel and virtuous education, amiable in her person, of great
affability and agreeableness in conversation and a very excellent
economist. These qualifications may help you to frame some idea
of the person who lives in the sincerest mutual affection with
Mr. Burr.”
A WOMAN OF RARE QUALITIES.

But we do not have to rely upon the estimate of an enthusiastic
college student. Mrs. Burr was a woman of unusual gifts, and no
doubt many a student left the college for the world in those early
days a better and truer man for her influence. One writer has
left this: ¢ “She exceeded most of her sex in the beauty of her
person, as well as in her behavior and conversation. She discovered
an unaffected natural freedom toward persons of all ranks with
whom she conversed. Her genius was more than common. She
had a lively imagination, a quick and penetrating discernment, and
a good judgment. She possessed an uncommon degree of wit and
vivacity, which yet was consistent with pleasantness and good
nature; and she knew how to be facetious and sportive, without
trespassing on the bounds of decorum or of strict and serious
religion. In short, she seemed formed to please, especially to please
one of Mr. Burr’s taste and character, in whom he was exceedingly
proud.”

Mrs. Burr was the first woman to be permitted any acknowl-
edgement of particular personal worth in the whole history of
Newark up to her time, and she richly deserves the extended
notice of her given here.

Aaron, the unfortunate son of this union, was born here in
Newark, in the parsonage, a few months before the college was

¢+ “Edwards’ Life Works,” vol {, p. 651.
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removed. His sister, Sarah, was also born here, a year or so older
than he. Their father died less than a year after the removal to
Princeton, and their mother followed him a few months later. All
their immediate relatives soon passed away and the children were
left in the care of more distant members of the family. Aaron was
troublesome from early boyhood and his mother wrote of him with
what might almost seem ominous prevision: “Aaron is a little,
dirty, noisy dog, very different from Sally, almost in everything.
He begins to talk a little and is very sly and mischievous. He is
very resolute and requires a ‘good governor’ to bring him to
terms.”

But there seems to have been no “governor” for him. He did
about as he pleased, and when it pleased him to enter Princeton,
he made his mark, for he had inherited much of his parents’
brilliancy. The fact that after becoming the third Vice-President
of the United States he permitted himself to fall into disgrace may
in some measure be accounted for by the loss of his parents in
infancy. Indeed, this more charitable view of Aaron Burr has in
latter years gained wide prevalence.

THE COLLEGE’S INFLUENCE ON NEWARK.

The College of New Jersey was to an extent instrumental in
bringing new life and energy into Newark. The town grew some-
what in population and began to develop its industries as never
before. Unconsciously, it was preparing itself for stirring events.
It was during Mr. Burr’s pastorate that the full separation of
“church and State” in Newark, the thing above all things that the
founders had striven to avert for all time, was accomplished. On
June 7, 1763, a charter of incorporation was obtained from Governor
Belcher for the First Church. This charter, in a modified form,
continues in force to this day. While previous to the incorporation,
from the founding of the town, the salary of the church’s pastor
had been voted in town meeting, and the town was liable for its
payment, it really was paid to Mr. Burr and a number of his pre-
decessors by only those who were directly interested in the church.
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Trinity Church already had been incorporated and sustained its
own pastor, as did the Orange Church, that of the “Mountain
Society.” Complete separation of civil and ecclesiastical affairs in
what was then Newark, was therefore brought about by the First
Church’s incorporation.

A REMARKABLE ROLL OF HONOR.

Over ninety young men were graduated from the College of
New Jersey while it was in Newark, or received part of their
education while here before the institution was removed. The list
is a remarkable one, and the proportion of graduates who climbed
to high places is surprising. This little group of young men whose
minds were trained, whose faculties were cultivated and who were
inspired to strive for greater things, here in Newark, exercised a
profound influence upon the advancement of the country. It so
happened that the College of New Jersey was established at just
the right time to prepare men for the great struggle for independ-
ence. The Newark graduates were men of middle life when the
war came and their services were of incalculable value. The follow-
ing list of the leading members of that little group of graduates or
students of the college while in Newark will interest many and tell
its own story line by line:

Class of 1748—Israel Read; trustee of Princeton, 1761-1793;
A. M, Princeton, 17561. Richard Stockton; trustee Princeton, 1757-
1781; clerk board of trustees, Princeton, 1757-1765; member of
Provincial Council, New Jersey, 1768-1776; Judge Supreme Court

of New Jersey, 1774-1776; member Continental Congress, 1776-
1777 ; signer Declaration of Independence; A. M., Princeton, 1751.

Class of 1749—William Burnet; surgeon Second Regiment,
Essex county, N. J., 1776-1777; lieutenant colonel, physician and
surgeon general, Eastern Department, Continental army, 1777-
1780; major, hospital physician, Continental army, 1780-1781;
lieutenant colonel, chief hospital physician, Continental army, 1781-
1788 ; presiding judge Court of Common Pleas, Essex county, N. J.,
17—; A. M., Princeton, 1752. John Todd, A. M., Princeton, 1758.

Class of 1750—James Beard, A. M., Yale, hon. 1754. Alexander
Clinton, A. M., M. D. Daniel Farrand, A. M., Princeton, 1753; also
Yale, hon. 17717.
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Class of 1761—Jonathan Badger; tutor Princeton, 1752-1756;
A. M., Princeton, 1754. Samuel Clark, A. M., hon. Yale, 1757.
Alexandeg Gordon, tutor Princeton, 1752-1754. Robert Henry,
A. M., Princeton, 1754. Samuel McClintock, A. M., D. D.; chaplain
French and Indian War; chaplain 2nd New Hampshire Regiment,
Continental army, 17756; A. M., Princeton, 1755; Yale, 17565; Har-
vard, 1761, hon. D. D. Yale, 1791. Henry Martin, A. M., Princeton,
1764. Benjamin Youngs Prime, tutor Princeton, 1756-1757; A. M.,
Princeton, 1754 ; also Yale, 1761, hon.; M. D., Leyden, 1764. Robert
Ross, A. M., Princeton, 1764; also Yale, 1764, hon. Nathaniel
Scudder, member Continental Congress, 1777-1779; lieutenant
colonel 1st Regiment, Monmouth county, N. J., militia, 1776 ; colonel
of same regiment, 1776-1781 ; trustee Princeton, 1778-1781 ; member
New Jersey Assembly, 1780-1781; A. M., Princeton, 17656; M. D.

Class of 1762—George Duffield, tutor Princeton, 17654-1756;
trustee Princeton, 1777-1790; chaplain Continental Congress; chap-
lain Continental army, 1776-1777; A. M., Princeton, 1756; D. D.,
Yale, 1785. Jeremiah Halsey, tutor Princeton, 1757-1767; trustee
Princeton, 1770-1780; clerk board of trustees, Princeton, 1772;
A. M., Princeton, 1755. Samuel Livermore, member New Hamp-
shire Provincial Assembly, 1768-1770; judge advocate of Admiralty,
New Hampshire, 1769; attorney, New Hampshire, 1769-1774;
attorney-general, New Hampshire, 1776-1780; member Continental
Congress, 1780-1782, 1785-1786; chief justice Supreme Court of
New Hampshire, 1782-1790; member New Hampshire Constitu-
tional Convention, 1788; United States representative from New
Hampshire, 1789-1790; United States senator from New Hamp-
shire, 1798-1801; president United States Senate, 1799-1800;
president New Hampshire Constitutional Convention, 1791; A. M.,
Princeton, 1766; L.L. D., Dartmouth, 1792. Nathaniel Whitaker,
A. M,, Princeton, 1756; D. D., St. Andrews, 1767 ; also Dartmouth,
1780.

Class of 1758—Daniel Isaac Brown, prothonotary, Bergen
county, N. J., 1776 ; member New Jersey Constitutional Convention,
1776 ; major Fourth Battalion, New Jersey Volunteers (Loyalists),
1778, 1780 ; A. M., Princeton, 1758; also Columbia, 1758, hon. John
Harris, member South Carolina Provincial Congress. Robert
Harris, trustee Princeton, 1761-1815; A. M., Princeton, 1759; M. D.
Lewis Ogden, clerk Prerogative Court, New Jersey, 1765-1772;
member New Jersey Provincial Congress, 1776; member of com-
mittee drafting New Jersey Constitution, 1776. Nathaniel Potter,
A. M., Harvard, 1758, hon. Joseph Shippen, jr., captain in Colonel
Clapham’s regiment, Pennsylvania Provincial troops, 1756-1768;
brigade major, 1758; lieutenant colonel, 1758-1762; secretary
Province of Pennsylvania, 1762-1776; Pennsylvania commissioner
to Indian Treaty, 1768; judge of County Court, Lancaster, Pa.,

1789-1810.
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Class of 1764—Benjamin Chapman, A. M., Yale, 1761, hon.
John Ewing, tutor Princeton, 1756-1758; professor natural philos-
ophy, University of Pennsylvania, 1758-17569; provost University
of Pennsylvania, 1779-1802; A. M., Princeton, 1757; also U. of P.,
17569; D. D. Edinburgh, 1778. Ezra Horton, A. M., Yale, 1772, hon.
Hugh Knox, A. M., Yale, 1768, hon.; D. D. Glasgow, 17—. David
Mathews, mayor of city of New York, 1775-1776; judge of Police
Court, New York City, 1777; major New York Loyalist troops;
register New York Court of Admiralty, 1782; attorney general
Cape Breton ; commander-in-chief at Cape Breton; A. M., Columbia,
1758, hon. Jonathan Odell, surgeon and chaplain British army,
1776; councilor and secretary Province of New Brunswick, 1785;
A. M,, Princeton, 1757. Sylvanus Osborn, A. M., Yale, 1757, hon.
Benaiah Root, A. M., Dartmouth, 1784, hon. Josiah Sherman,
chaplain 7th Connecticut Regiment, 1777; A. M., Harvard, 1758,
hon.; also Yale, 1765, hon. William Shippen, jr., fellow Edinburg
Medical College; professor anatomy, Philadelphia Medical College,
1765-1792; chief physician Flying Camp, 1776; director general
General Hospital Department, 1777-1781; professor of anatomy
and surgery, University of Pennsylvania, 1792-1808; trustee of
Princeton, 1765-1796; A. M., Princeton, 1768; M. D., Edinburgh,
1761. William Thomson, tutor Princeton, 1756-1766. Noah Wad-
hams, A. M., Yale, hon.

Class of 17556—Jonathan Baldwin, steward Columbia, 1756
(7, 1757 (?); steward Princeton, 1757 (?), 1773, 1781-1782;
member New Jersey Provincial Congress, 17756; A. M., Princeton,
1758. Benoni Bradner, private New York Line, Continental army;
A. M., Princeton, 1758; also Yale, 1768, hon. Thaddeus Burr,
member Connecticut Assembly, 1769-1771, 1775-1776, 1778-1779;
justice of the peace, Fairfield county, Conn., 1777-1778, 1782; high
sheriff of Fairfield county, 1779 ; member of Connecticut Constitu-
tional Convention, 1778; A. M., Yale, 1759, hon. William Craw-
ford, surgeon general Ruggle’s regiment, French and Indian War;
chaplain Colonel Fry’'s regiment, and of Colonel Abijah Willard’s
regiment, French and Indian War; surgeon, British army, Fort
Pownal. 1764-1765; justice Penobscot River and Bay; A. M., Har-
vard, 1761, hon.; M. D. Joseph Montgomery, master Nassau Hall
Grammar School, 1757-1768; tutor University of Pennsylvania,
1769-1760; chaplain Delaware regiment, Continental army, 1776;
brigade chaplain, 1778-1780; member Pennsylvania Assembly,
1780-1781; member Continental Congress, 1780-1784; A. M,
Princeton, 1768; also Yale, 1760, hon.; also University of Penn-
gylvania, hon. Isaac Smith, tutor Princeton, 1757-1768; colonel
1st Regiment, Hunterdon county, N. J., militia, 1776-1777; judge
New Jersey Supreme Court, 1777-1795; United States Representa-
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~ tive from New Jersey, 1795-1797; fellow New Jersey Medical
%)leetl};; A. M., Princeton, 17568; also University of Pennsylvania,
, hon.,

Class of 1766—Alexander Martin, member North Carolina
Assembly, 1774-1775; presiding judge District Court, Salisbury
county, N. C., 1775 ; lieutenant colonel 2nd North Carolina regiment,
1775; colonel, 1776-1777; member North Carolina Senate, 1779-
1782, 1785-1788, 1804-1805; speaker North Carolina Senate, 1780-
1782; acting governor North Carolina, 1781 ; governor North Caro-
lina, 1782-1785, 1789, 1792 ; United States Senator from N. C., 1793-
1799; member United States Constitutional Convention, 1786;
trustee University of North Carolina, 1790-1807; president board
of trustees University N. C., 1792-1798; A. M., 1769; L.L. D,
Princeton, 1793. Josiah Ogden, A. B., Columbia, 1758, hon. Jesse
Root, Captain Hartford, Conn., volunteers, 1776; lieutenant colonel
Connecticut volunteers, 1776-1777; adjutant general Connecticut,
1777; justice of peace, Hartford county, Conn., 1777; member
Connecticut Senate, 1778-1780; member Continental Congress,
1778-1783; State Attorney, Conn., 1785-1789; judge Connecticut
Supreme Court, 1789-1796; chief justice, Connecticut Supreme
Court, 1796-1807; A. M., Yale, 1766, hon.; L.L. D., Yale, 1800. Azel
Roe, trustee Princeton, 1778-1807; moderator General Assembly,
1802; D. D., Yale, 1800.

Class of 1767—Caleb Barnum, chaplain Western Division, Con-
tinental army; A. M., Princeton, 1760; also Harvard, 1768, hon.
Nicholas Bayard, alderman, New York City. Noah Benedict,
fellow at Yale, 1801-1802; A. M., Yale, 1760, hon. Caleb Curtis,
member Massachusetts Assembly, 1787; member Massachusetts
Constitutional Convention, 1788; A. M., Princeton, 1760. Timothy
Edwards, justice of the peace, Essex county, N. J., 1767; member
Massachusetts Provincial Council, 1775-1780; commissary Conti-
nental army; probate judge, Berkshire county, Mass., 1778-1787;
commissioner to Indians; commissioner on New York-Massachu-
setts boundary; A. M., Princeton, 1760. William Kirkpatrick, trus-
tee Princeton, 1767-1769; A. M. Princeton, 1760. Alexander Mac-
whorter, pastor of old First Church of Newark, N. J., before, during
and after the War for Independence; chaplain Knox’s Artillery
Brigade, N. J.; president Charlotte Academy, North Carolina, 1779-
1780 ; trustee Princeton, 1772-1807; A. M., Princeton, 1760; Yale,
1776, hon. Joseph Reed, president Pennsylvania State Convention,
1775; lieutenant colonel and military secretary Washington’s staff,
1775-1776; colonel and adjutant general Continental army, 1776-
1777; member Continental Congress, 1777-1778; attorney general
of Pennsylvania, 1778-1780; member and president Pennsylvania
Supreme Executive Council, 1778-1780; trustee of Princeton, 1780-
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1785 trustee University of Pennsylvania, 1782-1785; A. M., Prince-
ton, 1760; also University of Pennsylvania, 1760, hon. James
Smith, professor of chemistry and materia medica, Columbia, 1767-
1770; M. D., Leyden, 1764. Stephen Sayre, captain Suffolk county,
N. Y., militia, French and Indian War, 1759; sheriff of London,
England, 1778-1774; secret agent in Longon, Eng., for France,
1792; A. M., Harvard, 1766, hon. Samuel Taylor, 2nd lieutenant
Brewer’s Massachusetts regiment, 1775 (?) ; A. M., Yale, 1765, hon.
John Treat, tutor Princeton, 1758-1760; chaplain Continental army ;
A. M., Princeton, 1760. Henry Wells, A. M., Yale, 1760, hon.;
M. D., Dartmouth, 1802.
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CHAPTER XI.

THE GREAT NEWARK RIOTS—FRENCH AND INDIAN WARS
—COLONEL PETER SCHUYLER—NEW ROADS—
FIRST STAGE LINES.
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CHAPTER XL

THE GREAT NEWARK Riors—FRENCH AND INDIAN WARS—COLONEL PETER
ScHUYLER—NEW RoADs—FIRsT STAGE LINES,

HE last important demonstrations on the part of the people
I against the Lords Proprietors, the monarchs of the land,
began in Newark and Essex county in 1745, almost simul-
taneously with the establishment of the College of New Jersey in
the town, and continued intermittently during the time that the
college was here. It was the War for Independence, in fact, that
ended them. In 1745, New Jersey was called upon to take her part
in the struggles of the colonies against the French and the Indians,
and the people of Newark and of Essex were to a greater or less
extent involved in the wars that followed each other quite closely
during the next twenty years. This chapter, therefore, is taken
up largely with the troubles over the land and the wars, two
influences of tremendous force in preparing the people for the
mighty struggle for full independence which was to follow. The
land troubles showed the people what they could accomplish against
those high in authority when they stood with fearlessness and
determination for what they believed to be their rights, and the
wars developed their military ardor and fitness for the field.

For nearly thirty years, from 1717 to 17465, there was little
friction between the people and the Lords Proprietors over the
land, simply because the latter did not attempt during that period
to enforce their title or to recover their quit-rents. Large tracts
of lands in East Jersey had, however, under the ancient Carteret
title, gotten into the hands of two men, Robert Hunter Morris, a
son of Governor Morris, and James Alexander, the former the chief
justice in the colony and the latter the colonial secretary.

“These gentlemen,” says Gordon in his History of New Jersey,

“with other extensive proprietors, during the life of Governor
Morris and towards the close of his administration, commenced
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actions of ejectment and suits of recovery of quit-rents against
many of the settlers. These immediately resorted to their Indian
titles for defence, and formed an association, consisting of a large
proportion of the inhabitants of the eastern part of Middlesex, the
whole of Essex, part of Somerset and part of Morris counties; who
were enabled by their union and violence to bid defiance to the law,
to hold possession of the lands which were fairly within the Indian
grant.” Other persons, however, who had no title to the lands
they held under the Indian grants, took advantage of this uprising
of the “associators,” joining with them to save their own lands
under the cloak spread by the holders of Indian titles.

“The prisons,” continues Gordon, “were no longer competent
to keep those whom the laws condemned to confinement. * * *
During several consecutive years:® all persons confined for like
cause or on charge of high treason and rebellion from resisting
laws were released at the will of the insurgents, so that the arm
of the government was in this regard wholly paralyzed. Persons
who had long holden under the proprietors were forcibly ejected,
others compelled to take leases from landlords whom they were not
disposed to acknowledge, whilst those who had the courage to stand
out were threatened with, and in many instances received, personal
violence.”

Governor Belcher and his Council took a very dark view of the
situation. They were strongly disposed to treat the offenders as
rebels and traitors to the Crown, with much the same spirit as
that which animated the King’s officers a quarter of a century
later when the War for Independence broke in all its fury. They
drew up a riot act, which they sent to the Assembly, modeled after
that of England, making it a felony without benefit of clergy,
“for twelve or more, tumultuously assembled together, to refuse
to disperse upon the requisition of civil authority.” The Assembly
rejected the bill, despite the ragings and fomentings of the Gov-
ernor and his Council. The people’s representatives were, in fact,

!From 1746.
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more or less strongly in sympathy with the people, although they
more than once vehemently condemned the inadequate military
force to reduce the rioters to subjection or to guard prisons.

It is impossible for us to-day to determine to how great a
degree the Governor and those about him, and the people on the
other hand, were in error. A number of the Governor’s Council
were Lords Proprietors who for three generations had been held in
something closely akin to abhorrence by the people. The latter had
much justice on their side and were thrown into a state of violent
protest at the very mention of the proprietary rights to the land.
They were made even more indignant by a petition to the King
submitted by the Lords Proprietors in 1749, in which the course of
the people in protecting their titles to the land was portrayed in
insulting and arrogant language, with a view to stirring the home
government to suppress the people by force, as traitors to the
Crown. The Assembly filed a counter petition with the King in
. which it was asserted:

“That the proprietaries of East New Jersey had, from the
first settlement, surveyed, patented and divided their lands, by
Concessions among themselves, in such a manner as from thence
many irregularities had ensued, which had occasioned multitudes
of controversies and law suits about titles and boundaries of land.
That these controversies had subsisted between a number of poor
people on the one part and some of the rich, understanding and
powerful on the other part.” The petition also asserted that, in
the Assembly’s opinion, the disorder of the people in no way
indicated any disaffection to the King or his government, but was
caused by an uneasiness that sprang from a fear that the pro-
prietaries might be powerful enough to so influence the courts
and the courts’ officers as to wrest their land from them by legal

procedure.
THE JAIL DELIVERY OF 1746.

The greatest disturbances occurred in Newark; indeed, this
community and Essex county have usually been in the lead in every
public movement since the very days of the founders. “We have
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just now received,” remarked the New York Weekly Post-Boy, in
its issue of January 20, 1746, “the following account of a very
extraordinary riot at Newark, on Thursday last, viz.: The day
before, one Nehemiah Baldwin, with two others, were apprehended
there by order of the Governor in Council, for being concerned in
a former riot,’ and committed to jail. In the morning one of them
offer’d to give bail, and the sheriff for that purpose took him out
in order to carry him to the judge. But on their way thither, a
great number of persons appeared armed with cudgels, coming
down from the back settlements,® immediately rescued the prisoner
in a very violent manner, contrary to his own desire. Upon this
the sheriff retreated to the jail,* where he raised thirty men of
the militia, with their officers, in order to guard it; but by two
o’clock in the afternoon the mob being increased to about 300
strong, marched with the utmost intrepidity to the prison, declar-
ing that if they were fired on, they would kill every man. And
after breaking through the guard, wounding and being wounded,
they got to the jail, which they broke open, setting at liberty all
the prisoners they could find, as well debtors as others, and then
marched off in triumph, using many threat’ning expressions against
all those who had assisted the authority. Several of the guard as
well as of the mob were much wounded and bruised, and ’tis thought
one of the latter is past recovery. What may be the consequence
of this affair, is not easy to guess.”

This demonstration reminds one of the daring defiance of the
constituted authority late in the seventeenth century and described
in a previous chapter, occurring at the same place and for much
the same cause. Now, however, the people had an organization
which they did not possess in the earlier riots. The “associators”
were sprinkled all through the county, and could be assembled
swiftly, as the above account tells of the mob growing to large
proportions in a few hours, in response to the call for action sent

2 In September of the same year.
s From what are now Springfleld, the Oranges, Montclair, Bloomfleld, &c.
¢ At Broad street, just south of Branford place.
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in every direction, no doubt. In this we see the genesis of the
“minute men” of the Revolution. In the boldness and determina-
tion of the “associators” we discern the same courage that char-
acterized the colonists in the struggle with the Crown thirty years
later. At this time Essex county’s population (as the county, much
larger than at present, was defined) was about 7,000, which included
450 slaves. The total population of the entire province of New
Jersey was about 32,000.

GOVERNOR BELCHER’S WARNING.

Commenting upon this disturbance, Governor Belcher, in his
speech to the Assembly in 1746, said: “His Majesty’s Attorney
General will lay before you an account of a great riot, or rather
insurrection, at Newark. This was a natural consequence of one
that was some time before that; and though I did what by advice
of his Majesty’s Council they judged at that time sufficient to put
a check to an evil that had too great a probability of growing
bigger, and to prevent its doing so; yet (as appears) it was without
the effect intended. So open and avowed an attempt in defiance of
the government and contempt of the laws, if not High Treason,
make so nigh approaches to it, as seems too likely to end in
Rebellion, and throwing off his majesty’s authority, if timely
measures be not taken to check the intemperance of a too licentious
multitude; I therefore recommend this matter to your most serious
consideration.”

The Governor’s warning in the light of subsequent events
seems to-day almost prophetic. But it is certain the people of
Essex at that time never so much as thought of striving to throw
off the yoke of Great Britain, and they were almost immediately
to show their devotion to the King by springing to arms to defend
his domains against the French and the natives.

A little more light, although from a prejudiced source, is shed
upon the temper of the people of Essex and their methods of
operation during the period now under consideration, in the peti-
tion of the Lords Proprietors to the King in 1747, in the following:
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“that since the first riot in Essex * * * they, the said rioters,
have gone on like a torrent, bearing down all before them; dis-
possessing some people of their estates, and giving them to their
accomplices and dividing the spoil; the keeping daily in armed
numbers, and traveling often in armed multitudes to different parts
of the Province, for those purposes; the presuming to establish the
courts of justice and appointing captains and officers over his
Majesty’s subjects; the laying and collecting of taxes.”

The Assembly denied the truth of the above, but from other
sources it is plain enough that there was considerable of fact in it.
The Essex “associators” were clearly the most powerful and best
organized throughout all the Province, and that they did travel
about the adjacent counties urging their neighbors to stand firm
for what they deemed their rights, is well established. Whenever
any of the rioters were brought to trial it was next to impossible
to get a jury to convict them.

There were several jail deliveries in Newark, and the crowds
were always daring and determined. The “associators” seem to
have held their meetings openly, often posting notices announcing
them on tavern doors and other prominent places.

Almost the entire county of Essex—and the exceptions were
usually those holding office under the provincial government—was
openly or secretly allied with the “associators.” When asked why
they sided with the rioters, well known men would say that while
they had no personal concern in the troublous state of affairs, they
felt their neighbors were being wronged by the Proprietors and
“would assist them and see it out.” It was estimated that about
one-half of the rioters held their lands under Proprietary titlgs,
that about a fourth had both Proprietary and Indian titles and
“that of the remaining quarter great numbers have no pretence
to any right either Proprietary or Indian, and but a very few have
Indian right only.” From this it is quite clear that the vast
majority of the people of Essex were fighting for a principle, and
not alone to promote their selfish personal interests.
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ESSEX COUNTY THE BATTLEGROUND.

In 1766 a statement was made to the Governor by a committee
of the Assembly which concluded as follows: “That the riots
which have disturbed the peace of the Province since the year 1746
have been principally committed by the people of the county of
Essex, and the said people on the society’s said tract, who we hope
* * * are generally sensible of their errors, and that no more
opposition may come from them to the course of justice and legal
proceedings as to the many riots committed within two years past
near the line of New York and this Province.”

After 1766 we hear little more of land riots for fifteen years.
In 1770 they broke out with renewed fury and were practically the
last stroke in accomplishing Newark’s preparedness for the war
for liberty, as we shall see in the next chapter.

THE FRENCH AND INDIAN WARS.

War between Great Britain and France had been going on for
some time, but was not declared until March, 1744. The King of
England and his ministers called upon the Provinces through the
governors to co-operate with the mother country in the conquest
of Canada. An expedition was conducted from New England to
Louisburg, in two months, showing the pluck and the steadiness of
tried and disciplined troops; an achievement for which the Crown
was apparently loath to give the colonists the great credit they
deserved. In May, two years later, the Provincial governors were
called on to do their part in organizing a movement on Canada by
way of New York. The New Jersey Assembly resolved to raise a
force of five hundred men. The people responded almost instantly,
for in less than two months six hundred and fifty men had offered .
themselves for enlistment.

COLONEL PETER SCHUYLER.

This little command, the first in the history of New Jersey
to be organized and equipped for service without its borders, was
led by Colonel Peter Schuyler, a patriotic and public-spirited
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gentleman and a gallant soldier, a resident of Newark as it was
then constituted. He is the most striking and inspiring character
in all Newark’s early history after the founders, from the days of
Robert Treat and the Rev. Abraham Pierson. He was a son of
Arent Schuyler, whose father, Peter Schuyler, afterwards the first
chief magistrate of Albany, first took up ground in what is now
Arlington, whose homestead covered a large part of the territory
now within that section’s limits, as well as much of Kearny. The
first manor house is believed to have stood about where what is
now Cromwell avenue and the road from the Belleville bridge cross,
and east of where for many years there was a reservoir for Jersey
City’s drinking water.

It was in the time of Colonel Schuyler’s father, Arent, that
copper was discovered on the estate and the mine known later as
the “Belleville copper mine’” was started. Colonel Schuyler’s elder
brother, John, inherited the homestead and the mine, but the
Colonel fell heir to a splendid property, which made him one of
the richest men in the upper section of Jersey. He used his wealth
in the defense of his country and for the betterment of mankind
about him.

THE FIRST CAMPAIGN.

Colonel Schuyler and his command of five companies marched
to Albany in the early fall of 1746, where they arrived only to
learn that the proposed expedition into Canada had been abandoned
because of the failure of England to keep her promise and send
troops to co-operate in the movement. Schuyler and his men
remained throughout the winter and for about a year, guarding the
frontier, with the New York volunteers, (to whom this Province
had contributed one company representing the surplus of enlistment
over the five hundred asked for by the Jersey Assembly).

We may be certain that many of Colonel Schuyler’s soldiers
were recruited from Newark and Essex county, where he was
universally known and held in the highest esteem. In a letter
written in June, 1747, we read: “just now came to town [New
York] advice that the Fort of Saraghtoga is besieged by the enemy.
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Col. Peter Schuyler, a gentleman who seems to have the welfare
of his country well to heart, I hear is to-morrow to march up with
the Jersey forces to the relief of the garrison, which I hope he may
effect.” Nothing was accomplished, however, and not long after-
wards the Jersey regiment returned home, the peace of Aix la
Chappelle being declared in 1748.

The effort failed chiefly through the miserable management
of the home government, which neither sent reinforcements nor
instructions for the advance of the Provincial forces. ‘“This affair,”
says Gordon, in his History of New Jersey, “was one of the thou-
sand instances of incapacity and misrule which the parent state
inflicted upon her dependent American progeny.” And which, we
may add, was just one more influence in the preparation of the
colonies for the coming struggle for independence. The Jersey and
New York forces were disbanded in the fall of 1747, but the Jersey-
men would not have remained in the fleld nearly so long, had not
it been for the generosity of their leader.

For months the men were unpaid. They chafed under this
and because of the lack of employment, until they mutinied. Colonel
Schuyler sympathized with his men, and, failing to induce the
Jersey Assembly to provide the pay, it already having expended
more than £20,000 in equipping, transporting and provisioning the
command, he paid his soldiers himself. He expended several
thousand pounds.

THE SECOND CALL TO ARMS.

The French paid little attention to the peace treaty. They
were constantly active along the frontier, and were exceedingly suc-
cessful in inflaming the Indians against the English colonies. These
activities caused great unrest. On New Year’s day, 1755, President
Burr, of the New Jersey College, and then pastor of the original
church in Newark, preached a flery sermon which was printed and
circulated widely. This synopsis of it serves to indicate to us the
temper of the times: “This piece contains some reasonable reflec-
tions upon the following topics: On the growing and dangerous
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power of France under the House of Bourbon. The ambitious
attempts of that house for the establishment of universal monarchy.
The present treacherous designs against the British Colonies in
America. The severities executed upon French Protestant subjects.
* * * And the importance of immediate, united and vigorous
measures for repelling the insults of our enemies and defending our
country and liberties.”

Colonel Schuyler was at once ready to buckle on his sword
again. ‘“We also hear from New Jersey,” remarks the New York
Gazette or Weekly Post-Boy for March 10, 1755, ‘“that the worthy
Col. Peter Schuyler, near Newark, has requested and obtained leave
of the Governor, to raise 400 men at his own charge, to be in readi-
ness to the assistance of the city of New York, or any place in their
neighborhood, if it should happen to be attack’d by the French or
other enemies of Great Britain. Is not this patriotism indeed ?”

His offer does not appear to have been actually accepted, but a
little later the Assembly decided to raise a battalion of five hundred
men, whereupon the Governor promptly nominated Schuyler for its
colonel, “and the gentlemen’s popularity was such,” writes Gordon,
“that the battalion was not only promptly filled, but a much larger
number of men presented themselves for enlistment than were
required.” As a matter of fact, while five hundred were asked a
thousand appeared. The arms were obtained from Virginia. Later,
New Jersey was asked to increase her quota, but declined, because
of the Indian outrages on the western frontier, many savage bands
invading the State and murdering numbers of the people of Sussex
county and along the eastern side of the Delaware. Newark and
Essex County sent many men out on this Jersey frontier work.
The colonies were greatly upset at this time. In October, 1756, the
Presbyterian Synod of New York, in session in Newark, fixed the
following Thursday as a “Day of publick fasting and prayer,”
because of “the dangerous situation of the publick at this juncture.”

Colonel Schuyler and his men were sent to the New York
frontier, and garrisoned the fort at Oswego, which was captured by
Montcalm, on August 15, 1756, and all the command then there was
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thrown into prison. Schuyler was at the head of the garrison of
1,400 at the time Montcalm overpowered it with 5,000 French and

Indians. Schuyler’s superior, Colonel Mercer, had been killed by a
cannon ball.

There was intense excitement in New York and New Jersey.
“After an anxious suspence for several days,” ran a letter from
Albany, “ ’tis now past all doubt that we have lost Oswego. * * *
How it came to be lost is a question which no man in this colony
will take upon him to determine—New Jersey has lost a regiment.
She has lost more; she has lost Col. Schuyler, a brave and loyal sub-
ject who despised his own ease and all the delights of an affluent
fortune for the service of his country. Who had greater induce-
ment to content himself at home? None.”

A GENTLEMAN AND A SOLDIER.

Colonel Schuyler was paroled, but on condition that if a French
officer of his rank was not produced by the English, he would have
to return to prison. He made his way to New York and subse-
quently to Newark and his home at Petersborough across the Pas-
saic where Kearny Castle now stands (1913). But he was soon
informed that the French had received no one in exchange, and that
he must return. His friends and neighbors urged him to disregard
this insistment of the French, but he would listen to none of them.
Like the true soldier and gentleman that he was, he obeyed the con-
ditions of his parole to the letter.

He joined his men in prison at Montreal and spent thousands
of dollars in caring for them and others during their captivity, hav-
ing arranged before his departure for letters of credit. He provided
them with clothing and at times with food. He ministered to their
needs, while sharing their confinement, with such constancy, that
they came to fairly idolize him. He was released in August, 1758,
together with all the other prisoners, he having charge of the
exchange for the English. Strenuous efforts for his release had
been made in the meantime. The King of England had directed his
officers to do their utmost to get Colonel Schuyler out of captivity.
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His action in the campaign of 1748, when he paid his men out of his
own pocket, had been disapproved by Governor Clinton of New
York, who had striven to have Schuyler disciplined for his gen-
erosity, declaring that such conduct had a bad effect upon the
morale of the troops. But the king seems to have paid no heed, and
to have admired Schuyler for his high-minded and generous
conduct.

COLONEL SCHUYLER’S WELCOME HOME.

“During Colonel Schuyler’s captivity in Canada,” read one
newspaper account of the time, “his gratitude to his unfortunate
countrymen was without bounds, his table being ever open and free
to those in distress ; and we hear he has out of his own private purse
expended upwards of 20,000 livres among his distressed country-
men in redeeming them from captivity.”

Schuyler was welcomed as the hero that he was, upon his return
to Newark in November, 1757, and in the following, from the New
York Mercury of November 23, we have an account of the first
demonstration in this community in honor of any individual of
which there is any record:

“Last Sunday evening the Hon. Peter Schuyler, passed through
this place [Newark] in his way to his Seat at Peterborough. Upon
his arrival at his house he was saluted with the discharge of 13
pieces of cannon. The evening following the inhabitants of Newark,
upon his coming into the town, attended by several gentlemen of
distinction, saluted him as before. There was a large bonfire
erected and the houses of the principal inhabitants were illuminated
the remainder of the evening, as an honour due to his great attach-
ment to the interest of his country, and uncommon zeal for his
Majesty’s service. The principal gentlemen met together on this
occasion, where the loyal healths were drank, at the discharge of
several rounds of cannon, and a general joy appeared among the
inhabitants.” Another account concludes:

“Joy was conspicuous on every Countenance, and each one
manifested his regard due to the merit of that gentleman, whose
kind and humane treatment of his fellow-sufferers while in cap-
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tivity, as well as his great attachment to the interest of his country,
anb(:e uncommon zeal for his Majesty’s service merits universal
esteem.”

The whole Province warmed to him. A few weeks after his
return this appeared in the New York Mercury:
. “The following lines were wrote by a young lady of the Prov-
ince of New Jersey, during the few minutes Col. Schuyler staid at
Prince-Town, the last week, in his way at Trenton, and presented
him in the most agreeable manner. As they discover so fruitful
and uncommon a genius in their fair author, I doubt not that their

communication to the public thro’ the channel of your paper, will
be acceptable to all, but more especially to your female readers:

TO THE HONOURABLE COL. PETER SCHUYLER.

“Dear to each Muse, and to thy Country dear,
‘Welcome once more to breathe thy native air;
Not half so cheering is the solar Ray,

‘To the harsh rigour of a Winter’s Day;
Nor half so grateful fanning breezes rise,
When the hot Dog Star burns the Summer skies;

" Caesaraes Shore with Acclamation rings,

And Welcome Schuyler, every Shepherd sings.
See for thy Brows, the Laurel is prepar'd,
And justly deem’d a Patriot, thy Reward;
Ev’'n future Ages shall enroll thy Name,

In sacred Annals of immortal Fame.”

LATER ENLISTMENTS—COLONEL SCHUYLER’S DEATH.

The calls for another regiment from New Jersey were urgent.
In the spring of 1759 a command of one thousand men was
raised and, with Colonel Schuyler at its head, saw hard service
beyond Albany, returning in November of the same year. Still
another regiment of the same size was demanded in 1760, and again
the gallant Schuyler organized and led it back to New York State,
returning like its immediate predecessor at the close of the year and
after arduous campaigning. This ended Colonel Schuyler’s service
to his State and country. He was no doubt worn out by his
experiences at the front and in the field, for he was stricken with a
severe illness in the spring of 1761. He died, in March, 1762, at his

beloved Petersborough.
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“Yesterday morning,” says the Pennsylvania Journal of March
8, 1762, “Col. Peter Schuyler departed this life, at his Seat at
Newark in East-Jersey, greatly and justly lamented. He did honour
to his Country, and gave a noble Example to others: And it will be
allowed by all who knew him, that he was a sincere Friend, humane,
beneficent and just to all Mankind.” Samuel Smith, New Jersey’s
first historian, wrote as follows of him, about 1765:

“He had the command of the province troops against the
French of Canada, in divers campaigns in the last two wars; and
by the best judges of military merit was allowed to rank high in
that character. He had qualities besides that greatly recommended
him to his acquaintance, being of frank, open behavior, of an exten-
sive generosity and humanity and unwearied in his endeavors to
accomplish whatever appeared of service to his country. * * *
As to person, he was of a tall, hardy make, rather rough at first
view, yet a little acquaintance discovered a bottom of sincerity,
and that he was ready to every kind office in his power. In con-
versation he was above artifice or the common traffick of forms, yet
seemed to enjoy friendship with its true relish; and in all relations
what he seemed to be he was.”®

A half length portrait, in oils, of Colonel Schuyler, is preserved
in the rooms of the New Jersey Historical Society.

“JERSEY BLUE.”

It has long been said that the expression “Jersey Blue” was
originated during the War for Independence and that it came into
being at the time a band of patriotic Newark women were engaged
in fitting out a company of volunteers with uniforms in which blue
played a prominent part. This is an error. The expression origi-
nated thirty years before the War for Independence, and was
applied to Colonel Schuyler’s hardy men, as early as 1747. From
that time each succeeding regiment throughout the French and
Indian Wars was spoken of as “Jersey Blues.” In a letter written
from Lake George, in June, 17569, we read:

“Your favours came to hand the first few days before we left
Fort Edward, and the last Saturday morning, the day we marched

' Smith’s “History of New Jersey,” p. 494.
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for Half-Way Brook, where we encamped, and left it yesterday, and
are now encamped here: as is likewise the Royal Scots, and the
Jersey Blues.”

Another instance is taken from a letter, written a few weeks
later at the same place. It is most dramatic. Part of it is as
follows:

“The second Instant, 16 of the Jersey Blues were sent without
the camp to gather a little brush for General Baker, but were not an
hour gone before they were surprised in sight of the camp by a
party of the enemy, consisting of about 240, who killed and scalped
six, wounded two, took four prisoners and only four of the party
escaped. They showed themselves plainly to the whole Army after
they got the scalps, gave a Hollow [halloo, or warwhoop] and then
made off to their battoes® [boats or canoes].”

Information as to the precise origin of the expression “Jersey
Blue” is exasperatingly brief. How it came to be used, we do not
know and probably never will know. The inference that the “Blue”
was derived from the distinguishing feature of their uniforms is
plain enough, but beyond that we cannot go. We have, in fact, but
meagre knowledge of the actual doings of the Jersey soldiers during
the French and Indian Wars. The hardships they endured must
have been most severe, but little or no complaint has come down to
us from them. One or two things we do know, although the State
has all but lost sight of them for the last hundred years: New
Jersey sent several thousand men to the frontier in New York
under Colonel Schuyler, at various times, who did their duty with
patience and fortitude. These men held their commander, Colonel
Schuyler, of Newark, as it then was, in the highest esteem, and
were ever ready to rally to the colors whenever he called; and,
finally, these men, veterans, were, unknown to themselves or the
King whom they served, training themselves for a sterner and
infinitely more important struggle that was to come a decade or so
later and which was to end in the complete separation of the
colonies from the mother country. Colonel Schuyler was making
soldiers for the War for Independence, but neither he nor anyone
else 80 much as dreamed of it.

*From New Jersey Archives, vol. xx, p. 364.
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NEWARK’S GROWTH, 1750-1760.

Newark increased very slowly in population previous to the
War for Independence. It developed its resources gradually. Much
of the old Puritan conservatism still remained. But it was, thanks to
the masterful foresight of its founders, strategically placed, and the
old newspapers of the 1750’s and 1760’s carried many an item about
the town and its affairs, showing that it was slowly but surely
expanding to meet the changing conditions. The first mention of a
store in Newark appeared in a newspaper in November, 1751, which
reads as follows: “Just imported from Bristol, in the ship Two
Friends, Capt. Wadmore, by John and Uzal Ogden, and to be sold
cheap wholesale and retail at their store in Newark, for ready money
or country produce at market price, a choice assortment of
European goods fit for the season.” How long this business had
been established we have no means of knowing. In 17569 Gabriel
Ogden opened a “ware-house of a great variety of goods imported
in the ship Old Grace and the last vessels from England, to be sold
very cheap for ready money.”

THE OLD PLANK ROAD.

The town had paid very little attention to the opening of roads
to connect with other communities outside its borders. In 1765,
however, the old Plank Road was provided for by act of the Assem-
bly ; that is, the road which ever since the founding of the town had
supplied communication with the marshes and the lower reaches of
the river, was made part of a system of communication with Powles’
Hook (now Jersey City). The announcement of the Assembly’s
action read, in part, as follows:

“A road from New-Ark to the publick road in the town of
Bergen, leading to Poulos Hook, and establishing ferries over t!ne
two small rivers, Passaick and Hackensack, which makes ?he dis-
tance from Poulus Hook to New-Ark eight miles, and will be a
level and good road when the cause-ways are made; and as said road
will be very commodious for travelers, and give a short and easy
access of a large country to the markets of the city of New-York
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and be_ of a_general benefit both to city and country, it is hoped
they will unite in the necessary expence of rendering said road for
t}'avellers and carriages, more especially since by said law the pub-
lick interest alone is regarded.”

Thus was the accessibility of Newark from New York and its -
value as a place in which to assemble the products of the whole
region around it for further shipment, being recognized. This
enterprise was supported largely by leading residents of Newark,
who became the trustees for the venture and were incorporated,
with authority to receive donations, build the necessary causeways
and supply the two ferries over the Passaic and Hackensack rivers.

Work upon this road was going on almost to the time of the
War for Independence, and it is said that Colonel John Schuyler,
the brother of Colonel Peter Schuyler, defrayed a considerable part
of the expense, and roads from Petersborough connected with it.
Brissot de Warville, a French traveler, was much impressed with
the road. “Built wholly of wood,” he wrote, “with much labor and
perseverance, in the midst of water, on a soil that trembles under
your feet, it proves to what point may be carried the patience of
man, who is determined to conquer nature.”

Another thus described his experience on the new highway:
“All the way to Newark (nine miles) is a very flat, marshy country,
intersected with rivers; many cedar swamps, abounding with
mosquitoes, which bit our legs, and hands, exceedingly ; where they
fix they will continue sucking our blood, if not disturbed, till they
swell four times their ordinary size, when they absolutely fall off
and burst from their fulness. At two miles we cross a large cedar
swamp; at three miles we intersect the road leading to Bergen, a
Dutch town, half a mile on our right; at five miles we cross Hacken-
sack [a little below the site of the present bridge at what was
known as Dow’s Ferry]; at six we cross Passaic River (coachee
and all), in a scoul, by means of pulling a rope fastened on the
opposite side.”
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THE NEW YORK-PHILADELPHIA ROAD.

The same year (1765) a law was passed providing for the
appointment of road commissioners “to run out straight public
roads leading through said province between New York and Phila-
delphia, and empowering them to raise a sum of money by public
lottery, not exceeding £600 towards defraying the charge thereof.”
Ephraim Terrill and Abraham Clark, Jr., were the commissioners
for both Elizabethtown and Newark. The new departure was thus
commented upon at the time:

“The shortening and improving of the public roads through this
Province will be a great advantage to the commercial interest and
general convenience of the inhabitants thereof, as well as a very
great advantage to the neighbouring Provinces, particularly to
Pennsylvania and New York; and as it is the first thing of the kind
that has been attempted on the Continent, it is not doubted but
every public-spirited person in this, as well as the neighbouring
Provinces, will generously contribute to the undertaking, tending
80 greatly to the advantage and ease of men of business and pleas-
ure; as it is judged the distance between New York and Philadelphia
will be shorten’d 12 or 15 miles, and the roads all made more
passable and convenient for travelers in the winter season than at
present.”

The first New York-Philadelphia stage was established in
November, 1756, by way of Perth Amboy and Trenton. The second
line was started in 1765, the same year the straightening of the
road was decided upon. The stages took three days to travel one
way and the charge was twopence a mile. Two trips were made
every week, each way. Newark did not benefit much from these
early developments, for, while New York-Philadelphia stages began
to pass through Newark as early as 1769, Newark was not really
considered on the main stage line between New York and Phila-
delphia until after the War for Independence. Travelers to and
from New York usually preferred to use the ferry between New
York and Elizabethtown Point.
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THE FIRST NEWARK-NEW YORK STAGE LINE.

It is not probable that stages were run between Newark and
New York before the laying down of the old Plank Road and ferries,
in 1765. In November, 1767, Matthias Ward “acquaints the pub-
lick that he still continues his stage from Newark to Powle’s Hook,
as usual, except that after the 20th of November he will return
from Powle’s Hook at eleven o’clock for the winter.” The business
evidently prospered, because, a year later, in 1768, Matthias Ward
had a partner, John Thompson, and in July of that year they
announced an expansion in a somewhat lengthy advertisement in
the New York newspapers, as follows: '

“The following is a new plan for a stage waggon, from Powlas
Hook, proposed by the subscribers, viz: A waggon to set off every
day in the week (Sundays excepted), one from Powlas Hook, and
another from Mr. James Banks in Newark [probably the Rising
Sun tavern which stood about where North Canal street and River
street meet] precisely at half an hour past 7 o’clock in the morning,
and half an hour past 4 o’clock in the evening; meet at Capt.
Brown’s ferry, and exchange passengers; and every Monday,
Wednesday and Saturday, Ward’s waggon returns immediately
from the said ferry, through Newark to Elizabethtown ; stays there
till 8 o’clock in the afternoon and then returns back again, through
Newark for Powlas Hook. Passengers from Bank’s will be always
on a sure footing on the Elizabethtown days, for if the waggon
should be full from Elizabethtown for New York, Ward will have
other waggons ready at Bank’s, for the passengers who will wait
there at the appointed times.
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